
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Online (Microsoft Teams) City Council Meeting 
City Hall - 300 Fourth Street 

March 01, 2021 

Members of the public may join the city council meeting telephonically by dialing 1-253- 
948-9362. You will then be prompted to enter the Conference ID: 138 644 2#. It is 
necessary to enter the # symbol after entering the numerals.  
 
To join the city council meeting via computer please contact the city clerk at 360-255- 
7085 before 5 p.m. the day of the council meeting and provide an email address so a 
meeting invitation can be emailed to you.  
 
If you would like to speak before council, please contact the city clerk before 12:00 noon 
on Thursday prior to the council meeting so that you can be added to the agenda. The 
time allotted to speak is up to 4 minutes. You can speak to any topic that is not on that 
night's agenda.  
 
Unscheduled public comments will not be taken at council meeting until further notice. 

Call to Order 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Oath of Office 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Draft Council Minutes- Regular Meeting 
2. Special Council Meeting (CDC Meeting) Minutes of 1-20-2021 

Items from the Audience 

Scheduled 

Unscheduled (20 Minutes) 
Audience members may address the Council on any issue other than those scheduled 
for a public hearing or those on which the public hearing has been closed.  Prior to 

Mayor 
Scott Korthuis 

 
Council Members 

Gary Bode 
Ron De Valois 
Gerald Kuiken 
Nick H. Laninga 
Brent Lenssen 
Kyle Strengholt 
Mark Wohlrab 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

1



 
 
 
 
  

commenting please state your name, address, and topic.  Please keep comments under 
4 minutes. 

Consent Agenda 

3. Berthusen Park Agricultural Land Lease 
4. COVID-19 Federal Reimbursement Contract 
5. Resolution No. 1033 - Stuit Development Agreement 

Public Hearing 

6. Ordinance No. 1621 - Pepin Creek Moratorium Extension 

Unfinished Business 

7. Ordinance No.1615 - Establishing the Use of a Hearing Examiner 

New Business 

8. Resolution No. 1031- Resolution of Intent regarding the Pepin Creek Project 

Other Business 

9. Draft Parks Committee Minutes February 16, 2021 
10. Community Development Committee Draft Minutes of 2-17-21 
11. Calendar 

Executive Session 

Adjournment 

2



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 

Name of Agenda Item: Draft Council Minutes- Regular Meeting 

Section of Agenda: Approval of Minutes 

Department: Administration 

Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: N/A ☒ Review Not Required 

Attachments: 

Draft Council Minutes- Regular Meeting 

Summary Statement: 

Draft Council Minutes- Regular Meeting 

Recommended Action: 

For Council review. 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

3



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 1 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 
 
February 16, 2021 
 
1.  CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Korthuis called to order the February 16, 2021 regular session of the Lynden City 
Council at 7:00 p.m. held through an online web-based meeting platform (Microsoft Teams). 
 
 ROLL CALL              
 
Members present:  Mayor Scott Korthuis and Councilors, Gary Bode, Ron De Valois, Jerry 
Kuiken, Brent Lenssen, Nick Laninga, Kyle Strengholt and Mark Wohlrab. 
 
Members absent: None 
 
Staff present: Finance Director Anthony Burrows, Fire Chief Mark Billmire, HR Manager Kim 
Clemons, Parks Director Vern Meenderinck, Planning Director Heidi Gudde, Police Chief Steve 
Taylor, Public Works Director Steve Banham, City Clerk Pam Brown, City Administrator Mike 
Martin, and City Attorney Bob Carmichael. 
 
OATH OF OFFICE- None 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 
Councilor Kuiken moved and Councilor Laninga seconded to approve the February 1, 
2021 regular council minutes as presented.  Motion approved on a 7-0 vote.       
 
 
ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE  
 
Scheduled- None 
 
Unscheduled- None 
 
2.  CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Payroll information is unavailable at this time because of the finance department’s 
transition to a new payroll system (Caselle) 
 
 
 

4



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 2 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 
 
Approval of Claims – February 17, 2021 
 

Manual Warrants No. 21429 And 21439  $10,777.79 

EFT Payment Pre-Pays     $37,814.02 

  Sub Total Pre-Pays $48,591.81 

 

Voucher Warrants No. 21454 through 21541    $593,765.19 

EFT Payments   $0.000 

  Sub Total $593,765.19 

  Total Accts. Payable $642,357.00 

 
Award Bid for Public Works Shop- Stormwater Decant Facility 
17th Street Latecomers Deed Notices 
Interlocal Agreement with City of Bellingham for Vactor Waste Facility Use 
Re-Appointment to Planning Commission – Diane Veltkamp 
Set the Public Hearing to Consider Ordinance No. 1621- Extending the Pepin Creek 
Moratorium 
 
Councilor Devalois moved and Councilor Bode seconded to approve the Consent 
Agenda. Motion approved on a  7-0 vote. 
 
Mayor Korthuis thanks Diane Veltkamp for her continued service as a City of Lynden 
Planning Commissioner.  
 
3.  PUBLIC HEARING 
Ordinance No. 1620 Amending Chapter 13.08 of the LMC- Water Project Design Standards 
The newest update of the Project Manual for Engineering Design and Development Standards 
was adopted by City Council on December 21, 2020. Ordinance No.1620 updates Chapter 13.08 
of the Lynden Municipal Code to remove outdated material and to revise language to reference 
and compliment the new Standards update. 
 
The Public Works Committee reviewed this Ordinance at their February 3, 2021 meeting and 
concurred to recommend approval to the City Council. 
 
Mayor Korthuis opened the Public Hearing at 7:02 
 
There were no comments. 
 
Mayor Korthuis closed the Public Hearing at 7:02 
 

5



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 3 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 
Councilor Bode moved and Councilor De Valois seconded, to adopt Ordinance No. 1620, 
Amending Chapter 13.08 of the Lynden Municipal Code- Water Project Design Standards 
and authorize the Mayor’s signature on the Ordinance. Motion approved on a 7-0 vote. 
 
Ordinance No. 1619- Pepin Area-Wide Rezone, Rezone Application #20-02 
In March of 2020, the City of Lynden adopted the Pepin Creek Sub-Area plan. This document 
is a guide for an area slated to accommodate a majority of residential growth in the next 15 
years. The proposed rezone action would officially shift the properties within the City’s 
boundaries to the zoning categories described in the plan. It is an action that is required so that 
the City’s zoning map and comprehensive plan are not in conflict. It is important to complete 
this step before the moratorium on development is lifted from these properties. 
 
The parcels affected by the rezone actions are detailed in the application. These property 
owners have been involved in the sub-area planning process and were contacted about the 
January 14thhearing before the Planning Commission. Properties outside of the City, but within 
the planned sub-area, will retain their zoning categories as assigned by Whatcom County until 
they are annexed into the City. However, anticipating these future zoning assignments allows 
the City to more accurately predict and plan for development in these areas. 
 
On January 14, the Planning Commission held a public hearing to consider the area wide 
rezone and recommended approval to the City Council. Changes to the sub-area plan are likely 
to occur in the future in response to a revised project scope for the creek realignment. However, 
the proposed zoning categories within the moratorium remain a good fit for the Sub-Area and 
staff will be asking that the Council review and approve the rezone request at the February 16th 
hearing. 
 
Mayor Korthuis opened the Public Hearing at 7:05 
 
There were no comments. 
 
Mayor Korthuis closed the Public Hearing at 7:05 
 
Councilor Lenssen moved and Councilor Bode seconded to approve, and authorize the 
Mayor’s signature, on Ordinance 1619 which revises the residential zoning categories 
for properties within the City limits and in the Pepin Creek Sub-Area and establishes 
prospective zoning categories for the Pepin Creek Sub-area properties within the Urban 
Growth Area. Motion approved on a 7-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 

6



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 4 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 
Ordinance No. 1616 – Zoning Text Amendment re Non-Conforming Mobile Home Communities 
Lesa Starkenburg-Kroontje, representing her client Four ‘S’ Investments, has applied for a 
Zoning Text Amendment regarding the expansion of the nonconforming use of a mobile home 
park within the Commercial Services-Regional (CSR) Zoning category.  
 
The request is somewhat focused on the Duffner Mobile Home Park located on Front Street 
just west of the Guide Meridian. However, the amendment would apply to any other mobile 
home communities (MHCs) within the CSR zoning category. (Staff believes this is limited to one 
other circumstance – the unit pads located at the Windmill Inn Motel located at 8022 Guide 
Meridian.)  
 
Non-conforming uses are addressed in LMC 19.35. A use, like the Duffner Mobile Home Park, 
which is brought into the City and does not match the permitted uses of its zoning category is 
considered a legal nonconforming use. Although a legal nonconforming use can continue to 
operate, it is not permitted to expand. The Duffner Mobile Home Park was recently able to 
connect to City sewer services and decommission aging septic systems. This available 
connection has also initiated the applicant’s opportunity to request additional housing units be 
placed on the property as each would be able to connect to sewer services. 
 
The amendment application describes the potential benefits that additional stock of affordable 
housing could provide to the City. Staff review, with the assistance of the City’s legal counsel, 
has concluded with a recommendation to approve the expansion of MHCs in the City’s CSR 
zones only as a conditional use and subject to appropriate setback and buffering requirements 
that may result as a review of the conditional use permit application. To be consistent with State 
Statues, staff also recommends that the City’s definitions related to MHCs in Chapter 17 be 
updated as attached and the corresponding text amendments to Chapters 18 and 19 be made 
in accordance with these updates. 
 
Mayor Korthuis opened the Public Hearing at 7:09 p.m. 
 
Leesa Starkenburg-Kroontje, 115 Front Street, Lynden spoke in favor of the ordinance. 
 
Mayor Korthuis closed the Public Hearing at 7:12 p.m. 
 
Councilor Lenssen moved and Councilor Strengholt seconded to approve the ongoing 
Text Amendment 20-02 and authorized the Mayor’s signature on Ordinance No. 1616. 
Motion approved on a 7-0 vote. 
 
Development Standards Variance #20-01- Skyview Street Standard Variance 
Development Standards Variance application has been brought forward by Mike Kooy to vary 
the required right-of-way (ROW) dedication and some aspects of the street section which would  

7



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 5 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 
 
be used to access a future residential project called Skyview. This property is zoned for multi-
family development and is located at the north terminus of Currant Street (north of the North 
Prairie Phase 7 development). It connects to the north end of Brome Street – which was 
previously granted a similar variance. 
 
A private street of reduced size is an option but not encouraged at this location as it is the 
terminus of an existing public street network. Additionally, due to maintenance and jurisdictional 
concerns, streets that have the appearance of being public but are actually private are 
discouraged. At the same time, staff recognizes that providing a standard 60-foot-wide ROW 
would significantly constrain development due to the shape and size of the subject property. 
(Building setbacks are measured from the edge of dedicated ROW). 
 
The applicant is requesting a variance to dedicate a ROW which is 41 feet in width rather than 
60 feet. The resulting North-South portion of the street will include all elements of a standard 
City street including a 36-foot curb-to-curb width however one sidewalk will be located outside 
of the ROW. Pedestrian access on this sidewalk will be protected through an access easement. 
The East-West portion of the street will include parking on only one side of the street, a curb-
to-curb width of 30 feet to match the adjoining property to the east, and one sidewalk which will 
be located on private property with access protected by an access easement. It is anticipated 
that most traffic created by new development in this area will be utilizing the wider north-south 
portion of the roadway. 
 
While there is support for the variance, staff is concerned that a reduced street standard could 
create parking shortages that would negatively affect the adjacent North Prairie Phase 7 
neighborhood. As such, staff recommends that future development, which is adjacent to the 
varied public street, provide an additional 20% on-site parking to accommodate for the on-street 
parking that is lost in the revised standard. 
 
Mayor Korthuis opened the Public Hearing at 7:16 p.m. 
 
Mike Kooy, 8071 Guide Meridian, Lynden spoke in favor of the item. 
 
Mayor Korthuis closed the Public Hearing at 7:19 p.m. 
 
Councilor Lenssen moved and Councilor De Valois seconded to approve Variance 20-01 
as described in the TRC report on the condition that development fronting the varied 
street sections provide all code required on-site parking plus an additional 20% and 
authorize the Mayor’s signature on the Findings of Fact. Motion approved on a 7-0 vote. 
 
 

8



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 6 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 
 
 
Stuit Development Agreement 
Dannon Traxler, representing her clients Ben and Lindy Stuit, has proposed a development 
agreement that outlines an alternate schedule for infrastructure build-out on a proposed short 
plat located on Flynn Road (Bay Lyn Road). The Stuits seek to construct a single-family home 
on Lot A of the short plat, maintain the existing home on Lot B, and burden the remaining 
undeveloped portion of the short plat, Lot C, with water and roadway improvements, and the 
City with sewer extension to collect allocated shares via ERUs. 
 
Staff originally issued short plat findings with the intent to approve the 4-lot short plat. These 
findings were later vacated at the request of Ms. Traxler so that the Stuits could propose the 
alternate development schedule. All parties have collaborated to create the draft agreement 
and associated no-build covenant. 
 
The development agreement revises the short plat to 3 lots. The entire plat would connect to 
the City sewer network which the City is advancing in this area while development of Lot C must 
include the extension of City standard water lines and road frontage improvements. Staff is 
conflicted regarding the recommendation of this development agreement. Although cognizant 
of the applicant’s personal goals for the property, from a municipal perspective, staff has 
concerns related to two issues within the development agreement.  
 
One is the underdevelopment of the property. The short plat creates 2 lots for single family 
homes which are over 24,000 square feet each but located in a multi-family zone that can 
support many more additional units. The proposed development on Lots A and B represent 2 
ERUs toward the new sewer system when, if developed per zoning, many more ERUs would 
be collected. Secondly, there is the potential that the infrastructure burden and constraints of 
the floodplain on Lot C will make it such that it will not be financially feasible to develop in the 
near term. However, the Stuits are selling the City an easement for the sewer network to 
reach Bay Lyn Road and provide additional service. 
 
A subsequent resolution documenting the agreement, the administrative approval of the short 
plat and associated conditions will hinge on the Council’s decision related to development 
agreement. 
 
Mayor Korthuis opened the Public Hearing at 7:29 p.m. 
 
Dannon Traxler, Bellingham 
 
Mayor Korthuis closed the Public Hearing at 7:35 p.m. 
 

9



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 7 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 
 
(Staff recognizes the proposed development agreement as a policy decision to be made 
by the City Council and has not included a recommended action.) 
 
Councilor Lenssen moved and Councilor Strengholt seconded to approve the Stuit 
Development Agreement and authorize the Mayor to sign the Agreement. Motion 
approved on a 7-0 vote. 
 
 
4.  UNFINISHED BUSINESS- None 
 
 
5.  NEW BUSINESS 
Reconsideration of Conditional Use Permit – Dillard Term Rental 
On Jan. 4, 2021, the City Council approved a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for applicants David 
and Kathleen Dillard to operate a short-term rental (vacation rental) out of their home at 422 
Woodcreek Dr. The Dillard’s already have a legal Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU), located in 
the basement floor of their residence. This ADU has been used as a rental. The CUP proposal 
sought to make the short-term rental a legal option for this space. 
 
On Dec.10, 2020, the Planning Commission recommended approval of the CUP. They 
conditioned their recommendation on an annual review of the Permit. Staff also recommended 
approval but, after public comment from 2 neighbors along this street, staff additionally 
recommended that the Dillard’s install a 6’ privacy fence on the north property line between the 
homes (48 feet of fencing) due to parking pressures placed on the residence by the ADU rental 
which causes both the north and south driveways of the Dillard residence to act as parking 
areas and impacts the privacy of the adjacent neighbor to the north. 
 
Council approved the short-term rental with the condition to install privacy fencing. The Dillard’s 
have since requested in writing that Council reconsider the condition of the fence. At this time 
Council has the option of: 

 Denying the request for reconsideration, or 

 Reconsidering the issue immediately or at another date. 
 

It is important to note that new testimony or information cannot be submitted without a fair 
opportunity for the public to also be notified and submit testimony and / or information. 
Staff continues to assert that fence is an appropriate condition to aid in mitigating the impacts 
of a commercial operation in a residential neighborhood especially as the neighborhood is 
already familiar with the parking situation related to a rental of the ADU at the Dillard home. 
Public comment regarding the issue did not call for a denial of the request but simply that 
considerations to be made.  

10



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 8 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 
 
Councilor Bode moved and Councilor Strengholt seconded to deny the request for 
reconsideration of the fence condition placed on CUP #20-03. Motion approved on a 6-0 
vote with Councilor Wohlrab opposed.  
 
 
Resolution No. 1032- Interfund Loan for the Fire Station Remodel 
The City of Lynden after considering the emergent needs of the City seeks to improve its fire-
fighting capability through infrastructure improvements by remodeling and expanding the City 
of Lynden Fire Station. 
 
Resolution No.1027 which was passed by the City Council on November 16th, 2020 provided 
the overall funding plan to achieve the needed fire infrastructure improvements. Resolution 
1027 provided for the establishment of an interfund loan from the Water Fund (F401) to the 
General Fund (F001) in the amount of $2.8M dollars to cover the remodel expenditures. 
 
Resolution No.1032 is the resolution to establish the actual $2.8M interfund loan and initiate the 
Fire Station remodel financing. The interfund loan would be a short-term three-year loan to 
cover the remodel. The Finance Committee reviewed this resolution earlier today and approved 
it for review by the full Council. 
 
Councilor Strengholt moved and Councilor Kuiken seconded to approve Resolution No. 
1032 and authorize the Mayor’s signature. Motion approved on a 7-0 vote. 
 
 
6.  OTHER BUSINESS  
 
Council Committee Updates 
 
Councilor Wohlrab reporting for the Public Safety Committee.  Some of the items discussed: 

 2021 Public Safety schedule 

 OT review for Police and Fire 

 Fire Station renovations 

 AC recruitment in process, interviews on February 25th & 26h 

 Fire Department “stacking calls” represents 1/3 of the calls 

 Firefighter recruitment  

 Police Department call volume is up 
 
Councilor Bode reporting for the Public Works Committee. Some of the items discussed: 

 Decant Facility bid approved 

 Lynden will supply water for an apartment complex that has well contamination 

11



 
 

 

 
 300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264  
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 9 of 9 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
 

 
 

 Review of a request for outside dining which would occupy parking spaces 

 City has received a DOE Grant of $4.7 million  

 Guide Meridian pump station at Bay Lyn Drive   

 COVID-19 reporting information which is being distributed to the public 
 

Councilor De Valois reporting for the Parks Committee. Some of the items discussed: 

 Berthusen AG land lease 

 Trail repair in Berthusen Park 

 RFP for Heusinkveld Barn remodel 

 Survey for Dickinson property has been disputed 

 Glenning Street fundraising update 

 Camera at Bender Fields 

 Park Impact fees coming to council soon 
 

Councilor Strengholt reporting for the Finance Committee. Some of the items discussed: 

 Caselle updates to Payroll reporting 

 Fire Station remodel loan from the Water Fund 

 Caselle software switch over 
 
 
7.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Council recessed into executive session at 8:23 p.m.to discuss a potential litigation matter. It 
was anticipated that the executive session would last approximately 10 minutes total and that 
a decision would not be made.        
 
 The Council meeting reconvened at 8:33 p.m.     
 
 
8.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
The February 16, 2021 regular session of the Lynden City Council adjourned at 8:33 p.m. 
 
 
 
            
Pamela D. Brown, MMC     Scott Korthuis 
City Clerk      Mayor 

12



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 
Name of Agenda Item: Special Council Meeting (CDC Meeting) Minutes of 1-20-2021 
Section of Agenda: Approval of Minutes 
Department: Planning Department 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☒ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

Draft Special Council Meeting Minutes (Community Development Committee) of July 22, 2020 

Summary Statement: 

Draft Special Council Meeting (CDC) Minutes of 1-20-2021 attached for review.   These minutes 
pertain to a meeting that focused primarily on the Financial Mitigation Strategy for the Pepin 
project.  
 
          
 
Recommended Action: 

Council review and approval. 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

13



 

 203 19th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
 www.lyndenwa.org  

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
Heidi Gudde – Planning Director 
(360) 354 - 5532 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

 
CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING 

JOINT COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AND PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEES  
 

MINUTES 
4:00 PM January 20, 2021 

Microsoft Teams and 2nd Floor Conference Room, City Hall 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
In the absence of Mayor Korthuis, Mayor Pro-tem, Gary Bode opened the 
meeting at 4pm. 
  

2. ROLL CALL 
City Council Members: Kyle Strengholt, Gary Bode, Brent Lenssen, Ron 
DeValois Mayor Scott Korthuis (joined late due to scheduling conflict), Jerry 
Kuiken 
Staff: Steve Banham, Mike Martin, Heidi Gudde 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

a. Public Works Committee Meeting 12-16-20 Minutes approved as 
presented. 

b. Community Development Committee Meeting 10-21-20 Minutes approved 
as presented. 

4. DISCUSSION ITEMS  

a. Pepin Creek – Main Street Bridge – Item was pulled from the agenda for 
later discussion. 

b. Pepin Creek – Financial Mitigation Conclusions and Next Steps 

Mike Martin gave an introduction to this item.   

Heidi Gudde presented summarized findings of the Berk Financial 
Mitigation Study which was finished just prior to the meeting and therefore 
not distributed to Council until after the meeting.  The presentation 
included: 

Design Goals 

- Re-capped the goals associated with the design of Pepin Lite.  These 
are (1) to reduce infrastructure costs associated with the Pepin project, 
(2) release the moratorium, (3) focus on transportation improvement 
first with ancillary benefits of flood protection and habitat improvement.   

14



 203 19th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 2 of 5 

- Given the Pepin Lite design was determined to have merit when 
presented to Council in July of 2020, staff then moved to establish a 
mechanism to fund the infrastructure improvements. 

- Revisited the 13 projects associated with the Pepin Lite plan. 

Cost Reductions 

- Gudde highlighted that the Pepin Lite design reduces the costs 
associated with creek relocation from approximately $37 million to $14 
million.   

- Regional roadway improvements, these are considered Double Ditch 
Road and Benson Road, were consolidated into one regional roadway 
called Pepin Parkway and doing so reduced costs from $16 million to 
$10 million while traffic studies demonstrated that the level of service, 
even at full build out, will be maintained at adequate levels. 

- The 13 different projects associated with Pepin Creek were divided into 
two categories.  One category is 9 projects that occur specifically 
within the Sub-Area.  These are estimated at about $30,474,000.  The 
remaining 4 projects are those that the City has preliminarily indicated 
it would fund.  These 4 ‘City projects’ total $4,134,000 - $6,247,000 
depending on the type of bridge used at Pine Street. 

Consistency with the Sub-Area Plan 

- Gudde noted that it is important to compare our current project plans to 
the approved Pepin Sub-Area plan.   

- Regarding density the Pepin Lite design is on track.  As less area is 
used for creek channel, the number of estimated housing units 
increased slightly.  Berk Consulting has provided ‘midrange’ unit 
numbers which take into account the net developable area.  Feedback 
from sub-area planning noted that the area should accommodate 1700 
– 2000 dwelling units.  The realistic midrange of the Pepin Lite plan 
assumes about 1,568 units (while the theoretical maximum of the area 
is 2,883 units). 

- Revisions to the sub-area plan will be needed to illustrate the changes 
associated with Pepin Lite but the overall land use, open space, and 
transportation planning remain consistent with the plan. 

Discussion of the Results of the Financial Mitigation Study 

- Gudde reviewed the two options that were studied by Berk Consulting. 

- One option is a Local Improvement District (LID) and the other is a 
SEPA Mitigation Fee.  The basis for these two fees is different.  The 
LID assesses properties based on the increase in value that a public 
project (the Pepin Lite design) would have on private property.  The 
methodology of the SEPA mitigation fee is based on mitigating for the 
impacts associated with new development as it is proposed. 

15



 203 19th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 3 of 5 

- The LID was reviewed using only properties that had remaining 
development potential.  That means that properties that are already 
developed, even if they would see benefits from the Pepin 
improvements, would not be financially assessed.  The LID also took 
into account a downturn in the market due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

- The results of the LID study concluded that it was only a marginally 
feasible methodology. 

- SEPA mitigation fees were reviewed from a variety of angles.  This 
included looking at the impacts of new development on stormwater as 
well as flood water.  The study concluded that new development would 
not necessarily exacerbate the existing conditions related to 
stormwater and flooding if developed per existing code standards.    

- The study did conclude that transportation impacts were measurable, 
had commonly been assessed through SEPA mitigation fees, and use 
of transportation impact fees (TIF) was consistent with the goals of the 
Pepin Lite project. 

- The study used transportation modeling to conclude that, at full build-
out, 98.7% of all the trips occurring within the Pepin Creek Sub-Area 
will be generated by local development and only a small percentage 
(1.3%) would be associated with regional traffic. 

- The study went on to divide the cost of the 9 projects within the Sub-
Area into a TIF.  This, by way of example, would be $17,251 for a 
single-family home.  Fees would be different for attached / multi-family 
homes based on the average number of trips generated for each 
housing type.  The TIF associated with this SEPA mitigation fee would 
be added to the City’s existing TIF of $2,111 per single family home. 

- The group reviewed charts on where this potential TIF amount 
compared to other jurisdictions. 

- Staff suggested that the City consider funding additional regional 
roadway improvements in the area.  The resulting TIF would be just 
over $11,000 per single family home. 

- Bode noted that the value of the raw land in the sub-area should reflect 
the costs associated with getting it to construction.  That soils here are 
not easy to develop like the soils of east Lynden which tend to be 
gravel / sand based and roads are even more expensive to improve or 
construct. 

- Lenssen expressed a desire to see development pay for all 
infrastructure within the sub-area. 

- Staff noted that because a SEPA mitigation fee is based on the 
impacts associated with development could create an incentive for low 
density development.  And, if very low density development is 
permitted (lower than typical development within the zoning categories 

16



 203 19th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 4 of 5 

chosen for the area), the City will under-collect what is expected to be 
needed for the Pepin infrastructure.  While not popular in Lynden, the 
need for a minimum density requirement is evident.  The Berk study 
found that build out of the sub-area would be about 5.1 units per acre – 
which is not drastically different from other areas within the City. 

- Council members discussed this issue as well as other roadways 
within the City that needed improvements, and also the constraints 
associated with the Pepin Sub-Area raw land. 

- Conclusions of discussion of this item included: 

o Council expressed support for the strategy of using SEPA 
mitigation fees. 

o Minimum density concepts will need to be explored. 

o Staff and Berk to look at market analysis related to 3 scenarios.  
(1) that development would pay the maximum share (98.7%), 
(2) that the City would contribute an additional $5 million to 
infrastructure costs associated with the 9 sub-area projects. (3) 
that the City would contribute an additional $10 million.  Market 
analysis would review comparable development to determine if 
the sub-area remains feasible for private development. 

o Staff to distribute the full study to Council for review and meet 
again in February. 

5. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

a. Initiative to Add a Hearing Examiner – Status Update 

Proposed scope of work related to the hearing examiner’s role was 
included in the packet along with draft rules and the drafted RFQ (Request 
for Qualifications) that is intended to be used to advertise for the individual 
who would fill the role of the hearing examiner for the City of Lynden. 

Discussion focused on the code revisions.  Heidi Gudde updated the 
group on the Planning Commission’s hearing from December 10.  The 
Planning Commission recommended approval of the ordinance but at the 
urging of staff and legal counsel also included stand-alone shoreline 
decisions as applications which would go to the hearing examiner.  The 
shoreline code being a very technical set of regulations the hearing 
examiner would be a good fit for these actions.  Shoreline permits that are 
connected to another land use action such as a long plat or PRD would 
continue to go to the Planning Commission.   

Ron DeValois asked staff about the appeal process associated with a 
hearing examiner’s decisions.  Expressed support for the hearing 
examiner but also indicated a desire to have those decisions appealable 

17



 203 19th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 5 of 5 

to the City Council.  Gary Bode agreed that appeals of the hearing 
examiner should return to the City Council.   

 

 

Mayor Scott Korthuis adjourned the Special meeting of the City Council  
 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE MEETING / SPECIAL COUNCIL 
MEETING / SPECIAL PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
 
Special Council Meeting 
4:00 PM January 20, 2021 
1st Floor Conference Room, City Hall and virtually on Microsoft Teams 
 
 
 
______________________________ 

Heidi Gudde, Planning Director 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 

Scott Korthuis, Mayor 
 
 

 

18



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 
Name of Agenda Item: Berthusen Park Agricultural Land Lease 
Section of Agenda: Consent Agenda 
Department: Parks 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☒ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☐ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

Berthusen Park Ag Land Lease 

Summary Statement: 

The City currently leases out several parcels of land at Berthusen Park for agricultural use 
Three parcels have leases that expire on Feb. 28, 2021 
 
Staff advertised for bids in the Lynden Tribune on Feb. 10 and Feb. 17 
 
One bid was received: 
Cedar Park Dairy LLC  (Smit Dairy)at $225 per acre 
 
Parks committee reviewed the lease bid prior to council meeting and recommends forwarding the lease to full 
council for approval. 
Recommended Action: 

Motion to approve the lease of three parcels at Berthusen Park to Cedar Park Dairy LLC for a period of 5 years 
and payment of $250 per acre plus lease hold excise tax, and authorize the Mayor to sign said lease 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

19



BERTHUSEN PARK LAND 
LEASE AGREEMENT 

 
 

This Lease Agreement ("Agreement" or "Lease"), made this 1st day of March, 2021 by and 

between the City of Lynden, (hereinafter called "Lessor" or "City"), and Cedar Park Dairy LLC, 

(Greg Smit and Jan Smit, husband and wife,  and Scott Smit and Megan Smit, husband and wife, 

(hereinafter called "Lessee" or "Smit"). 
 

WHEREAS, the Lessor is the owner of that certain real property located in Whatcom County, 

Washington, consisting of approximately 58 acres, more or less, as more particularly described on 

Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (the "Property"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Property is made up of three (3) parcels, denoted as parcels E, F and G, depicted on 

Exhibit B attached hereto (which is not to scale); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Lessor has leased a portion of the Property to Lessee in the past which prior lease 

has expired; and 
 

WHEREAS, the agricultural uses permitted on the Property are limited by the applicable Lynden 

Municipal Code ("LMC") provisions including but not limited to LMC 19.39; and 
 

WHEREAS, per LMC 3.08.010 the Lessor must collect a leasehold excise tax upon the act or privilege 

of occupying or using publicly owned real or personal property within the city or owned by the city 

through a leasehold interest as defined by RCW 82.29A.020(l); and 
 

WHEREAS, per LMC 3.08.020 the rate of leasehold excise tax shall be paid at the rate set per the 

State of Washington Department of Revenue (as defined by RCW 82.29A.020 (2)); and 
 

WHEREAS, the foregoing recitals are a material part of this Agreement; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in recognition of the foregoing recitals, and in consideration of the 

covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 

1. Premises Leased and Consideration: The Lessor hereby leases to Lessees the Property. The 

Lessees are authorized to possess the Property pursuant to this Agreement, from March 1, 2021 or 

the date of execution, whichever is later, until the last day of February 2026 (five (5) years). Lessee 

shall pay Lessor for the rental sum of Two Hundred Twenty Five and 00/100ths Dollars ($225.00), 

per acre per year plus state leasehold excise tax, for a total of Thirteen Thousand fifty and 0/100ths 

Dollars ($13,050.00) each year, plus state leasehold excise tax. The first rental payment of Six 

Thousand Five hundred Fifty and 0/100ths Dollars ($6.525.00), plus state leasehold excise tax being 

due on the 1st  day of  March, 2016.  The balance of said rental payments in the sum of Six Thousand 

Nineteen and 65/100ths Dollars ($6,525.00), plus state leasehold 

P a g e  1  o f  7  

20



excise tax for each payment, being due on the lst day of each sixth month thereafter, until the 

expiration of this lease or any extension thereof. 

2.  Insurance: The Lessees shall maintain in full force and effect at their own cost and 

expense a property and liability insurance policy on the Property until expiration of the term of 

this Lease. Said policy shall include a general comprehensive liability and property insurance 

policy in protection of the City and protecting the City and all persons against liability for loss or 

damage or personal injury, death, and property damage, and errors or omissions, negligent acts 

or omissions, with minimum limits in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per 

occurrence/Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) aggregate. The City shall be named as an 

additional insured on said policy and proof of such insurance shall be provided. 

3.  Term: The term of this Lease shall be begin on March 1, 2021 or on such other date as 

execution of this Lease on the Property shall occur between the parties and shall terminate on the 

last day of February 2026, for a total term of five (5) years. 

4.  Lease Binding on Heirs: All of the terms and agreements of this lease shall be binding 

not only upon the Lessor and Lessee but also upon their heirs, executors, administrators, 

successors, and assigns. 

5.  Default: Material breaches of this Lease by the Lessees or Sublessees, shall constitute 

default and be grounds for early termination of the Lease. In the event of a default by Lessees or 

Sublessees, Lessor may terminate this Lease and seek removal of Lessees and/or Sublessees from 

the premises, upon providing written notice as required by law. 

6.  Utilities and Fees: The Lessee shall be solely responsible for all charges for light, heat, 

water and telephone which shall be charged against the Property during the full term of this lease. 

7.  Repairs and Maintenance: The Property has been inspected and is accepted by Lessees 

in its present condition. Lessees and Sublessees shall, at their own expense and at all times, keep 

the Property neat, clean and in a sanitary condition, and keep and use the Property in accordance 

with applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and requirement of governmental authorities. 

Lessees shall permit no waste, damage or injury to the Property; all waste and junk shall be 

removed from the Property promptly; and no hazardous materials of any kind shall occupy the 

Property. Lessees shall not operate a commercial venture on the Property. Lessees shall make such 

repairs as necessary to maintain the Property in as good condition as they now are, reasonable use 

and wear, and damage by fire and other casualty excepted. 

8. Good Farming Method: Lessee will covenant and agree that Lessee's use of the land upon 

the Property shall be consistent with good farming practices and shall be accomplished in a good, 

farmer-like manner. Manure shall be spread upon the Property each year during the term of this 

lease and commercial fertilizer shall be applied in accordance with good 

Page 2of7 

21



farming methods. No row crops, other than corn or peas, may be grown upon said premises, and 

row crops may be grown no more than two (2) out of every three (3) years. The land must be 

seeded to grass at the end of the term of this lease. 

 

9.  Compliance with Laws: Lessee shall not do or about the Property, anything that would 

or does violate or conflict with any law, ordinance, rule or regulation now in force or effect, or 

that may hereinafter be enacted, promulgated or adopted by Federal, State or local authority. 

 

10.  Nuisance: Lessee shall not maintain any nuisance on the Property, and shall not use the 

Property for any unlawful purposes. Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that any and all 

deterioration of the Property due to salinity, drainage and related problems or the use of the 

Property by Lessee in accordance with normal and customary agricultural practices does not 

constitute waste or a nuisance or a breach of any of the terms of this Lease. 

 

11.  Alterations: Lessee shall not make excavations, fills, alterations, additions or 

improvements on the Property without written permission of Lessor. All alterations, additions and 

improvements which shall be made, shall be at the sole cost and expense of Lessee, and shall 

become the property of the Lessor, and shall remain in and be surrendered with the premises as 

part hereof at the termination of this lease, without disturbance, molestation or injury. If the Lessee 

shall perform work with the consent of the Lessor, as aforesaid, Lessee agrees to comply with all 

laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of the pertinent and authorized public authorities. The 

Lessee further agrees to save the Lessor free and harmless from damage, loss, or expense arising 

out of said work. 

 

12.  Accidents and Non-Liability: Lessee agrees that the Lessor shall not be liable for loss 

arising out of damage to or destruction of stored material goods and chattels or livestock resulting 

from any defect in the Property or from any other cause, while in the possession of Lessees or 

Sublessees. This Agreement shall be binding whether or not such damage or destruction be caused 

by the neglect of the Lessor or its, agents, servants, or employees, and further, any and all right 

of subrogation by any insurance carrier is hereby waived, except as herein described. 

 

13.  Subletting or Assignment: Lessee shall not sublet, or through any other process, transfer 

to any other person rental of the Property, or any other right or privilege without written 

permission of the Lessor. 

 

14.  Insolvency of Lessee: Notwithstanding any other provision herein to the contrary, in the 

event the Lessee or Lessee's successors or assigns shall become insolvent, bankrupt, or make an 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, or if Lessee's interests herein shall be levied upon or sold 

under execution or other legal process, the Lessor may terminate this lease; provided that in the 

event this lease is terminated, the maximum claim of Lessor for damages or indemnity for injuries 

resulting from the termination of the expired lease shall in no event be an amount exceeding the 

rent reserved by the lease, without acceleration, for the year next succeeding the date of the 

surrender of the premises to the Lessor, or the date of re-entry of 

Page 3 of 7 

22



the Lessor, whichever first occurs, plus an amount equal to the unpaid rent accrued, without 

acceleration, up to such date. 

15.  Right of Access: Lessor shall have the right to enter the Property at all reasonable times 

for the purpose of inspection or of making excavations, surveys, design reviews, repairs, additions 

or alterations. Lessor further reserves and Lessee hereby grants to Lessor or Lessor's agents, the 

right to enter upon the herein-leased premises at any reasonable time, without notice, during the 

thirty (30) day period immediately preceding the expiration of this lease or any extension thereof, 

for the purpose of showing said premises to prospective tenants. 

 

16.  Right of First Refusal: Provided Lessee is not in default of the terms hereunder, Lessee 

shall have the right of first refusal to lease the Property. The Lessee shall have the right of first 

refusal to continue to lease the herein-described Property at the expiration of this Lease on such 

terms and conditions as the Lessee will grant to any other party. Lessee shall have ten (10) 

business days after mailing of notice of such terms and conditions to either accept or reject such 

offer. 

 

If Lessee fails to notify Lessor in writing that it will lease the Property within the prescribed 

ten (10) business day period, Lessee's rights under this Section shall terminate, and Lessor shall 

have no further obligation under this Section with respect to the Property. 

 

17.  Abandoned Property: Upon termination of Lease and surrendering possession of the 

Property to the Lessor by the Lessees, or at the completion of the rental term or by any other 

means, any property remaining in or about the Property shall be assumed by the Lessor to be 

abandoned property and may be disposed of in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Washington. 

 

18.  Holding Over: If Lessee, with the implied or express consent of Lessor, shall hold over 

after the expiration of the term of this lease, Lessees shall remain bound by all of the covenants 

and agreements herein, except that the tenancy shall be from month to month. 

 

19.  Relationship of the Parties: The parties agree that they are each independent entities 

operating pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. No agent, employee, servant or 

representative of any party shall be deemed to be an employee, agent, servant or representative of 

any other party for any purpose. Each party will be solely and entirely responsible for its acts and 

for the acts of its agents, employees, and servants during the term of this agreement. 

20. Indemnification and Hold Harmless: Lessees shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless 

the City from any and all claims, suits, actions, damage awards, fee awards, fines, or penalties, 

whether to person or property, or expense of any type or nature which may occur to the City 

including reasonable attorneys' fees, experts fees and other costs, based upon the intentional or 

negligent acts or omissions of Lessees, its Sublessees, agents and/or employees in the performance 

of this Agreement. In any case in which suit or action is instituted against 

Page 4of7 

23



the City by reason of damages or injury caused in whole or in part by an act or omission of Lessee, 

its Sublessees, agents and/or employees, the City shall cause written notice thereof to be given to 

Lessee and Lessee thereupon shall have the duty to appear and defend in any such suit or action, 

without cost or expense to the City. For purposes of carrying out this indemnification and hold 

harmless provision, Lessees expressly waives any immunity it may otherwise have pursuant to 

Title 51, Industrial Insurance provisions of the Revised Code of Washington. 

 

21.  Costs and Attorneys Fees: In the event any unlawful detainer action, lawsuit, or other 

legal proceeding is commenced pertaining to this Lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to 

recover all of its reasonable legal costs and attorney's fees incurred from the other party. 

 

22.  Notice. Any notice, declaration, demand or communication to be given by a party to this 

Agreement to the other shall be in writing and transmitted to the other party by personal service 

or certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested, postage fully prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 

To Lessor: To Lessees: 

City of Lynden Greg and Jan Smit 

 Scott and Megan Smit 

Attention: Mike Martin 9041 Axling Rd 

300 4th St. Lynden, Wa. 98264 

Lynden, WA 98264 _____________________ 

 ______________________ 

The mailing and certifying of any such notice as herein provided shall be sufficient service 

thereof. All notices given in compliance with this section shall be deemed effective three (3) 

business days following the deposit thereof in the U.S. mail, irrespective of the date of actual 

receipt of such notice by the addressee. Either party may, by notice, change its address for notice. 

 

23.  Entire Agreement: This Lease Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties 

hereto and supersedes all of their previous understandings and agreements, written and oral, with 

respect to this transaction. Neither Lessor nor Lessees shall be liable to the other for any 

representations made by any person concerning the Property or regarding the terms of this 

Agreement, except to the extent that the same are expressed in this Agreement. 

 

24.  Governing Law and Venue Stipulation: This Agreement has been and shall be construed 

as having been made and delivered within the State of Washington and it is mutually understood 

and agreed by the parties hereto that this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

Washington, both as to interpretation and performance. Any action in law, suit in equity, or 

judicial proceeding, for the enforcement of the Agreement, or any of the provisions contained 

therein, shall be instituted and maintained only in the Whatcom County Superior Court, 

Bellingham, Washington. 

25. Waiver and Modification: This Lease may be amended or supplemented only by a 

written instrument signed by the parties hereto. 

Page 5 o 7  

24



26. Severability: In the event any provision of this Lease shall be held by any court of 

competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining 

provisions of this Lease shall nonetheless remain in full force and effect. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereto set their hands and seals the date first 

above written. 

LESSOR:                                                                LESSEE: 

THE CITY OF LYNDEN 

By___________________________ ____________________________ 

      Scott Korthuis, Mayor  Greg Smit 

 

 

 ____________________________ 

   Jan Smit 

 

 

 ____________________________ 

 Scott Smit 

 

 

 _____________________________ 

 Megan Smit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6 of 7 

25



 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 

) 
§ COUNTY OF WHATCOM 
) 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that SCOTT KORTHUIS is the 

person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he signed this instrument, 

on oath stated that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as the 

Mayor of the City of Lynden to be the free and voluntary act of such party for the uses and 

purposes mentioned in the instrument. 

Dated: _________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

______________,  NOTARY PUBLIC 

in and for the State of WA. My 

commission expires _______________. 

 

 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 

) 
§ COUNTY OF WHATCOM ) 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that GREG SMIT and JAN 

SMIT signed this instrument and acknowledged it to be their free and voluntary act for the 

uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument and acknowledged that they had the 

authorization to sign said instrument. 

Dated:  __________________________ 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 ______________________________ 

______________,  NOTARY PUBLIC 

in and for the State of WA. My 

commission expires _______________. 

 

 

Page 7 of 7 

26



 

 

PARCEL E: 28.11 ACRES 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: THE WEST 73.23 ACRES OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE 
NORTH HALF OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 40 NORTH, RANGE 2 EAST OF W,M., 
EXCEPT THE WEST 42.96 ACRES THEREOF. EXCEPT THE WEST 150 FEET OF THE 
SOUTH 627 FEET THEREOF. LESS ROADS. SITUATE IN WHATCOM COUNTY, 
WASHINGTON, CONSISTING OF 28.11 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

 
• PARCEL F: 12.37 ACRES 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION; THE WEST 42.96 ACRES OF THE NORTH HALF (N1/2) 
OF THE NORTH HALF (N1/2) OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 40 NORTH, RANGE 2 
EAST OF W.M., EXCEPT THE WEST 19.78 ACRES, AND EXCEPT THE SOUTH 
627 FEET THEREOF, LESS ROADS. SITUATE IN WHATCOM COUNTY, 
WASHINGTON, CONSISTING OF 12.37 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, 

 

PARCEL. G.: 16.85 ACRES 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: THE WEST 16.85 ACRES OF THE NORTH HALF (N1/.2) 
OF THE NORTH HALF (N1/2) OF SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 40 NORTH, RANGE 
2.EAST OF W.M. EXCEPT THE SOUTH 50 FEET THEREOF AND, LESS ROADS. 
EXCEPT THE SOUTH 62.7 FEET OF THE EAST 275 FEET THEREOF LESS 
ROADS. SITUATE IN WHATCOM COUNTY WASHINGTON. CONSISTING OF 
16.85 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

EXHIBIT _ A 

 

 
27



 

28



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 

Meeting Date: 3/1/2021 
Name of Agenda Item: COVID-19 Federal Reimbursement Contract 
Section of Agenda: Consent 
Department: Fire 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 
☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 
☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 
☐ Parks    ☐ Other: __________ ☒ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 
 
City of Lynden COVID 19 Response Project Worksheet 
City of Lynden Grant Agreement  
City of Lynden Supplemental Contracts 
 
Summary Statement: 
 
The City of Lynden provided emergency COVID-19 response from 2/10/2020 to 05/30/2020 
and was eligible to submit for federal reimbursement of expenses incurred due to the 
pandemic in that timeframe. $13,565.02 in expenses were incurred and Lynden is eligible for 
$10,173.77 of reimbursement. The attached Grant Agreement and Supplemental Contracts 
are required to be signed by Mayor Scott Korthuis, City Administrator Mike Martin, Fire Chief 
Mark Billmire, and Finance Director Anthony Burrows to receive the reimbursement.   
 
Recommended Action: 
 
Approve and authorize Mayor Scott Korthuis, City Administrator Mike Martin, Fire Chief Mark 
Billmire, and Finance Director Anthony Burrows to sign the Grant Agreement and 
Supplemental Contracts.   

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 1 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

Washington State Military Department 
PUBLIC ASSISTANCE GRANT AGREEMENT FACE SHEET 

 
1.  SUBRECIPIENT Name and Address: 

City of Lynden 
215 4th St  
Lynden, WA  98264 

2.  Grant Agreement Amount: 

To be determined, based upon 
approved project worksheets 

3.  Grant Number: 
 

D20-500 

4.  SUBRECIPIENT, phone/email: 
 

360-654-4400/billmirem@lyndenwa.org 

5.  Grant Agreement Start Date: 
 

January 20, 2020 

6.  Grant Agreement End Date: 
       

March 22, 2024 

7.  DEPARTMENT Program Manager, phone/email: 

Gerard Urbas, (253) 512-7402 
Gary.urbas@mil.wa.gov 

8.  Data Universal Numbering System  

(DUNS):  958236085 

9.  UBI # (state revenue): 

 

10.  Funding Authority: 

Washington State Military Department (the “DEPARTMENT”), and Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)  
11.  Funding Source Agreement #: 

       FEMA-4481-DR-WA 
12.  Program Index # 
704UC (Federal) / 702UE 
(State) / 704UD (Admin) 

13.  Catalog of Federal Domestic Asst. (CFDA) 

# & Title:  97.036, Public Assistance 

14.  Federal EIN #: 

 

15. Total Federal Award Amount: N/A 16. Federal Award Date: N/A 

17.  Service Districts: 

       (BY LEGISLATIVE DISTRICT):         ____th 

       (BY CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT): ____th 

18.  Service Area by County(ies): 

Whatcom County 

19.  Women/Minority-Owned, State 

       Certified?:   X   N/A       NO 

        YES, OMWBE #_________ 

20.  Contract Classification: 

  Personal Services    Client Services   X  Public/Local Gov’t 

  Research/Development           A/E        Other________ 

21.  Contract Type (check all that apply): 

  Contract              X  Grant                   X  Agreement 

  Intergovernmental  (RCW 39.34)           Interagency 

22.  Contractor Selection Process: 

X  “To all who apply & qualify”           Competitive Bidding 

   Sole Source                                 A/E RCW      N/A 

   Filed w/OFM?      Advertised?      YES    NO _______ 

23.  Contractor Type (check all that apply) 

   Private Organization/Individual                 For-Profit 

X   Public Organization/Jurisdiction             X   Non-Profit 

  VENDOR         SUBRECIPIENT       X  OTHER 

24.  BRIEF DESCRIPTION: 
Presidential Disaster Declaration # FEMA-4481-DR-WA COVID-19.  To provide funds to the SUBRECIPIENT for the emergency 
protective measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak as approved by FEMA in project worksheets 
describing eligible scopes of work and associated funding.  The DEPARTMENT is the Recipient and Pass-through Entity of the 
Presidential Disaster Declaration # FEMA-4481-DR-WA COVID-19, and FEMA State Agreement, which are incorporated by 
reference, and makes a subaward of Federal award funds to the SUBRECIPIENT pursuant to this Agreement.  The SUBRECIPIENT 
is accountable to the DEPARTMENT for use of Federal award funds provided under this Agreement and the associated matching 
funds. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the DEPARTMENT and SUBRECIPIENT acknowledge and accept the terms of this Agreement, references and 

attachments hereto and have executed this Agreement as of the date and year written below.  This Agreement Face Sheet, Special Terms 

and Conditions (Attachment 1), General Terms and Conditions (Attachment 2), Project Worksheet Sample (Attachment 3), Washington State 

Public Assistance Applicant Manual dated March 22, 2020 (Attachment 4), and all other documents, exhibits and attachments expressly 

referenced and incorporated herein contain all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties and govern the rights and obligations of 

the parties to this Agreement.  No other understandings, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject matter of this Agreement shall be deemed to 

exist or to bind any of the parties. 

In the event of an inconsistency in this Agreement, unless otherwise provided herein, the inconsistency shall be resolved by giving 

precedence in the following order: 

1.  Applicable Federal and State Statutes and Regulations 5. Special Terms and Conditions 

2.  DHS Standard Terms and Conditions 6. General Terms and Conditions, and, 

3.  Presidential Declaration, FEMA State Agreement, 7. Other provisions of the contract incorporated by reference. 

  and other Documents 

4.  Statement of Work and/or Project Description as outlined in FEMA approved Project Worksheet(s) 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year last specified below. 

FOR THE DEPARTMENT: 
__________________________________________ 
Signature                                                         Date 

Stacey McClain, Governor’s Authorized Representative 
Washington State Military Department 

  
 

FOR THE SUBRECIPIENT: 
__________________________________________ 
Signature                                                    Date 

print or type name:______________________________ 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

________________________________________ 
SUBRECIPIENT’s Attorney             Date 

74



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 2 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

Attachment 1 

Washington State Military Department 
SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

ARTICLE I – KEY PERSONNEL 

The individuals listed below shall be considered key personnel and point of contact.  Any substitution by either 
party must be submitted in writing. 

             SUBRECIPIENT     MILITARY DEPARTMENT 

Name  Name Gerard Urbas 

Title  Title 
Deputy State Coordinating Officer 
Public Assistance 

E-Mail  E-Mail gary.urbas@mil.wa.gov  

Phone  Phone (253) 512-7402 

 

ARTICLE II - ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS 

The SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with all applicable state and federal laws, rules, regulations, requirements 
and program guidance identified or referenced in this Agreement and the informational documents published 
by FEMA applicable to the Presidential Declaration  including, but not limited to, all criteria, restrictions, and 
requirements of the “FEMA State Agreement” published by FEMA and the federal regulations commonly 
applicable to FEMA grants, all of which are incorporated herein by reference.  The Presidential Declaration and 
the FEMA State Agreement are incorporated in this Agreement by reference. 

The SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with the Washington State Public Assistance Applicant Manual dated March 
22, 2020 incorporated in this Agreement as Attachment 4.  The DHS Standard Terms and Conditions are 
incorporated by reference in this Agreement in Appendix F of the Washington State Public Assistance 
Applicant Manual dated March 22, 2020. 

The SUBRECIPIENT acknowledges that since this Agreement involves federal award funding, the period of 
performance described herein may begin prior to the availability of appropriated federal funds.  The 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will not hold the DEPARTMENT, the State of Washington, or the United States 
liable for any damages, claim for reimbursement, or any type of payment whatsoever for services performed 
under this Agreement prior to distribution of appropriated federal funds, or if federal funds are not appropriated 
or in a particular amount. 

Federal funding is provided by FEMA and is administered by the DEPARTMENT.  Under the authority of 
Presidential Disaster Declaration number FEMA-4481-DR-WA, the DEPARTMENT is reimbursing the 
SUBRECIPIENT for those approved eligible costs and activities necessary under the Public Assistance Grant 
Program during the incident period beginning January 20, 2020 and continuing.  Eligible costs and activities 
will be identified in Project Worksheets approved by FEMA and a Project Worksheet Sample is incorporated as 
Attachment 3.  The DEPARTMENT is also providing Advance Payments to the SUBRECIPIENT where 

provided by FEMA and required and allowed by law.  Any interest earned on advance payments (except for 
interest earned on advances of funds exempt under the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act (31 U.S.C. 6501 et 
seq.) and the Indian Self-Determination Act (23 U.S.C. 450)) shall be promptly, but at least quarterly, remitted 
to the DEPARTMENT to be paid to FEMA. The SUBRECIPIENT may keep interest amounts up to $100 per 
year for administrative expenses. 

A. STATE AND FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR PUBLIC ASSISTANCE GRANTS:  
The following requirements apply to all DHS/FEMA Presidential Disasters administered by the DEPARTMENT. 
 
1. FUNDING 
The DEPARTMENT will administer the Public Assistance (PA) Grant Program, provide Advance payments, 
and reimburse approved eligible Public Assistance costs to the SUBRECIPIENT that are identified under the 
auspices of Presidential Disaster Declaration Number FEMA-4481-DR-WA and authorized by and consistent 
with the Stafford Act (P.L. 93-288, as amended) and applicable regulations.   

75

mailto:gary.urbas@mil.wa.gov


 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 3 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

It is understood that no final dollar figure is committed to at the time that this Agreement is executed, but that 
financial commitments will be made by amendments to the project application as Project Worksheets are 
completed in the field and projects are authorized by state and federal officials. 

Pursuant to the FEMA-STATE AGREEMENT, FEMA will contribute not less than 75 percent of the eligible 
costs for any eligible project and 100 percent of the federal PA Management Costs, up to 5 percent of the total 
award amount for each Subrecipient, as provided for in subsection 3.E. of Article II of this Public Assistance 
Agreement.  The SUBRECIPIENT commits to providing the remaining 25 percent non-federal match to any 
eligible project that has been identified under the Presidential Disaster Declaration number FEMA-4481-DR-
WA, subject to the following exceptions: 

DEPARTMENT Match: The Washington State Legislature may authorize the DEPARTMENT to provide a 
match to the SUBRECIPIENT’s non-federal share of eligible projects.  Provision of a match by the 
DEPARTMENT, if authorized by the Washington State Legislature, shall not require amendment of this 
Agreement.  If DEPARTMENT match funds are committed to the non-federal share by the DEPARTMENT 
pursuant to legislative authorization, the DEPARTMENT will formally notify the SUBRECIPIENT of the match in 
writing which will include information identifying any related reduction in the SUBRECIPIENT’s percentage 
commitment. 

Donated Resources:  FEMA will credit the SUBRECIPIENT for the value of donated resources (non-cash 
contributions of property or services) related to eligible Emergency Work to offset the non-Federal cost share 
of its eligible Emergency Work project worksheets  – categories A and B, and for the value of donated 
resources related to eligible work on a Permanent Work project to offset the non-Federal cost share of that 
specific Permanent Work project worksheet for which the resources were donated – categories C through G.  
The Donated Resources are recognized by FEMA in a Project Worksheet.  Donated Resources offset the non-
federal share of the eligible emergency work approved in Project Worksheets or specific permanent work 
approved in Project Worksheets.  For non-state agency SUBRECIPIENTS, the donated resource value will first 
be applied to the SUBRECIPIENT’s non-federal share, and, if a DEPARTMENT match is authorized, any 
remaining donated resource value will be applied to the DEPARTMENT’s share.  The value of the Donated 
Resources is calculated as described in FP 104-009-2 Public Assistance Program and Policy Guide (PAPPG) 
and the Public Assistance Donated Resources Recovery Policy, and is capped at the non-Federal share of 
approved eligible emergency work costs or capped at the non-Federal share of the specific approved eligible 
permanent work costs, as applicable.  The Federal share of the Donated Resources will not exceed the non-
federal share of eligible emergency work costs or of specific permanent work costs approved in Project 
Worksheets.  Any excess credit for eligible emergency work costs can be credited only to other eligible 
emergency work costs, for the same SUBRECIPIENT in the same disaster.  The value of excess donated 
resources cannot be credited toward or transferred to another eligible SUBRECIPIENT, or toward other State 
obligations.  The DEPARTMENT does not match a FEMA donated resource credit. 

The Project Worksheet, sample provided in Attachment 3, is required to be completed by FEMA or State 
Project Specialists. 

2. GRANT AGREEMENT PERIOD 
a. Activities payable under this Agreement and to be performed by the SUBRECIPIENT under this 

Agreement shall be those activities which occurred during or subsequent to the incident period 
defined in the FEMA State Agreement, and shall terminate upon completion of the project(s) 
approved by federal and state officials, including completion of close-out and audit.  This period 
shall be referred to as the “Grant Agreement Period.”   

b. The Grant Agreement Period shall only be extended by (1) written notification of FEMA approval of 
the Grant Agreement Period followed up with a mutually agreed written amendment, or (2) written 
notification from the DEPARTMENT to the SUBRECIPIENT issued by the DEPARTMENT to 
address extensions of its underlying federal grant performance period or to provide additional time 
for completion of the SUBRECIPIENT’s project(s).  

3. PAYMENTS 
 The DEPARTMENT, using funds granted for the purposes of the Presidential Disaster Declaration from 

FEMA, shall issue payments to the SUBRECIPIENT in compliance with the Washington State Public 
Assistance Applicant Manual dated March 22, 2020 (Attachment 4) procedures as follows: 

76



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 4 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

a. Small Project Payments:  Payments are made for all small projects to the SUBRECIPIENT upon 
submission and approval of an A19-1A State of Washington Invoice Voucher to the DEPARTMENT, 
after FEMA has approved funding through approval of Project Worksheets. 

b. Progress Payments:  Progress payment of funds for costs already incurred on large projects minus 
10 percent retainage may be made to the SUBRECIPIENT upon submission by the 
SUBRECIPIENT of an A19-1A State of Washington Invoice Voucher, a letter of request, and a 
spreadsheet identifying the claimed costs supporting the payment request and approval by the 
DEPARTMENT.  

c. Improved Projects:  Payments on improved projects (capped project) will be pro-rated based upon 
the percentage of the project that is funded under this disaster grant to the overall project cost.  This 
percentage will be identified when the first payment on the improved project is made.  Progress 
payments will be made as outlined above in Section B.  

d. Final Payment:  Final Payment on a large project will be made following submission by the 
SUBRECIPIENT of a certification of completion on the STATEMENT OF DOCUMENTATION / 
FINAL INSPECTION REPORT form upon completion of project(s), completion of all final 
inspections by the DEPARTMENT, and final approval by FEMA.  Final payment on a large project 
will include any retainage withheld during progress payments.  Final payments may also be 
conditional upon financial review, if determined necessary by the DEPARTMENT or FEMA.  
Adjustments to the final payment may be made following any audits conducted by the Washington 
State Auditor’s Office, the United States Inspector General or other federal or state agency. 

e. The SUBRECIPIENT is eligible to receive federal PA Management Costs up to 5 percent of the 
total award amount for each Subrecipient at the time of its request.  PA Management Costs 
includes any of the following when associated with the PA portion of a major disaster or emergency:  
Indirect costs, direct administrative costs, and other administrative expenses associated with a 
specific project.  Documentation is required to substantiate the eligibility of management activities 
and associated costs in accordance with PA Management Costs Interim Policy – Standard 
Operating Procedures. 

f. All payment requests shall be made on an A19-1A form, State of Washington, Invoice Voucher.  
Payments will be made by electronic fund transfer to the SUBRECIPIENT’s account. 

g. Federal funding shall not exceed the total federal contribution eligible for Public Assistance costs 
under Presidential Disaster Declaration number FEMA-4481-DR-WA. 

h. For state agencies, the DEPARTMENT will, through interagency reimbursement procedures, 
transfer payment to the SUBRECIPIENT.  Payment will be transferred by journal voucher to Agency 
No. _________, Accounting Fund No. _____________. 

i. Within the total Grant Agreement Amount, travel, sub-contracts, salaries, benefits, printing, 
equipment, and other goods and services will be reimbursed on an actual cost basis unless 
otherwise provided in this Agreement.   

j. For travel costs, SUBRECIPIENTs shall comply with 2 CFR 200.474 and should consult their 
internal policies, state rates set pursuant to RCW 43.03.050 and RCW 43.03.060 as now existing or 
amended, and federal maximum rates set forth at http://www.gsa.gov, and follow the most 
restrictive.   

k. If travel costs exceed set state or federal limits, travel costs shall not be reimbursed without written 
approval by DEPARTMENT Key Personnel.  

l. Receipts and/or backup documentation for any approved items that are authorized under this 
Agreement must be maintained by the SUBRECIPIENT consistent with record retention 
requirements of this Agreement, and be made available upon request by the DEPARTMENT, and 
local, state, or federal auditors. 

m. All work under this Agreement must end on or before the Grant Agreement End Date, and the final 
reimbursement request must be submitted to the DEPARTMENT within 45 days after the Grant 
Agreement End Date, except as otherwise authorized by written amendment of this Agreement and 
issued by the DEPARTMENT.   

77

http://www.gsa.gov/


 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 5 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

n. No costs for purchases of equipment/supplies will be reimbursed until the related 
equipment/supplies have been received by the SUBRECIPIENT, its subrecipient or contractor, or 
any non-federal entity to which the SUBRECIPIENT makes a subaward, and is invoiced by the 
vendor.  

o. SUBRECIPIENTs shall only use federal award funds under this Agreement to supplement existing 
funds, and will not use them to replace (supplant) non-federal funds that have been budgeted for 
the same purpose.  The SUBRECIPIENT may be required to demonstrate and document that the 
reduction in non-federal resources occurred for reasons other than the receipt or expected receipt 
of federal funds.   

The DEPARTMENT shall provide Advance Payments as provided by FEMA and as required and 
authorized by law. 

 
4. CLOSEOUT 

To initiate close-out, the SUBRECIPIENT is required to certify in writing, by Project Worksheet Number, 
date completed and total amount expended on the project, completion of the small projects.  To initiate 
close-out of the large projects, the SUBRECIPIENT shall submit certification of completion on a 
STATEMENT OF DOCUMENTATION/FINAL INSPECTION REPORT form to the DEPARTMENT. 

The DEPARTMENT will then complete a site inspection and a financial review of documentation to 
support the claimed costs.  Certifications on small and large projects are due within sixty days following 
the completion of the project or receipt of the approved Project Worksheet, whichever date is later.  

If SUBRECIPIENT is claiming federal PA Management Costs:  Indirect costs, direct administrative 
costs, and other administrative expenses associated with a specific project must be supported by 
documentation to substantiate the eligibility of management activities and associated costs that has 
been prepared and assembled in accordance with PA Management Costs Interim Policy – Standard 
Operating Procedures prior to close-out.   

After all of the projects have been certified as complete and approved for closure by FEMA, the 
DEPARTMENT will forward a final A19-1A State of Washington Invoice Voucher to the 
SUBRECIPIENT for release of the remaining funds due to the subrecipient for eligible costs, including 
any retainage previously withheld, and the allowance for federal indirect costs. 
 

5. DOCUMENTATION / REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
For all Advance Payment, the SUBRECIPIENT shall provide documentation and receipts for all costs 
related to the Advance Payment and provide such to the DEPARTMENT quarterly. 

The SUBRECIPIENT is required to retain all documentation which adequately identifies the source and 
application of Public Assistance funds, including the federal indirect cost reimbursement, for six years 
following the closure of this disaster grant.  For all funds received, source documentation includes 
adequate accounting of actual costs and recoveries incurred. 

The SUBRECIPIENT shall also comply with the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act 
(FFATA) and related OMB Guidance consistent with Public Law 109-282 as amended by section 
6202(a) of Public Law 110-252 (see 31 U.S.C. 6101 note) and complete the FFATA Form located at 
http://mil.wa.gov/emergency-management-division/grants/requiredgrantforms and return to the 
DEPARTMENT; which is  incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement.  

Quarterly Reports:  The SUBRECIPIENT is required to submit to the DEPARTMENT a quarterly report 
indicating the status of all their large projects.  The status shall identify the costs incurred to date, the 
percentage of work completed, the anticipated completion date of the project and whether cost under 
runs or over runs are expected.  In addition, the SUBRECIPIENT should note in the comment field any 
challenges or issues associated with the project.  Failure to submit a complete quarterly report within 15 
days following the end of the quarter will result in suspension of all payments to the SUBRECIPIENT 
until a complete quarterly report is received by the DEPARTMENT.  The quarterly report will serve as 
the basis for any FEMA Office of Chief Financial Officer (OCFO) funds reduction. 

 

78

http://mil.wa.gov/emergency-management-division/grants/requiredgrantforms


 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 6 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

6. TIME EXTENSIONS 
A time extension request is required to be forwarded to the DEPARTMENT by the SUBRECIPIENT for 
a project prior to the expiration of the approved completion date.  If the project is approved and funded 
after the statutory approval time period for completion, then a time extension request must be submitted 
to the DEPARTMENT within fifteen days of receipt of the funding package. 

In accordance with 44CFR206.204, the DEPARTMENT reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to 
consider and approve a time extension request after expiration of the approved completion date and 
within the DEPARTMENT’s statutory extension authority.  Requests for time extensions beyond the 
DEPARTMENT’s authority will be considered and approved by FEMA, at their sole discretion.   

All determinations made regarding time extension requests will be based on a case by case evaluation 
of specific factual circumstances. 

A time extension request must be in writing and identify the Project Worksheet number, the reason the 
project has not been completed within the prior approved completion period, the reason the time 
extension request was not submitted prior to the statutory approval time period (if applicable), a current 
status of the completion of the work, a detailed timeline for completion of the remaining elements, and 
an anticipated completion date for the completion of the remaining work.  Failure to submit a time 
extension request in a timely manner may result in denial of the time extension request, and loss of 
funding for the related project. 
 

7. PROCUREMENT 
The SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with all procurement requirements of 2 CFR Part 200.318 through 
200.326 and as specified in the General Terms and Conditions, Exhibit A.11.   

8. SUBRECIPIENT MONITORING: 
a. The DEPARTMENT will monitor the activities of the SUBRECIPIENT from award to closeout.  The 

goal of the DEPARTMENT’s monitoring activities will be to ensure that agencies receiving federal 
pass-through funds are in compliance with this Agreement, federal and state audit requirements, 
federal grant guidance, and applicable federal and state financial regulations, as well as 2 CFR 
Part 200 Subpart F.   

b. To document compliance with 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F requirements, the SUBRECIPIENT shall 
complete and return to the DEPARTMENT 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F Audit Certification Form” 
located at http://mil.wa.gov/emergency-management-division/grants/requiredgrantforms with the 
signed Agreement and each fiscal year thereafter until the Agreement is closed, which is 
incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement. 

c. Monitoring activities may include, but are not limited to: 
i.  review of financial and performance reports; 
ii.  monitoring and documenting the completion of Agreement deliverables; 
iii. documentation of phone calls, meetings, e-mails, and correspondence; 
iv. review of reimbursement requests and supporting documentation to ensure eligibility and 

consistency with Agreement work plan, budget, and federal requirements; 
v.  observation and documentation of Agreement related activities; 
vi. on-site visits to review equipment records and inventories, to verify source documentation 

for reimbursement requests and performance reports, and to verify completion of 
deliverables. 

d. The SUBRECIPIENT is required to meet or exceed the monitoring activities, as outlined above 
and in 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F, for any non-federal entity to which the SUBRECIPIENT makes 
a subaward as a pass-through entity under this Agreement. 

e. Compliance will be monitored throughout the performance period to assess risk. Concerns will be 
addressed through a Corrective Action Plan.  If the SUBRECIPIENT fails to comply with federal or 
state statutes or regulations, or the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the DEPARTMENT 
may impose any additional subaward conditions as described in 2 CFR 200.207.  If the 
DEPARTMENT determines that noncompliance cannot be remedied by imposing additional 
conditions, it may take one or more of the following actions: 

79

http://mil.wa.gov/emergency-management-division/grants/requiredgrantforms


 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 7 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

i.  Temporarily withhold cash payments pending correction of the deficiency by the 
SUBRECIPIENT. 

ii.  Wholly or partially suspend or terminate the subaward to the SUBRECIPIENT. 
iii. Initiate suspension or debarment proceedings under 2 CFR 180 or recommend such a 

proceeding be initiated by the federal awarding agency. 
iv. Withhold further federal awards for the project or program. 
v.  Take any other remedies that may be legally available. 

f. The DEPARTMENT agrees to: 
i. Provide technical assistance during all monitoring or evaluation activities.  The 

DEPARTMENT will coordinate and schedule the meetings necessary to conduct and 
complete all monitoring and evaluation activities. 

ii. Develop the SUBRECIPIENT’s project worksheet(s) (PW) and supporting attachments with 
FEMA and the SUBRECIPIENT’s assistance based upon the costs determined to be eligible.  

iii. Submit the SUBRECIPIENT’s funding package to FEMA. 
iv. Notify the SUBRECIPIENT when funding approval is received, issue payment per the 

process described above see Article II, A.4 – Payments, and provide the SUBRECIPIENT 
with a copy of the approved project worksheet. 

v. Work with the SUBRECIPIENT to resolve any issues identified during the monitoring 
process. 

vi. Review and respond appropriately to the SUBRECIPIENT’s requests for time extensions and 
changes. 
 

9. LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY (CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 TITLE VI) 
All subrecipients must comply with the Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VI) prohibition 
against discrimination on the basis of national origin, which requires that subrecipients of federal 
financial assistance take reasonable steps to provide meaningful access to persons with limited English 
proficiency (LEP) to their programs and services.  Providing meaningful access for persons with LEP 
may entail providing language assistance services, including oral interpretation and written translation. 
Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency 
(August 11, 2000), requires federal agencies to issue guidance to recipients, assisting such 
organizations and entities in understanding their language access obligations.  DHS published the 
required recipient guidance in April 2011, DHS Guidance to Federal Financial Assistance Recipients 
Regarding Title VI Prohibition Against National Origin Discrimination Affecting Limited English Proficient 
Persons, 76 Fed. Reg. 21755-21768, (April 18, 2011).  The Guidance provides helpful information such 
as how a recipient can determine the extent of its obligation to provide language services; selecting 
language services; and elements of an effective plan on language assistance for LEP persons.  For 
additional assistance and information regarding language access obligations, please refer to the DHS 
Recipient Guidance at https://www.dhs.gov/guidance-published-help-department-supported-
organizations-provide-meaningful-access-people-limited and additional resources on 
http://www.lep.gov.  

 
B. FEMA STATE AGREEMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

As a subrecipient of FEMA funding, the SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with all applicable DHS/FEMA 
terms and conditions of the Presidential Declaration and the FEMA State Agreement, which are 
incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement in Appendix F of the Washington State Public 
Assistance Applicant Manual dated March 22, 2020 (Attachment 4).  

 

80

https://www.dhs.gov/guidance-published-help-department-supported-organizations-provide-meaningful-access-people-limited
https://www.dhs.gov/guidance-published-help-department-supported-organizations-provide-meaningful-access-people-limited
http://www.lep.gov/


 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 8 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

Attachment 2 
Washington State Military Department 
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

Department of Homeland Security (DHS)/ 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)  

Grants 

A.1 DEFINITIONS 
As used throughout this Agreement, the following terms will have the same meaning as defined in 2 CFR 200 
Subpart A (which is incorporated herein by reference), except as otherwise set forth below: 

a. "DEPARTMENT” means the Washington State Military Department, as a state agency, any division, 
section, office, unit or other entity of the DEPARTMENT, or any of the officers or other officials lawfully 
representing that DEPARTMENT.  The DEPARTMENT is a recipient of a federal award directly from a 
federal awarding agency and is pass-through entity making a subaward to a subrecipient under this 
Agreement. 

b. "SUBRECIPIENT" when capitalized is primarily used throughout this Agreement in reference to the 
non-federal entity identified on the Face Sheet of this Agreement that has received a subaward from 
the DEPARTMENT.  However, the definition of “subrecipient” is the same as in 2 CFR 200.93 for all 
other purposes.  “Monitoring Activities” means all administrative, construction, financial, or other 
review activities that are conducted to ensure compliance with all state and federal laws, rules, 
regulations, authorities and policies. 

c. “Project” means those actions funded through the Public Assistance Program and described in 
approved Project Worksheets.  Projects may include one or more of the following: reimbursement of 
costs for emergency response, debris removal and/or repair or restoration of damaged public facilities.   
A project may be a small, large, improved, or alternate project. 

d. “Investment Justification” means grant application investment justification submitted by the 
SUBRECIPIENT describing the project for which federal funding is sought and provided under this 
Agreement.  Such grant application investment justification is hereby incorporated into this Agreement 
by reference. 

A.2 ADVANCE PAYMENTS  
The DEPARTMENT shall make no payments in advance or in anticipation of goods or services to be 
provided under this Agreement, except as required under 2 CFR 200.305 for federal grants.  
SUBRECIPIENT shall not invoice the DEPARTMENT in advance of delivery and invoicing of such 
goods or services, except as authorized under 2 CFR 200.305.   
 
Pursuant to the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (42 U.S.C §5121-
5207), Advance Payment process, FEMA will process a SUBRECIPIENT project worksheet which is 
provided to the state of Washington for direct disbursement to SUBRECIPIENT. 
Pursuant to these provisions and RCW 43.88.160(5), these grant funds are not subject to the advance 
payments prohibition and will be disbursed immediately to SUBRECIPIENT as grants authorized by law 
with subsequent authentication and certification of expenditures. 

A.3  AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS 
 The SUBRECIPIENT or the DEPARTMENT may request, in writing, an amendment or modification of 

this Agreement.  Modifications may be requested for Grant Agreement end date, budget or scope 
change.  However, such amendment or modification shall not be binding, take effect or be incorporated 
herein until made in writing and signed by the authorized representatives of the DEPARTMENT and the 
SUBRECIPIENT.  No other understandings or agreements, written or oral, shall be binding on the 
parties. 

A.4 AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) OF 1990, PUBLIC LAW 101-336, 42 U.S.C. 12101 ET 
SEQ. AND ITS IMPLEMENTING REGULATIONS ALSO REFERRED TO AS THE “ADA” 28 CFR 
Part 35. 
The SUBRECIPIENT must comply with the ADA, which provides comprehensive civil rights protection 
to individuals with disabilities in the areas of employment, public accommodations, state and local 
government services, and telecommunication. 

 

81



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 9 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

A.5 APPLICATION REPRESENTATION-MISREPRESENTATION, INACCURACY AND BREACH 
 The DEPARTMENT relies upon the SUBRECIPIENT's application in making its determinations as to 

eligibility for, selection for, and scope of funding grants.  Any misrepresentation, error or inaccuracy in 
any part of the application may be deemed a breach of this Agreement. 

A.6 ASSURANCES 
 DEPARTMENT and SUBRECIPIENT agree that all activity pursuant to this Agreement will be in 

accordance with all the applicable current federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations.  In 
addition, as a SUBRECIPIENT of FEMA funding, the SUBRECIPEINT shall comply with all applicable 
DHS terms and conditions as specified in Appendix F of the Washington State Public Assistance 
Applicant Manual dated March 22, 2020 incorporated in this Agreement as Attachment 4. 

A.7 CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, OR INELIGIBILITY 
 As federal funds are a basis for this Agreement, the SUBRECIPIENT certifies that the SUBRECIPIENT 

is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily 
excluded from participating in this Agreement by any federal department or agency.   

 The SUBRECIPIENT shall complete, sign, and return a Certification Regarding Debarment, 
Suspension, Ineligibility, and Voluntary Exclusion form located at http://mil.wa.gov/emergency-
management-division/requiredgrantforms.  Any such form completed by the SUBRECIPIENT for this 
Agreement shall be incorporated into this Agreement by reference. 

 Further, the SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with all applicable federal regulations concerning the 
federal debarment and suspension system, including 2 CFR Part 180.  The SUBRECIPIENT certifies 
that it will ensure that potential sub-contractors or sub-recipients or any of their principals are not 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in “covered transactions” by any federal department or agency.  “Covered transactions” 
include procurement contracts for goods or services awarded under a non-procurement transaction 
(e.g. grant or cooperative agreement) that are expected to equal or exceed $25,000, and sub-awards to 
sub-recipients for any amount.  With respect to covered transactions, the SUBRECIPIENT may comply 
with this provision by obtaining a certification statement from the potential sub-contractor or sub-
recipient or by checking the System for Award Management (http://www.sam.gov) maintained by the 
federal government.  The SUBRECIPIENT also agrees not to enter into any arrangements or contracts 
with any party on the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries’ “Debarred Contractor List” 
(http://www.lni.wa.gov/TradesLicensing/PrevWage/AwardingAgencies/DebarredContractors/).   

A.8 CERTIFICATION REGARDING RESTRICTIONS ON LOBBYING  
As required by 44 CFR Part 18, the SUBRECIPIENT hereby certifies that to the best of their knowledge 
and belief: (1) no federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the 
SUBRECIPIENT to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an 
agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of 
Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of any federal grant, the 
making of any federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, 
continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement; (2) that if any funds other than federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to 
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of 
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection 
with this Agreement, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the SUBRECIPIENT will complete and 
submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions; 
(3) and that, as applicable, the SUBRECIPIENT will require that the language of this certification be 
included in the award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including sub-contracts, sub-grants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and 
disclose accordingly.   

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into, and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction 
imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. 

 

 

82

http://mil.wa.gov/emergency-management-division/requiredgrantforms
http://mil.wa.gov/emergency-management-division/requiredgrantforms
http://www.sam.gov/
http://www.lni.wa.gov/TradesLicensing/PrevWage/Awarding%20Agencies/DebarredContractors/


 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 10 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

A.9 COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATUTES, RULES AND DEPARTMENT POLICIES 
 The SUBRECIPIENT and all its contractors shall comply with, and the DEPARTMENT is not 

responsible for determining compliance with, any and all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 
regulations, executive orders, OMB Circulars, and/or policies.  This obligation includes, but is not 
limited to: nondiscrimination laws and/or policies, Equal Employment Opportunity, as amended by 
Executive Order 11375 of October 13, 1967, as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (41 
CFR chapter 60);  Copeland Anti-Kickback Act (18 U.S.C. 874) as supplemented in Department of 
Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 3); Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 276a to 276a-7) as supplemented by 
Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 5); Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 1857(h), section 508 of the 
Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1368), Executive Order 11738, Environmental Protection Agency 
regulations (40 CFR part 15); Sections 103 and 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards 
Act (40 U.S.C. 327-330) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 5); Energy 
Policy and Conservation Act (PL 94-163, 89 Stat. 871, as amended), the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA), Age Discrimination Act of 1975, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Civil rights Act of 
1968, the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, (PL 93-288, as amended), 
Title 44 of the Federal Regulations, 2 CFR Part 3002, Ethics in Public Service (RCW 42.52), Covenant 
Against Contingent Fees (48 CFR Section 52.203-5), Public Records Act (RCW 42.56), Prevailing 
Wages on Public Works (RCW 39.12), State Environmental Policy Act (RCW 43.21C), Shoreline 
Management Act of 1971 (RCW 90.58), State Building Code (RCW 19.27), Energy Related Building 
Standards (RCW 19.27A), Provisions in Buildings for Aged and Handicapped Persons (RCW 70.92), 
and safety and health regulations. 

 DEPARTMENT and SUBRECIPIENT agree that all activity pursuant to this Agreement will be in 
accordance with all the applicable current federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations. 

 In the event of the SUBRECIPIENT’s or its contractor’s noncompliance or refusal to comply with any 
applicable law, regulation, executive order, OMB Circular or policy, the DEPARTMENT may rescind, 
cancel, or terminate the Agreement in whole or in part in its sole discretion.   

 The SUBRECIPIENT is responsible for all costs or liability arising from its failure to comply with 
applicable laws, regulations, executive orders, OMB Circulars or policies. 

A.10 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 No officer or employee of the DEPARTMENT; no member, officer, or employee of the SUBRECIPIENT 

or its designees or agents; no member of the governing body of the jurisdiction in which the project is 
undertaken or located; and no other official of such the SUBRECIPIENT who exercises any functions or 
responsibilities with respect to the project during his or her tenure, shall have any personal or pecuniary 
gain or interest, direct or indirect, in any contract, subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be 
performed in connection with the project assisted under this Agreement.   

 The SUBRECIPIENT shall incorporate, or cause to incorporate, in all such contracts or subcontracts, a 
provision prohibiting such interest pursuant to this provision. 

A.11 CONTRACTING & PROCUREMENT 
a. The SUBRECIPIENT shall use a competitive procurement process in the procurement and award of 
any contracts with contractors or sub-contractors that are entered into under the original contract 
award.  The procurement process followed shall be in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200.318 General 
procurement standards through 200.326 Contract Provisions.  

As required by Appendix II to 2 CFR Part 200, all contracts entered into by the SUBRECIPIENT under 
this Agreement must include the following provisions, as applicable:  

1) Contracts for more than the simplified acquisition threshold currently set at $250,000, which is the 
inflation adjusted amount determined by the Civilian Agency Acquisition Council and the Defense 
Acquisition Regulations Council (Councils) as authorized by 41 U.S.C. 1908, must address 
administrative, contractual, or legal remedies in instances where contractors violate or breach contract 
terms, and provide for such sanctions and penalties as appropriate. 

2) All contracts in excess of $10,000 must address termination for cause and for convenience by the 
non-Federal entity including the manner by which it will be effected and the basis for settlement. 

 

83



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 11 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

3) Equal Employment Opportunity. Except as otherwise provided under 41 CFR Part 60, all contracts 
that meet the definition of “federally assisted construction contract” in 41 CFR Part 60-1.3 must include 
the equal opportunity clause provided under 41 CFR 60-1.4(b), in accordance with Executive Order 
11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity” (30 FR 12319, 12935, 3 CFR Part, 1964-1965 Comp., p. 
339), as amended by Executive Order 11375, “Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal 
Employment Opportunity,” and implementing regulations at 41 CFR part 60, “Office of Federal 
Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor.” 

4) Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. 3141-3148). When required by Federal program 
legislation, all prime construction contracts in excess of $2,000 awarded by non-Federal entities must 
include a provision for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141-3144, and 3146-3148) 
as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 5, “Labor Standards Provisions 
Applicable to Contracts Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction”).  In accordance with 
the statute, contractors must be required to pay wages to laborers and mechanics at a rate not less 
than the prevailing wages specified in a wage determination made by the Secretary of Labor. In 
addition, contractors must be required to pay wages not less than once a week.  The non-Federal 
entity must place a copy of the current prevailing wage determination issued by the Department of 
Labor in each solicitation.  The decision to award a contract or subcontract must be conditioned upon 
the acceptance of the wage determination.  The non-Federal entity must report all suspected or 
reported violations to the Federal awarding agency.  The contracts must also include a provision for 
compliance with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U.S.C. 3145), as supplemented by Department 
of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 3, “Contractors and Subcontractors on Public Building or Public 
Work Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or Grants from the United States”).  The Act provides that 
each contractor or subrecipient must be prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person 
employed in the construction, completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the 
compensation to which he or she is otherwise entitled.  The non-Federal entity must report all 
suspected or reported violations to the Federal awarding agency. 

The procurement process followed shall be in accordance with 2 CFR Parts 200 and 3002, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local 
Governments, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Other Agreements with Institutions 
of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Nonprofit Organizations, as applicable to the SUB-
GRANTEE.  All subcontracting agreements entered into pursuant to this Agreement shall incorporate 
this Agreement by reference. 

5) Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 3701-3708).  Where applicable, all 
contracts awarded by the non-Federal entity in excess of $100,000 that involve the employment of 
mechanics or laborers must include a provision for compliance with 40 U.S.C. 3702 and 3704, as 
supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 5). Under 40 U.S.C. 3702 of the Act, 
each contractor must be required to compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the basis of 
a standard work week of 40 hours.  Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided 
that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for 
all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week.  The requirements of 40 U.S.C. 3704 are 
applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in 
surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous.  These 
requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily available on 
the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of intelligence. 

6) Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement.  If the Federal award meets the 
definition of “funding agreement” under 37 CFR §401.2 (a) and the recipient or subrecipient wishes to 
enter into a contract with a small business firm or nonprofit organization regarding the substitution of 
parties, assignment or performance of experimental, developmental, or research work under that 
“funding agreement,” the recipient or subrecipient must comply with the requirements of 37 CFR Part 
401, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms Under 
Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements,” and any implementing regulations 
issued by the awarding agency. 

 

84



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 12 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

7) Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401-7671q.) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 
1251-1387), as amended—Contracts and subgrants of amounts in excess of $150,000 must contain a 
provision that requires the non-Federal award to agree to comply with all applicable standards, orders 
or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401-7671q) and the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. 1251-1387).  Violations must be reported to the Federal 
awarding agency and the Regional Office of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 

8) Debarment and Suspension (Executive Orders 12549 and 12689)—A contract award (see 2 CFR 
180.220) must not be made to parties listed on the government-wide exclusions in the System for 
Award Management (SAM), in accordance with the OMB guidelines at 2 CFR 180 that implement 
Executive Orders 12549 (3 CFR part 1986 Comp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 CFR part 1989 Comp., p. 
235), “Debarment and Suspension.” SAM Exclusions contains the names of parties debarred, 
suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties declared ineligible under statutory 
or regulatory authority other than Executive Order 12549. 

9) Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment (31 U.S.C. 1352)—Contractors that apply or bid for an award 
exceeding $100,000 must file the required certification.  Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will 
not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or 
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or 
employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any 
Federal contract, grant or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352.  Each tier must also disclose 
any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any Federal award. 
Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the non-Federal award. 

10) Procurement of recovered materials -- As required by 2 CFR 200.322, a non-Federal entity that is 
a state agency or agency of a political subdivision of a state and its contractors must comply with 
section 6002 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act.  The requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only items designated in 
guidelines of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) at 40 CFR part 247 that contain the highest 
percentage of recovered materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory level of 
competition, where the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the value of the quantity 
acquired during the preceding fiscal year exceeded $10,000; procuring solid waste management 
services in a manner that maximizes energy and resource recovery; and establishing an affirmative 
procurement program for procurement of recovered materials identified in the EPA guidelines. 

11) Notice of Federal awarding agency requirements and regulations pertaining to reporting.  

12) Federal awarding agency requirements and regulations pertaining to copyrights and rights in 
data.  

13) Access by the DEPARTMENT, the SUBRECIPIENT, the Federal awarding agency, the 
Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their duly authorized representatives to any books, 
documents, papers, and records of the contractor which are directly pertinent to that specific contract 
for the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts, and transcriptions. 

14) Retention of all required records for six years after the SUBRECIPIENT has made final 
payments and all other pending matters are closed. 

15) Mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are contained in the state 
energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act (Pub. L. 
94–163, 89 Stat. 871).  

16) Pursuant to Executive Order 13858 “Strengthening Buy-American Preferences for Infrastructure 
Projects,” the DEPARTMENT encourages SUBRECIPIENTS to use, to the greatest extent practicable 
and consistent with the law, iron and aluminum as well as steel, cement and other manufactured 
products produced in the United States, in Public Assistance and Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 
eligible public infrastructure repair and construction projects affecting surface transportation, ports, 
water resources including sewer and drinking water and power. Such preference must be consistent 
with the law, including cost and contracting requirements of 2 CFR Part 200. 

 

85



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 13 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

b. The DEPARTMENT reserves the right to review the SUBRECIPIENT procurement plans and 
documents, and require the SUBRECIPIENT to make changes to bring its plans and documents into 
compliance with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 200.318 through 2 CFR 200.326.  The 
SUBRECIPIENT must ensure that its procurement process requires contractors and subcontractors to 
provide adequate documentation with sufficient detail to support the costs of the project and to allow 
both the SUBRECIPIENT and DEPARTMENT to make a determination on eligibility of project costs. 

c. All sub-contracting agreements entered into pursuant to this Agreement shall incorporate this 
Agreement by reference. 

A.12 DISCLOSURE 
 The use or disclosure by any party of any information concerning the DEPARTMENT for any purpose 

not directly connected with the administration of the DEPARTMENT's or the SUBRECIPIENT's 
responsibilities with respect to services provided under this Agreement is prohibited except by prior 
written consent of the DEPARTMENT or as required to comply with the state Public Records Act, other 
law or court order. 

A.13 DISPUTES 
 Except as otherwise provided in this contract, when a bona fide dispute arises between the parties and 

it cannot be resolved through discussion and negotiation, either party may request a dispute resolution 
panel to resolve the dispute.  A request for a dispute resolution board shall be in writing, state the 
disputed issues, state the relative positions of the parties, and be sent to all parties.  The panel shall 
consist of a representative appointed by the DEPARTMENT, a representative appointed by the 
SUBRECIPIENT and a third party mutually agreed upon by both parties. The panel shall, by majority 
vote, resolve the dispute.  Each party shall bear the cost for its panel member and its attorney fees and 
costs, and share equally the cost of the third panel member.   

A.14 DUPLICATION OF BENEFITS 
The SUBRECIPIENT agrees that the funds for which federal or state assistance is requested does not, 
or will not, duplicate benefits or funds received for the same loss from any other source.  The 
SUBRECIPIENT will pursue, and require sub-recipients to pursue, full payment of eligible insurance 
benefits for properties or any other losses covered in a project under this Agreement.  The 
SUBRECIPIENT will repay the DEPARTMENT any funds provided under this grant agreement that are 
duplicated by other benefits, funds, or insurance proceeds.  The SUBRECIPIENT will also seek 
recovery against any party or parties whose negligence or other intentional or tortious conduct may 
have caused or contributed to the expenditures for which these grants funds are provided.  The 
SUBRECIPIENT will repay the DEPARTMENT any funds recovered by settlement, judgment or other 
court order in an action to recover funds provided by this grant.  The SUBRECIPIENT shall notify the 
DEPARTMENT as early as possible and work in conjunction with the DEPARTMENT and FEMA to 
ensure appropriate apportionment of any duplicated or recovered payment. 

A.15 HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 
 The SUBRECIPIENT shall inspect and investigate the proposed development/construction site for the 

presence of hazardous substances.  The SUBRECIPIENT shall fully disclose to the DEPARTMENT the 
results of its inspection and investigation and all other knowledge the SUBRECIPIENT has as to the 
presence of any hazardous substances at the proposed development/construction project site.  The 
SUBRECIPIENT will be responsible for any associated clean-up costs.  "Hazardous Substance" is 
defined in RCW 70.105D.020 (10). 

A.16 LEGAL RELATIONS 
 It is understood and agreed that this Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties to the Agreement 

and gives no right to any other party.  No joint venture or partnership is formed as a result of this 
Agreement. 

 To the extent allowed by law, the SUBRECIPIENT, its successors or assigns, will protect, save and 
hold harmless the DEPARTMENT, the State of Washington, and the United States Government and 
their authorized agents and employees, from all claims, actions, costs, damages or expenses of any 
nature whatsoever by reason of the acts or omissions of the SUBRECIPIENT, its sub-contractors, 
assigns, agents, contractors, consultants, licensees, invitees, employees or any person whomsoever 
arising out of or in connection with any acts or activities authorized by this Agreement.   

86



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 14 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

 To the extent allowed by law, the SUBRECIPIENT further agrees to defend the DEPARTMENT and the 
State of Washington and their authorized agents and employees in any litigation; including payment of 
any costs or attorneys' fees for any claims or action commenced thereon arising out of or in connection 
with acts or activities authorized by this Agreement. 

 This obligation shall not include such claims, costs, damages or expenses which may be caused by the 
sole negligence of the DEPARTMENT; provided, that if the claims or damages are caused by or result 
from the concurrent negligence of (1) the DEPARTMENT, and (2) the SUBRECIPIENT, its agents, or 
employees, this indemnity provision shall be valid and enforceable only to the extent of the negligence 
of the SUBRECIPIENT, or SUBRECIPIENT's agents or employees. 

 Insofar as the funding source, the DEPARTMENT of Homeland Security (DHS)/Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA), is an agency of the federal government, the following shall apply: 

44 CFR 206.9 Non-liability.  The federal government shall not be liable for any claim based upon the 
exercise or performance of, or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function or duty on the 
part of a federal agency or an employee of the Federal government in carrying out the provisions of the 
Stafford Act. 

A.17 LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY – AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE  
 The signatories to this Agreement represent that they have the authority to bind their respective 

organizations to this Agreement.  Only the DEPARTMENT’s Authorized Signature and the Authorized 
Signature of the assigned SUBRECIPIENT Agent or Alternate for the SUBRECIPIENT Agent, formally 
designated in writing, shall have the express, implied, or apparent authority to alter, amend, modify, or 
waive any clause or condition of this Agreement.  Any alteration, amendment, modification, or waiver of 
any clause or condition of this Agreement is not effective or binding unless made in writing and signed 
by both parties Authorized Signature representatives.  Further, only the Authorized Signature 
representative or Alternate for the SUBRECIPIENT shall have authority to sign reimbursement 
requests, certification of project completion, time extension requests, amendment and modification 
requests, requests for changes to project status, and other requests, certifications and documents 
authorized by or required under this Agreement. 

A.18 LOSS OR REDUCTION OF FUNDING 
 In the event funding from state, federal, or other sources is withdrawn, reduced, or limited in any way 

after the effective date of this Agreement and prior to normal completion or end date, the 
DEPARTMENT may unilaterally reduce the scope of work and budget or unilaterally terminate or 
suspend all or part of the Agreement as a “Termination for Cause” without providing the 
SUBRECIPIENT an opportunity to cure.  Alternatively, the parties may renegotiate the terms of this 
Agreement under “Amendments and Modifications” to comply with new funding limitations and 
conditions, although the DEPARTMENT has no obligation to do so. 

A.19 NONASSIGNABILITY 
 Neither this Agreement, nor any claim arising under this Agreement, shall be transferred or assigned by 

the SUBRECIPIENT. 

A.20 NONDISCRIMINATION 
 The SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with all applicable federal and state non-discrimination laws, 

regulations, and policies.  No person shall, on the grounds of age, race, creed, color, sex, sexual 
orientation, religion, national origin, marital status, honorably discharged veteran or military status, or 
disability (physical, mental, or sensory) be denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to 
discrimination under any project, program, or activity, funded, in whole or in part, under this Agreement.  

A.21 NOTICES 
The SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with all public notices or notices to individuals required by applicable 
local, state and federal laws and shall maintain a record of this compliance. 

A.22 OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY/HEALTH ACT and WASHINGTON INDUSTRIAL SAFETY/ 
 HEALTH ACT (OSHA/WISHA) 

 The SUBRECIPIENT represents and warrants that its work place does now or will meet all applicable 
federal and state safety and health regulations that are in effect during the SUBRECIPIENT's 
performance under this Agreement.  To the extent allowed by law, the SUBRECIPIENT further agrees 
to indemnify and hold harmless the DEPARTMENT and its employees and agents from all liability, 

87



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 15 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

damages and costs of any nature, including but not limited to, costs of suits and attorneys' fees 
assessed against the DEPARTMENT, as a result of the failure of the SUBRECIPIENT to so comply. 

A.23 OWNERSHIP OF PROJECT/CAPITAL FACILITIES 
 The DEPARTMENT makes no claim to any capital facilities or real property improved or constructed 

with funds under this Agreement, and by this grant of funds does not and will not acquire any ownership 
interest or title to such property of the SUBRECIPIENT.   

 The SUBRECIPIENT shall assume all liabilities arising from the ownership and operation of the project 
and agrees to hold the DEPARTMENT and the State of Washington and the United States government 
harmless from any and all causes of action arising from the ownership and operation of the project. 

A.24 POLITICAL ACTIVITY 
No portion of the funds provided herein shall be used for any partisan political activity or to further the 
election or defeat of any candidate for public office or influence the approval or defeat of any ballot 
issue. 

A.25 PRIVACY 
 Personal information collected, used or acquired in connection with this agreement shall be used solely 

for the purposes of this agreement.  SUBRECIPIENT and its subcontractors agree not to release, 
divulge, publish, transfer, sell or otherwise make known to unauthorized persons personal information 
without the express written consent of the DEPARTMENT or as provided by law or court order.  
SUBRECIPIENT agrees to implement physical, electronic and managerial safeguards to prevent 
unauthorized access to personal information. 

 The DEPARTMENT reserves the right to monitor, audit, or investigate the use of personal information 
collected, used or acquired by the SUBRECIPIENT through this contract.  The monitoring, auditing or 
investigating may include but is not limited to “salting” by the DEPARTMENT.  Salting is the act of 
placing a record containing unique but false information in a database that can be used later to identify 
inappropriate disclosure of data contained in the database. 

 Any breach of this provision may result in termination of the contract and the demand for return of all 
personal information.  The SUBRECIPIENT agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the DEPARTMENT 
for any damages related to the SUBRECIPIENT’s unauthorized use, loss or disclosure of personal 
information. 

 For purposes of this provision, personal information includes, but is not limited to, information 
identifiable to an individual that relates to a natural person’s health, finances, education, business, use 
or receipt of governmental services, or other activities, names, addresses, telephone numbers, social 
security numbers, driver license numbers, financial profiles, credit card numbers, financial identifiers 
and other identifying numbers. 

A.26 PROHIBITION AGAINST PAYMENT OF BONUS OR COMMISSION 
The assistance provided under this Agreement shall not be used in payment of any bonus or 
commission for the purpose of obtaining approval of the application for such assistance or any other 
approval or concurrence under this Agreement provided; however, that reasonable fees or bona fide 
technical consultant, managerial, or other such services, other than actual solicitation, are not hereby 
prohibited if otherwise eligible as project costs. 

A.27 PUBLICITY 
The SUBRECIPIENT agrees to submit to the DEPARTMENT prior to issuance all advertising and 
publicity matters relating to this Agreement wherein the DEPARTMENT’s name is mentioned or 
language used from which the connection of the DEPARTMENT’s name may, in the DEPARTMENT’s 
judgment, be inferred or implied.  The SUBRECIPIENT agrees not to publish or use such advertising 
and publicity matters without the prior written consent of the DEPARTMENT. The SUBRECIPIENT may 
copyright original work it develops in the course of or under this Agreement; however, pursuant to 2 
CFR Part 200.315, FEMA reserves a royalty-free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable license to reproduce, 
publish or otherwise use, and to authorize others to use the work for government purposes.  

The SUBRECIPIENT shall include language which acknowledges the funding contribution of the 
DEPARTMENT and FEMA to this project in any release or other publication developed or modified for, 
or referring to, the project.   

88



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 16 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

Publication resulting from work performed under this Agreement shall include an acknowledgement of 
the DEPARTMENT and FEMA’s financial support, by CFDA number, and a statement that the 
publication does not constitute an endorsement by FEMA or reflect FEMA’s views.  

A.28 RECAPTURE PROVISION 
 In the event the SUBRECIPIENT fails to expend funds under this Agreement in accordance with 

applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and/or the provisions of the Agreement, the 
DEPARTMENT reserves the right to recapture funds in an amount equivalent to the extent of 
noncompliance.  Such right of recapture shall exist for the life of the project following Agreement 
termination.  Repayment by the SUBRECIPIENT of funds under this recapture provision shall occur 
within 30 days of demand.  In the event the DEPARTMENT is required to institute legal proceedings to 
enforce the recapture provision, the DEPARTMENT shall be entitled to its costs and expenses thereof, 
including attorney fees. 

A.29 RECORDS AND REPORTS  
a. The SUBRECIPIENT agrees to maintain all books, records, documents, receipts, invoices and all 

other electronic or written records necessary to sufficiently and properly reflect the 
SUBRECIPIENT's contracts, subawards, grant administration, and payments, including all direct 
and indirect charges, and expenditures in the performance of this Agreement (the “records”). 

b. The SUBRECIPIENT's records related to this Agreement and the projects funded may be inspected 
and audited by the DEPARTMENT or its designee, by the Office of the State Auditor, DHS, FEMA 
or their designees, by the Comptroller General of the United States or its designees, or by other 
state or federal officials authorized by law, for the purposes of determining compliance by the 
SUBRECIPIENT with the terms of this Agreement and to determine the appropriate level of funding 
to be paid under the Agreement. 

c. The records shall be made available by the SUBRECIPIENT for such inspection and audit, together 
with suitable space for such purpose, at any and all times during the SUBRECIPIENT's normal 
working day. 

d. The SUBRECIPIENT shall retain and allow access to all records related to this Agreement and the 
funded project(s) for a period of at least six (6) years following final payment and closure of the 
grant under this Agreement.  Despite the minimum federal retention requirement of three (3) years, 
the more stringent State requirement of six (6) year must be followed. 

A.30 RECOVERY OF FUNDS 
Any person who intentionally causes a condition for which funds are provided under this Agreement 
shall be liable for the costs incurred by the state and federal governments in responding to such 
disaster.  In addition to its own duty to recover duplicated funds or funds expended due to the 
intentional or negligent actions of others.  SUBRECIPIENT will cooperate in a reasonable manner with 
the DEPARTMENT and the United States in efforts to recover expenditures under this Grant 
Agreement. 

A.31 RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROJECT/STATEMENT OF WORK/WORK PLAN 
 While the DEPARTMENT undertakes to assist the SUBRECIPIENT with the project/statement of 

work/work plan (project) by providing grant funds pursuant to this Agreement, the project itself remains 
the sole responsibility of the SUBRECIPIENT.  The DEPARTMENT undertakes no responsibility to the 
SUBRECIPIENT, or to any third party, other than as is expressly set out in this Agreement. 

 The responsibility for the design, development, construction, implementation, operation and 
maintenance of the project, as these phrases are applicable to this project, is solely that of the 
SUBRECIPIENT, as is responsibility for any claim or suit of any nature by any third party related in any 
way to the project. 

 Prior to the start of any construction activity, the SUBRECIPIENT shall ensure that all applicable 
Federal, State, and local permits and clearances are obtained, including but not limited to FEMA 
compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act, the National Historic Preservation Act, the 
Endangered Species Act, and all other environmental laws and executive orders. 

 The SUBRECIPIENT shall defend, at its own cost, any and all claims or suits at law or in equity, which 
may be brought against the SUBRECIPIENT in connection with the project.  The SUBRECIPIENT shall 
not look to the DEPARTMENT, or to any state or federal agency, or to any of their employees or 

89



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 17 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

agents, for any performance, assistance, or any payment or indemnity, including but not limited to cost 
of defense and/or attorneys’ fees, in connection with any claim or lawsuit brought by any third party 
related to any design, development, construction, implementation, operation and/or maintenance of a 
project. 

A.32 SEVERABILITY 
 If any court of rightful jurisdiction holds any provision or condition under this Agreement or its 

application to any person or circumstances invalid, this invalidity does not affect other provisions, terms 
or conditions of the Agreement, which can be given effect without the invalid provision.  To this end, the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement are declared severable. 

A.33 SINGLE AUDIT ACT REQUIREMENTS (including all AMENDMENTS) 
Non-federal entities as subrecipients that expend $750,000 or more in one fiscal year of federal funds 
from all sources, direct and indirect, are required to have a single or a program-specific audit conducted 
in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F.  Non-federal entities that spend less than $750,000 a 
year in federal awards are exempt from federal audit requirements for that year, except as noted in 2 
CFR Part 200 Subpart F.  As defined in 2 CFR Part 200, the term “non-federal entity” means a State, 
local government, Indian Tribe, institution of higher education, or non-profit organization that carries out 
a federal award as a recipient or subrecipient. 

SUBRECIPIENTs that are required to have an audit must ensure the audit is performed in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS) as found in the Government 
Auditing Standards (the Revised Yellow Book) developed by the United States Comptroller General 
and the OMB Compliance Supplement.  The SUBRECIPIENT has the responsibility of notifying its 
auditor and requesting an audit in compliance with 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F, to include the 
Washington State Auditor’s Office, a federal auditor, or a public accountant performing work using 
GAGAS, as appropriate.  Costs of the audit may be an allowable grant expenditure as authorized by 2 
CFR Part 200 Subpart F. 

The SUBRECIPIENT shall maintain auditable records and accounts so as to facilitate the audit 
requirement and shall ensure that any subrecipients or contractors also maintain auditable records. 

The SUBRECIPIENT is responsible for any audit exceptions incurred by its own organization or that of 
its subcontractors. Responses to any unresolved management findings and disallowed or questioned 
costs shall be included with the audit report.  

The SUBRECIPIENT must respond to DEPARTMENT requests for information or corrective action 
concerning audit issues or findings within 30 days of the date of request. The DEPARTMENT reserves 
the right to recover from the SUBRECIPIENT all disallowed costs resulting from the audit. 

Once the single audit has been completed and includes any audit findings, the SUBRECIPIENT must 
send a full copy of the audit to the DEPARTMENT and its corrective action plan no later than nine (9) 
months after the end of the SUBRECIPIENT’s fiscal year(s) to: 

Contracts Office 
Washington Military Department 
Finance Division, Building #1 TA-20 
Camp Murray, WA   98430-5032 

If Contractor claims it is exempt from the audit requirements of 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F, the 
SUBRECIPIENT must send a letter identifying this Agreement and explaining the criteria for exemption 
no later than nine (9) months after the end of the SUBRECIPIENT’s fiscal year(s) to the address listed 
above. 

The DEPARTMENT retains the sole discretion to determine whether a valid claim for an exemption 
from the audit requirements of this provision has been established. 

The SUBRECIPIENT shall include the above audit requirements in any subawards. 

Conducting a single or program-specific audit in compliance with 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F is a 
material requirement of this Agreement.  In the absence of a valid claim of exemption from the audit 
requirements of 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F, the SUBRECIPIENT’s failure to comply with said audit 
requirements may result in one or more of the following actions in the DEPARTMENT’s sole discretion: 

90



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 18 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

a percentage of federal awards being withheld until the audit is completed in accordance with 2 CFR 
Part 200 Subpart F; the withholding or disallowing of overhead costs; the suspension of federal awards 
until the audit is conducted and submitted; or termination of the federal award. 

A.34 SUBRECIPIENT NOT EMPLOYEE 
The parties intend that an independent contractor relationship will be created by this Agreement.  The 
SUBRECIPIENT, and/or employees or agents performing under this Agreement are not employees or 
agents of the DEPARTMENT in any manner whatsoever.  The SUBRECIPIENT will not be presented 
as nor claim to be an officer or employee of the DEPARTMENT or of the State of Washington by 
reason of this Agreement, nor will the SUBRECIPIENT make any claim, demand, or application to or for 
any right or privilege applicable to an officer or employee of the DEPARTMENT or of the State of 
Washington by reason of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, Workmen's Compensation 
coverage, unemployment insurance benefits, social security benefits, retirement membership or credit, 
or privilege or benefit which would accrue to a civil service employee under Chapter 41.06 RCW. 

 It is understood that if the SUBRECIPIENT is another state department, state agency, state university, 
state college, state community college, state board, or state commission, that the officers and 
employees are employed by the State of Washington in their own right and not by reason of this 
Agreement. 

A.35 TAXES, FEES AND LICENSES 
 Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, the SUBRECIPIENT shall be responsible for, pay and 

maintain in current status all taxes, unemployment contributions, fees, licenses, assessments, permit 
charges and expenses of any other kind for the SUBRECIPIENT or its staff required by statute or 
regulation that are applicable to Agreement performance. 

A.36 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE  
Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement, the SUBRECIPIENT may terminate this Agreement 
by providing written notice of such termination to the DEPARTMENTs Key Personnel identified in the 
Agreement, specifying the effective date thereof, at least thirty (30) days prior to such date. 

 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the DEPARTMENT, in its sole discretion and in the 
best interests of the State of Washington, may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part by providing 
ten (10) calendar days written notice, beginning on the second day after mailing to the 
SUBRECIPIENT.  Upon notice of termination for convenience, the DEPARTMENT reserves the right to 
suspend all or part of the Agreement, withhold further payments, or prohibit the SUBRECIPIENT from 
incurring additional obligations of funds.  In the event of termination, the SUBRECIPIENT shall be liable 
for all damages as authorized by law.  The rights and remedies of the DEPARTMENT provided for in 
this section shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law. 

A.37 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION FOR CAUSE 
 In the event the DEPARMENT, in its sole discretion, determines the SUBRECIPIENT has failed to fulfill 

in a timely and proper manner its obligations under this Agreement, is in an unsound financial condition 
so as to endanger performance hereunder, is in violation of any laws or regulations that render the 
SUBRECIPIENT unable to perform any aspect of the Agreement, or has violated any of the covenants, 
agreements or stipulations of this Agreement, the DEPARTMENT has the right to immediately suspend 
or terminate this Agreement in whole or in part.   

The DEPARTMENT may notify the SUBRECIPIENT in writing of the need to take corrective action and 
provide a period of time in which to cure.  The DEPARTMENT is not required to allow the 
SUBGRANTEE an opportunity to cure if it is not feasible as determined solely within the 
DEPARTMENT’s discretion.  Any time allowed for cure shall not diminish or eliminate the 
SUBRECIPIENT’s liability for damages or otherwise affect any other remedies available to the 
DEPARTMENT.  If the DEPARTMENT allows the SUBRECIPIENT an opportunity to cure, the 
DEPARTMENT shall notify the SUBRECIPIENT in writing of the need to take corrective action.  If the 
corrective action is not taken within ten (10) calendar days or as otherwise specified by the 
DEPARTMENT, or if such corrective action is deemed by the DEPARTMENT to be insufficient, the 
Agreement may be terminated in whole or in part.  

The DEPARTMENT reserves the right to suspend all or part of the Agreement, withhold further 
payments, or prohibit the SUBRECIPIENT from incurring additional obligations of funds during 

91



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 19 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

investigation of the alleged compliance breach, pending corrective action by the SUBRECIPIENT, if 
allowed, or pending a decision by the DEPARTMENT to terminate the Agreement in whole or in part. 

 In the event of termination, the SUBRECIPIENT shall be liable for all damages as authorized by law, 
including but not limited to, any cost difference between the original Agreement and the replacement or 
cover Agreement and all administrative costs directly related to the replacement Agreement, e.g., cost 
of administering the competitive solicitation process, mailing, advertising and other associated staff 
time.  The rights and remedies of the DEPARTMENT provided for in this section shall not be exclusive 
and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law.   

If it is determined that the SUBRECIPIENT: (1) was not in default or material breach, or (2) failure to 
perform was outside of the SUBRECIPIENT’s control, fault or negligence, the termination shall be 
deemed to be a “Termination for Convenience”.   

A.38 TERMINATION PROCEDURES 
In addition to the procedures set forth below, if the DEPARTMENT terminates this Agreement, the 
SUBRECIPIENT shall follow any procedures specified in the termination notice.  Upon termination of 
this Agreement and in addition to any other rights provided in this Agreement, the DEPARTMENT may 
require the SUBRECIPIENT to deliver to the DEPARTMENT any property specifically produced or 
acquired for the performance of such part of this Agreement as has been terminated. 

 If the termination is for convenience, the DEPARTMENT shall pay to the SUBRECIPIENT the agreed 
upon price, if separately stated, for properly authorized and completed work and services rendered or 
goods delivered to and accepted by the DEPARTMENT prior to the effective date of Agreement 
termination, and the amount agreed upon by the SUBRECIPIENT and the DEPARTMENT for (i) 
completed work and services and/or equipment or supplies provided for which no separate price is 
stated, (ii) partially completed work and services and/or equipment or supplies provided which are 
accepted by the DEPARTMENT, (iii) other work, services and/or equipment or supplies which are 
accepted by the DEPARTMENT, and (iv) the protection and preservation of property.   

Failure to agree with such amounts shall be a dispute within the meaning of the "Disputes" clause of 
this Agreement.  If the termination is for cause, the DEPARTMENT shall determine the extent of the 
liability of the DEPARTMENT.  The DEPARTMENT shall have no other obligation to the 
SUBRECIPIENT for termination.  The DEPARTMENT may withhold from any amounts due the 
SUBRECIPIENT such sum as the DEPARTMENT determines to be necessary to protect the 
DEPARTMENT against potential loss or liability. 

The rights and remedies of the DEPARTMENT provided in this Agreement shall not be exclusive and 
are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law. 

 After receipt of a notice of termination, and except as otherwise directed by the DEPARTMENT in 
writing, the SUBRECIPIENT shall: 
a. Stop work under the Agreement on the date, and to the extent specified, in the notice; 
b. Place no further orders or sub-contracts for materials, services, supplies, equipment and/or 

facilities in relation to this Agreement except as may be necessary for completion of such 
portion of the work under the Agreement as is not terminated; 

c. Assign to the DEPARTMENT, in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by the 
DEPARTMENT, all of the rights, title, and interest of the SUBRECIPIENT under the orders and 
sub-contracts so terminated, in which case the DEPARTMENT has the right, at its discretion, to 
settle or pay any or all claims arising out of the termination of such orders and contracts; 

d. Settle all outstanding liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination of orders and sub-
contracts, with the approval or ratification of the DEPARTMENT to the extent the 
DEPARTMENT may require, which approval or ratification shall be final for all the purposes of 
this clause; 

e. Transfer title to the DEPARTMENT and deliver in the manner, at the times, and to the extent 
directed by the DEPATMENT any property which, if the Agreement had been completed, would 
have been required to be furnished to the DEPARTMENT; 

f. Complete performance of such part of the work as shall not have been terminated by the 
DEPARTMENT in compliance with all contractual requirements; and 

92



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 20 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

g. Take such action as may be necessary, or as the DEPARTMENT may require, for the protection 
and preservation of the property related to this Agreement which is in the possession of the 
SUBRECIPIENT and in which the DEPARTMENT has or may acquire an interest. 

A.39 UTILIZATION OF MINORITY AND WOMEN BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (MWBE) 
The SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with 2 CFR §200.321 and will take all necessary affirmative steps to 
assure that minority firms, women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are used when 
possible and will take all necessary affirmative steps to utilize business firms that are certified as 
minority-owned and/or women-owned in carrying out the purposes of this Agreement.  The following 
steps are required by the subrecipient if any contracts with contractors or sub-contractors are entered 
into under the original contract award: 

a. Placing qualified small and minority businesses and women’s business enterprises on 
solicitation lists; 

b. Assuring that small and minority businesses, and women’s business enterprises are solicited 
whenever they are potential sources; 

c. Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or quantities to 
permit maximum participation by small and minority businesses, and women’s business 
enterprises; 

d. Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage participation 
by small and minority businesses, and women’s business enterprises; and 

e. Using the services and assistance, as appropriate, of such organizations as the Small Business 
Administration and the Minority Business Development Agency of the Department of 
Commerce. 

 
The SUBRECIPIENT may also set utilization standards, based upon local conditions or may utilize the 
State of Washington MWBE goals, as identified in. WAC 326-30-041. 

A.40 VENUE 
 This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the validity and performance 

shall be governed by the laws of the State of Washington.  Venue of any suit between the parties 
arising out of this Agreement shall be the Superior Court of Thurston County, Washington.  The 
SUBRECIPIENT, by execution of this Agreement acknowledges the jurisdiction of the courts of the 
State of Washington. 

A.41 WAIVERS 
 No conditions or provisions of this Agreement can be waived unless approved in advance by the 

DEPARTMENT in writing.  The DEPARTMENT's failure to insist upon strict performance of any 
provision of the Agreement or to exercise any right based upon a breach thereof, or the acceptance of 
any performance during such breach, shall not constitute a waiver of any right under this Agreement. 

93



 
Public Assistance Grant Agreement Page 21 of 21  City of Lynden, D20-500 

Attachment 3  
PROJECT WORKSHEET SAMPLE 

 

 U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY   
FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

PROJECT WORKSHEET 

O.M.B. No. 1660-0017 
 

PAPERWORK BURDEN DISCLOSURE NOTICE 
Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 90 minutes per response.  Burden means the time, effort and financial 
resources expended by persons to generate, maintain, disclose, or to provide information to us.  You may send comments 
regarding the accuracy of the burden estimate and or any aspect of the collection, including suggestions for reducing the burden 
to:  Information Collections Management, U. S. Department of Homeland Security, Federal Emergency Management Agency, 500 
C Street, SW, Washington, DC 20472, Paperwork Reduction Project (OMB Control Number 1660-0017). You are not required to 
respond to this collection of information unless a valid OMB number appears in the upper right corner of this form. NOTE:  Do not 
send your completed form to this address. 

DISASTER PROJECT NO. 

      
PA ID NO. 
      

DATE 

      
CATEGORY 

      
F
E
M
A

- 

      -
F
M
D
R
- 

R            
     

DAMAGED FACILITY 

      
WORK COMPLETE AS OF: 

        :     % 
  

SUBRECIPIENT 

      
COUNTY 

      

LOCATION 

      
LATITUDE 

      
LONGITUDE 

      

DAMAGE DESCRIPTION AND DIMENSIONS 

      

SCOPE OF WORK 

 

Does the Scope of Work change the pre-disaster conditions at the site?   Yes   No 

Special Considerations issues included?   Yes   No Hazard Mitigation proposal included?   Yes       No 

Is there insurance coverage on this facility?   Yes   No 

PROJECT COST 
I
T
E
M 

CODE NARRATIVE QUANTITY/UNIT UNIT PRICE COST 

                        /                   

                        /                   

                        /                   

                        /                   

                        /                   

                        /                   

                        /                   

                        /                   

                        /                   

  TOTAL COST       

PREPARED BY   
      

TITLE 
      

SIGNATURE  
 

SUBRECIPIENT REP. 
      

TITLE 
      

SIGNATURE 

FEMA Form 90-91, FEB 06   REPLACES ALL PREVIOUS EDITIONS. 
 

94



HOW TO COMPLETE THE SUPPLEMENTAL CONTRACTING DOCUMENTS 

Event Information: 

Disaster Number: 

Event Name: 
Declaration Date: 

Contract #: 
FIPS #: 

Step 1: Complete the following information to populate the forms. 

1. Enter the date the forms will be submitted to EMD.

Date forms will be submitted: 

2. Enter jurisdiction/organization/subgrantee name and address.

Applicant Name: 
Doing Business As: 

County: 
Street Address: 

Mailing Address: 
City: State: Zip: 

3. Enter tax identification number (TIN or EIN), state revenue # (UBI) and DUNS #. The TIN and DUNS
are required.

Tax Identification Number: 
State Business # (UBI): 

DUNS #: 

If you do not know your organization’s DUNS #, please contact your comptroller, accountant, or finance 
department. They should be able to give it to you. Smaller jurisdictions (such as irrigation districts) may not 
already have one, but you can call Dun & Bradstreet at 1-866-705- 5711 and indicate that you are a Federal 
grant applicant. You can also call this number to see if you have a DUNS number. The number is assigned 
immediately. The following information is requested: 

• Legal Name
• Headquarters name and address
• Doing business as (DBA) or other name by which organization is commonly known or recognized
• Physical Address, City, State and Zip Code
• Mailing Address(if separate from Headquarters and/or physical address)
• Telephone Number
• Contact Name and Title
• Number of Employees at physical location

Please note: The DUNS number has to match the name on the Federal grant application (Request for Public 
Assistance) 

 2/23/2021

City Of Lynden

4481-DR-WA

COVID-19
March 22, 2020
D20-500

073-40805-00

Whatcom

215 4th St

Lynden WA 98264

91-6001257
37-4000003

958236085

95



4. Do you have an account already established with the State of Washington?

Do you have an account already established with the State and have you received funds from the state 
within the past 2 years?

     Yes and the account information is current – skip sections 5 and 6, continue to section 7.
     Yes but I need to make changes to the account information – continue to section 5. 
     No – skip section 5, continue to section 6.  

State Vendor #: 

5. What information needs to be changed?

Name  Address Contact Information     Email Account Info        Additional Info 

6. Complete this section if you do not have an open account with the State of Washington or any changes
need to be made. You may also need to complete this section if you have not received funds from the
State for 2 years. If all information is current, skip this section.

Contact Person: 
Phone: 

Fax: 
Email: 

Financial Institution: 
Phone: 

Routing Number: 
Account Number: 

Account Type: Checking             Savings 
Authorized Representative: 

Authorized Representative Title: 

7. Type of Applicant.

Enter the letter corresponding to the type of applicant:
A - State F – Higher Educational Institution 
B – County G – Indian Tribe 
C - City H – Private NonProfit 
D – School District I – Other (Specify) 
E – Special Purpose District (includes Diking Districts, Fire Districts, Water Districts, 
etc.) 

If I: Other, specify type of organization (this is rare)

8. Enter congressional district numbers and legislative district numbers located within in your jurisdiction.
If you don’t know them, check out http://app.leg.wa.gov/districtfinder/

Congressional District Number(s): 
Legislative District Number(s): 

SWV0007708

Jenn Franks

Anthony Burrows

42

1

Do not fill this in

(360) 354-2829 ext 205

360-354-5749
burrowsa@lyndenwa.org

Finance Director

✔

96



9. Enter information regarding the primary contact. This is the person who will be our main day-to-day
contact and will be signing most documents. This person must be named in the designation letter or
resolution as the applicant agent. It is recommended that this person not be the authorizing authority
such as the mayor or superintendent.

Name: 
Title: 

Phone: 
Fax: 

Email: 

10. Enter information regarding the alternate agent. This person can also sign documents and must be
named in the designation letter or resolution as the alternate.

Name: 
Title: 

Phone: 
Fax: 

Email: 

11. If the highest elected official or head authorizing authority is to be the applicant agent or alternate, then
a resolution format must be used to designate the applicant agent and alternate. This section can be
skipped if the highest elected official or head authorizing authority is not to be the applicant agent or
alternate. This section can also be skipped if the jurisdiction has its own resolution format. Examples of
governing body are the County Board of Commissioners, City Council, and School Board.

Date of resolution: Day: Month: Year: 
Governing Body: 

Individual certifying that the resolution is true and correct copy (usually clerk) 
Name: Title:
Date certifying resolution: 

12. Enter the name, title, and term of office for the highest elected official or highest authorizing authority.
This needs to be the person signing the designation letter or the person(s) signing the resolution. At
least one is required. This person cannot be the applicant agent or alternate in sections 9 and 10.

Name: Title:
Name: Title:
Name: Title:
Name: Title:
Name: Title:
Name: Title:

13. Enter the name and title of anyone authorized to sign contracts. Unless your jurisdiction has rules
stipulating otherwise, the applicant agent and alternate should be listed again in this section.

Name: Title:
Name: Title:
Name: Title:

City Council

Support Services Manager

22 February 2021

Sarah Silvas

Mark Billmire
Fire Chief

360-354-4400

billmirem@lyndenwa.org

Mike Martin

City Administrator

360-354-1170

martinm@lyndenwa.org

Mayor

February 22 2021

Scott Korthuis

Mark Billmire Fire Chief
City Administrator

Finance Director

Mike Martin

Anthony Burrows

97



14. Enter name, email, and phone of Chief Financial Officer.

Name: 
Email: 

 Phone: 

15. The authorized Chief Financial Officer completes and signs page 15: FFATA / Audit Certification Form.

Anthony Burrows
burrowsa@lyndenwa.org
(360) 354-2829

98



STEP 2: The forms are now populated with the information entered in Step 1. Review the forms for 
accuracy.  Complete the information on page 15. 

STEP 3: Print page 6 if applicant agent or alternate is not highest authority. 

STEP 4: Print page 7 if applicant agent or alternate is highest authority (or use your own resolution format). 

STEP 5: Print pages 8 – 15 and TWO copies of the contract/grant agreement. The grant agreement will 
be  a separate attachment. 

STEP 6: Either highest official signs page 6: Designation Letter (if not applicant agent or alternate) or 
governing body passes and signs Resolution. If resolution format is used, clerk of governing 
body signs a copy of the Resolution. 

STEP 7: Highest official and/or governing body signs in block 1 of page 9: Signature Authorization Form 

STEP 8: Applicant agent signs block 2 of page 9: Signature Authorization Form, page 8: Disaster 
Assistance Application, page 10: Debarment form, page 11: W-9, and page 14: FFATA Form 

STEP 9: Alternate applicant agent signs block 2 of page 9: Signature Authorization form, and page 8: 
Disaster Assistance Application 

STEP 10: Someone who signed in block 2 of Signature Authorization form signs two copies of contract/grant 
agreement.  

STEP 11: If account has not already been established with State and no changes need to be made, 
someone authorized to access account signs Pages 12 and 13: Direct Deposit 

STEP 12: The authorized Chief Financial Officer completes and signs page 15: FFATA / Audit Certification 
Form.  

STEP 13: After all signatures are obtained on all forms, mail the following to: 
Mr. Gerard Urbas 

Washington Military Department 
Emergency Management Division 

Public Assistance Program 
MS: TA-20, Building 20-B 

Camp Murray, WA 98430-5122 

2 originals of contract/grant agreement 
1 original of designation letter or 1 certified copy of resolution 
1 original signature authorization form  
1 original disaster assistance application  
1 original debarment form  
1 W-9 
1 direct deposit form  
1 FFATA / Audit Certification form

Keep pages 1 through 5 and copies of pages 6 (or 7) and 8 through 15 for your file. 

STEP 14:  After the contract/grant agreement is executed by WA Military Department, one original contract
agreement and a copy of the disaster assistance application will be mailed to the applicant agent. 
These should be kept for your file. 

If you have questions, please contact your Program Delivery Manager or Program Assistant. 

99



Mr. Gerard Urbas 
Washington Military Department 
Public Assistance Program     
MS: TA-20 Building 20-B 
Camp Murray, WA  98430-5122 

Re: Designated Applicant Agent 

Dear Mr. Urbas: 

The purpose of this letter is to designate the Applicant Agent and Alternate authorized 
representatives for  

Disaster: 
Applicant: 
Applicant Agent: 
Alternate Applicant: 

The purpose of this designation as the authorized representatives is to obtain 
federal and/or State Emergency or Major Disaster Assistance funds. 

These representatives are authorized to execute all contracts, certify completion of 
projects, request payments, and prepare all required documentation for funding 
requirements. 

Sincerely, 

 

 2/23/2021

4481-DR-WA COVID-19

Scott Korthuis

100



12/10/09 

Designation of Applicant’s Agent 

Resolution 

Be it resolved by _____________________________ of ___________________________ 
(Governing Body)    (Public Agency) 

_____________________, _____________________ is hereby designated the authorized 
(Name of New Agent)    (Title) 

representative and _________________________________, ___________________is designated 
(Name of Alternate)                                                (Title) 

the alternate for and in behalf of __________________________________________, a public 
(Public Agency Name) 

agency established under the laws of the state of Washington. 

The purpose of this designation as the authorized representative is to obtain federal and/or state 
emergency or disaster assistance funds.  These representatives are authorized on behalf of the 
__________________________ to execute all contracts, certify completion of projects, request 
payments, and prepare all required documentation for funding requirements. 

Passed and approved this ________ day of ______________,  20______. 

____________________, _________________  ____________________, ____________________ 
(Signature)   (Title)   (Signature)   (Title) 

______________________, _________________  ____________________, __________________ 
(Signature)   (Title)   (Signature)   (Title) 

_______________________, _________________  _____________________, _______________ 
(Signature)   (Title)   (Signature)   (Title) 

Certification

I, ___________________, duly appointed and __________________ of _____________________, 
(Name)          (Title)             (Public Agency) 

do hereby certify that the above is a true and correct copy of a resolution passed and approved by 

the _________________ of _________________ on the ______ day of ______________, 20_____. 

        (Governing Body)        (Public Agency) 

Date:  ________________ 

_____________________ ___________________________________ 

(Official Position)  (Signature)

City Council

City Council

City Council

Support Services Manager

Support Services Manager

City Of Lynden

City Of Lynden

City Of Lynden

City Of Lynden

22

22

February

February

2021

2021

Sarah Silvas

Mark Billmire Fire Chief

Mike Martin City Administrator

Mayor

February 22 2021

101



DISASTER ASSISTANCE APPLICATION DEM - 131 

Application Identifier: State Number: 

Federal Disaster Number: 

Federal Catalog Number:  97.036     Title:  Public Assistance Grants 

Declaration Date: 

Applicant’s FEMA Project Application Number: 

Legal Applicant Recipient: 

Applicant’s Name: 

Street Address: 

Mailing Address: County: 

City:  State: Zip Code: 

Applicant Agent: Contact Information: 

Name: Phone: 
Title: Fax: 

E-mail:
Signature: Date:

Alternate Applicant Agent: 

Name: Phone: 
Title: Fax: 

E-mail:
Signature: Date:

Type of Applicant: 

A - State F - Higher Educational Institution 
B - County G - Indian Tribe 
C - City H - Private NonProfit 
D - School District  I - Other (Specify) __________________ 
E - Special Purpose District 

Enter Appropriate Letter _______ 

Congressional District Number: _______________________ 

State Legislative District Number: _______________________ 

Governor's Authorized Representative: 

Signature_______________________________  Date:________________ 

NOTE: Shaded blocks for WA EMD use. 

 2/23/2021

 2/23/2021

City Of Lynden

4481-DR-WA

March 22, 2020

D20-500

073-40805-00

Whatcom

215 4th St

Lynden WA 98264

42

1

Mark Billmire

Fire Chief

360-354-4400

billmirem@lyndenwa.org

Mike Martin

City Administrator

360-354-1170

martinm@lyndenwa.org

102



SIGNATURE AUTHORIZATION FORM

WASHINGTON STATE MILITARY DEPARTMENT 
Camp Murray, Washington  98430-5122 

Please read instructions on reverse side before completing this form. 
NAME OF ORGANIZATION DATE SUBMITTED 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Public Assistance Program, Disaster -DR-WA

CONTRACT NUMBER 

1. AUTHORIZING AUTHORITY

SIGNATURE PRINT OR TYPE NAME TITLE/TERM OF OFFICE 

2. OTHER INDIVIDUALS AUTHORIZED TO SIGN CONTRACTS/CONTRACT AMENDMENTS

SIGNATURE PRINT OR TYPE NAME TITLE 

SIGNAUTH – PA, Revised 11/09 

 2/23/2021City Of Lynden

4481-DR-WA
D20-500

MayorScott Korthuis

Mark Billmire Fire Chief

City Administrator

Finance Director

Mike Martin

Anthony Burrows

103



Form W-9 Request for Taxpayer Give Form to the 

(Rev. October 2018) Identification Number and Certification requester. Do not 
Department of the Treasury send to the IRS. 
Internal Revenue Service ► Go to www.lrs.gov/FormW9 for Instructions and the latest information.

1 Name (as shown on your income tax retum). Name is required on this line; do not leave this line blank. 

2 Business name/disregarded entity name, If different from above 

cw; 
<D 3 Check appropriate box for federal tax classification of the person whose name Is entered on line 1. Check only one of the 4 Exemptions (codes apply only to 
Cl following seven boxes. certain entitles, not Individuals; see 

Instructions on page 3): 
C D lndivlduaVsole proprietor or D C Corporation D S Corporation D Partnership D TrusVestate 0 

• tn single-member LLC Exempt payee code flf any) a, C 
a. 0 

D Limited liability company. Enter the tax classification (C=C corporation, S=S corporation, P=Partnership) ► a-:g 

!i Note: Check the appropriate box In the line above for the tax classification of the single-member owner. Do not check Exemption from FATCA reporting 
CC 

LLC If the LLC Is classified as a single-member LLC that Is disregarded from the owner unless the owner of the LLC ls code (if any)
'C- another LLC that is not disregarded from the owner for U.S. federal tax purposes. Otherwise, a single-member LLC that a. 0 is disregarded from the owner should check the appropriate box for the tax classification of Its owner. 

0 D Other (see Instructions) ► (Appl/es to accounts malntlllnod outs/do tho U.S.) 

5 Address (number, street. and apt. or suite no.) See instructions. Requester's name and address (optlonaQ u, 

6 City, state, and ZIP code 

7 List account number(s) here (optionaQ 

lilll Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN) 
I Social security number I Enter your TIN in the appro�riate box. '!he TIN provided must_ match t�e name given on line 1 to avoid 

backup withholding. For Individuals, this Is generally your social security number (SSN). However, for a 

[IIJ []] I I I I I resident alien, sole proprietor, or disregarded entity, see the instructions for Part I, later. For other - -
entitles, It is your employer identification number (EIN). If you do not have a number, see How to get a . . . . . 
TIN, later. or 
Note: If the account is in more than one name, see the instructions for line 1. Also see What Name and ! -Em--pl-oy_e_r_ld_e_n _tlfl_c_a _tl-on_n_u_m_b_e_r __ -----. 
Number To Give the Requester for guidelines on whose number to enter. 

Certification 
Under penalties of perjury, I certify that: 
1. The number shown on this form is my correct taxpayer identification number (or I am waiting for a number to be issued to me); and
2. I am not subject to backup withholding because: (a) I am exempt from backup withholding, or (b) I have not been notified by the Internal Revenue

Service (IRS) that I am subject to backup withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or (c) the IRS has notified me that I am
no longer subject to backup withholding; and 

3. I am a U.S. citizen or other U.S. person (defined below); and
4. The FATCA code(s) entered on this form (if any) indicating that I am exempt from FATCA reporting is correct.
Certification instructions. You must cross out item 2 above if you have been notified by the IRS that you are currently subject to backup withholding because 
you have failed to report all interest and dividends on your tax return. For real estate transactions, item 2 does not apply. For mortgage interest paid, 
acquisition or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, contributions to an individual retirement arrangement (IRA), and generally, payments 
other than interest and dividends, you are not required to sign the certification, but you must provide your correct TIN. See the instructions for Part 11, later. 

Sign
Here I Signature ol 

U.S. person ► 

General Instructions 
Section references are to the Internal Revenue Code unless otherwise 
noted. 
Future developments. For the latest information about developments 
related to Form W-9 and its instructions, such as legislation enacted 
after they were published, go to www.irs.gov/FormW9.

Purpose of Form 
An individual or entity (Form W-9 requester) who is required to file an 
information return with the IRS must obtain your correct taxpayer 
identification number (TIN) which may be your social security number 
(SSN), Individual taxpayer identification number OTIN), adoption 
taxpayer identification number (ATIN), or employer identification number 
(EIN), to report on an information return the amount paid to you, or other 
amount reportable on an information return. Examples of information 
returns Include, but are not limited to, the following. 
• Form 1099-INT �nterest earned or paid)

Cat. No. 10231X 

Date ► 

• Form 1099-DIV (dividends, including those from stocks or mutual
funds) 
• Form 1099-MISC (various types of income, prizes, awards, or gross
proceeds) 
• Form 1099-B (stock or mutual fund sales and certain other
transactions by brokers) 
• Form 1099-S (proceeds from real estate transactions)
• Form 1099-K (merchant card and third party network transactions)
• Form 1098 (home mortgage interest), 1098-E (student loan interest),
1 098-T (tuition) 
• Form 1099-C (canceled debt)
• Form 1099-A (acquisition or abandonment of secured property)

Use Form W-9 only if you are a U.S. person Oncluding a resident
alien), to provide your correct TIN. 

If you do not return Form W-9 to the requester with a TIN, you might
be subject to backup withholding. See What is backup withholding, 
later. 

Form W-9 (Rev. 10·2018) 

 2/23/2021

City Of Lynden

215 4th St

Lynden WA 98264

91-6001257

104



Washington Military Department Contract Number:_____________ 

Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility or Voluntary Exclusion Certification Form 

NAME Doing business as (DBA) 

ADDRESS Applicable Procurement 
or Solicitation #, if any: 

WA Uniform Business 
Identifier (UBI) 

Federal Employer Tax 
Identification #: 

This certification is submitted as part of a request to contract.

Instructions For Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion--Lower 
Tier Covered Transactions 

READ CAREFULLY BEFORE SIGNING THE CERTIFICATION.  Federal regulations require contractors and bidders to sign and 
abide by the terms of this certification, without modification, in order to participate in certain transactions directly or 
indirectly involving federal funds. 

1. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective lower tier participant is providing the certification set out
below.

2. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this
transaction was entered into. If it is later determined that the prospective lower tier participant knowingly rendered an
erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal Government the department or agency
with which this transaction originated may pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment.

3. The prospective lower tier participant shall provide immediate written notice to the department, institution or office to
which this proposal is submitted if at any time the prospective lower tier participant learns that its certification was
erroneous when submitted or had become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.

4. The terms covered transaction, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower tier covered transaction, participant, person,
primary covered transaction, principal, proposal, and voluntarily excluded, as used in this clause, have the meaning
set out in the Definitions and Coverage sections of rules implementing Executive Order 12549. You may contact the
person to which this proposal is submitted for assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations.

5. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by submitting this proposal that, should the proposed covered
transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
proposed for debarment under the applicable CFR, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by the department or agency with which this
transaction originated.

6. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include this clause titled
``Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion-Lower Tier Covered
Transaction,'' without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered
transactions.

7. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a lower tier covered
transaction that it is not proposed for debarment under applicable CFR, debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily
excluded from covered transactions, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may decide the
method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each participant may, but is not required
to, check the List of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement and Non-procurement Programs.

8. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records in order to
render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and information of a participant is not
required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business activity.

9. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 5 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction
knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment under applicable
CFR, suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to other
remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency with which this transaction originated may
pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment.

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion--Lower Tier 
Covered Transactions 

The prospective lower tier participant certifies, by submission of this proposal or contract, that neither it nor its 
principals is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 
from participation in this transaction by any Federal department or agency.  Where the prospective lower tier 
participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such prospective participant shall 
attach an explanation to this form. 

Bidder or Contractor Signature:  _______________________________________ Date:  _____________ 

Print Name and Title:  _______________________________________________ 

 2/23/2021

City Of Lynden

D20-500

215 4th St

Lynden WA 98264 91-600125737-4000003

Mark Billmire

Fire Chief

105



PLEASE

DO NOT

STAPLE

 2/23/2021

City Of Lynden

✔

Lynden WA 98264

91-6001257

SWV0007708

Jenn Franks

Anthony Burrows

(360) 354-2829 ext 205

360-354-5749

burrowsa@lyndenwa.org

Finance Director

Municipality

106



NOTE: The EIN or SSN must match the Legal Name as reported to the IRS
. For a resident alien, sole proprietor, or disregarded entity, or to find out how to get a

Taxpayer Identification Number, see the W9 Instructions.
If the account is in more than one name, see the W9 Instructions for guidelines on whose 

number to enter. 

Employer dentification umber 

 2/23/2021

City Of Lynden

Lynden WA 98264

91-6001257

107



Updated 2/11/2020 
Page 1 of 2 

WASHINGTON MILITARY DEPARTMENT 

Audit Certification and FFATA Reporting Form 

J  14  2019
CONTACT INFORMATION 

Subrecipient Name (Agency, Local Government, or Organization): 
Subrecipient Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) / Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) Number: 
Authorized Financial Representative (Name and Title): 
Address: 
Email: Phone Number: 

Directions: As required by 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F, non-federal entities that expend $750,000 in federal 
awards in a fiscal year shall have a single or program-specific audit conducted for that year. If your entity is not 
subject to these requirements, you must complete Section A of this Form. If your entity is subject to these 
requirements, you must complete Section B of this form. All subrecipients must complete the Federal Funding 
Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) related questions in Section C of this Form. Failure to return this 
completed Form to contracts.office@mil.wa.gov may result in delay of grant agreement processing, 
withholding of federal awards or disallowance of costs, and suspension or termination of federal awards. 

SECTION A: Entities NOT subject to the audit requirements of 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F 
(check all that apply) 
☐ We did not expend $750,000 or more of total federal awards during the preceding fiscal year.
☐ We are a for-profit organization.
☐ We are exempt for other reasons (describe):

However, by signing below, I agree that we are still subject to the audit requirements, laws, and regulations 
governing the program(s) in which we participate; that we are required to maintain records of federal 
funding and to provide access to such records by federal and state agencies and their designees; and that 
WMD may request and be provided access to additional information and/or documentation to ensure 
proper stewardship of federal funds. 

SECTION B: Entities that ARE subject to the audit requirements of 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F 
(Complete the information below and check the appropriate box) 
☐ We completed our last 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F Audit on [enter date] for fiscal year [enter date]. There
were no findings related to federal awards or internal controls.
☐ We completed our last 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F Audit on [enter date] for fiscal year [enter date] and
there were findings related to federal awards and/or internal controls.
☐ Our completed 2 CFR Part 200 Subpart F Audit will be available on [enter date] for fiscal year [enter date].
Provide a complete copy of the audit report electronically to contracts.office@mil.wa.gov or provide the 
state audit number [enter number].  

City Of Lynden

215 4th St Lynden WA 98264

(360) 354-2829 ext 205

958236085

108

mailto:contracts.office@mil.wa.gov
mailto:contracts.office@mil.wa.gov


Page 2 of 2 

SECTION C: Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (check the corresponding answer) 
In your preceding fiscal year, did your organization receive 80% or more of its gross revenues from federal 
funding?                ☐ Yes    ☐ No
In your preceding fiscal year, did your organization receive $25,000,000 or more in federal funding?    
☐ Yes    ☐ No

   If you answered yes to the previous questions, WMD Contracts staff will request additional information to 
   comply with FFATA reporting.  

I hereby certify that I am an individual authorized by the above identified entity (subrecipient) to complete 
this form. Further, I certify that the above information is true and correct, and all material findings contained 
in the audit report/statement have been disclosed. Additionally, I understand this form is to be submitted 
every fiscal year for which this entity is a subrecipient of federal award funds from the Department until the 
grant agreement is closed. 

Signature of Authorized Financial Representative: Date: 2/10/2020 

109



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 
Name of Agenda Item: Reso 1033 - Stuit Development Agreement 
Section of Agenda: Consent 
Department: Planning Department 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☒ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☐ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

Resolution 1033 documenting the Council-approved Stuit Development Agreement and No Build Covenant 
which was presented at the February 16, 2021 Council meeting. 

Summary Statement: 

     Dannon Traxler, representing her clients Ben and Lindy Stuit, has proposed a development agreement that 
outlines an alternate schedule for infrastructure build-out on a proposed short plat located on Flynn Road (Bay Lyn 
Road).  The Stuits seek to construct a single-family home on Lot A of the short plat, maintain the existing home on 
Lot B, and burden the remaining undeveloped portion of the short plat, Lot C, with water and roadway 
improvements, and the City with sewer extension to collect allocated shares via ERUs.  
Staff originally issued short plat findings with the intent to approve the 4-lot short plat.  These findings where later 
vacated at the request of Ms. Traxler so that the Stuits could propose the alternate development schedule.  All 
parties have collaborated to create the draft agreement and associated no-build covenant.  

     The development agreement revises the short plat to 3 lots.  The entire plat would connect to the City sewer 
network which the City is advancing in this area while development of Lot C must include the extension of City-
standard water lines and road frontage improvements.  

     Staff is conflicted regarding the recommendation of this development agreement.  Although cognizant of the 
applicant’s personal goals for the property, from a municipal perspective, staff has concerns related to two issues 
within the development agreement.  One is the underdevelopment of the property.  The short plat creates 2 lots 
for single family homes which are over 24,000 square feet each but located in a multi-family zone that can support 
many more additional units.  The proposed development on Lots A and B represent 2 ERUs toward the new sewer 
system when, if developed per zoning, many more ERUs would be collected.   Secondly, there is the potential that 
the infrastructure burden and constraints of the floodplain on Lot C will make it such that it will not be financially 
feasible to develop in the near term.  However, the Stuits are selling the City an easement for the sewer network to 
reach Bay Lyn Road and provide additional service. 

     A subsequent resolution documenting the agreement, the administrative approval of the short plat and 
associated conditions will hinge on the Council’s decision related to development agreement.   

Recommended Action: 

(Staff recognizes the proposed development agreement as a policy decision to be made by the City Council and has 
not included a recommended action.)   

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

110



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 1 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION NO. 1033 

A resolution of the Council of the City of Lynden, Washington, 
to approve the Stuit Development Agreement 

 

WHEREAS, This Agreement is for the purposes of setting forth certain development 
standards and other provisions related to the Stuits’ subdivision of land and the Parties’ 
respective rights and obligations pertaining to the provision of City utility services and the 
required road improvements to serve the property; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed development agreement outlines an alternate schedule 
for infrastructure build-out on a proposed short plat located on Flynn Road (Bay Lyn 
Road).  The Stuits seek to construct a single-family home on Lot A of the short plat, 
maintain the use of a single-family home on Lot B, and burden the remaining undeveloped 
portion of the short plat, Lot C, with water and roadway improvements.  Sewer extension 
is expected to become available due to a City-led expansion of the sanitary sewer network 
in this area and cost shares will be allocated to development in the Stuit Short Plat via 
equivalent residential units (ERUs).  

WHEREAS, The Stuits own land within the City of Lynden at 8036 Flynn Road that 
is identified and legally described on the attached Exhibit A (the Property) of the 
Development Agreement. 

WHEREAS, the City Council held a public hearing on February 16, 2021, to accept 
public comment regarding the Stuit Development Agreement and associated No Build 
Covenant and voted to recommend approval of the request by a vote of 7-0. 

WHEREAS, the City of Lynden staff, the Mayor and the City Attorney have reviewed 
the document and recommend no further changes; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Lynden City Council to approve the Stuit 
Development Agreement as attached, hereto. 
 
PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL BY AN AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF _____ IN FAVOR,  
____ AGAINST, SIGNED THIS _____ DAY OF DECEMBER 2021. 
 
 
 
MAYOR 
 
         
Scott Korthuis 
 
 

111



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 2 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

ATTEST:        
 
     ______ 
Pam Brown, City Clerk  
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
________________________________ 
Bob Carmichael, City Attorney 
 
  

112



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 3 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

 
 
 
 
After Recording Return to 
Langabeer & Traxler, PS 
2701 Meridian Street 
Bellingham, WA 98225 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Grantors: BENJAMIN STUIT and LINDY STUIT 
Grantee: CITY OF LYNDEN 
Legal Description 
(Abbreviated): 

PTN NW¼ NE¼ §25 TWP 40 N R 2 E.W.M. 
(Full Legal on Exhibit A, Page ___) 

Assessor’s Tax Parcel ID#: 4002253884230000 / 125969 
Reference Number of 
Related Document(s): 

 
N/A 

 
 
 THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (Agreement) is entered into by and between 
the CITY OF LYNDEN, a Washington municipal corporation (City) and BENJAMIN AND 
LINDY STUIT, a married couple (Stuits or Developer) (collectively, the Parties).  This 
Agreement is effective upon approval of this Agreement by the Parties (herein Effective 
Date). 
 
 RECITALS: 
 
 A. This Agreement is for the purposes of setting forth certain development 
standards and other provisions related to the Stuits’ subdivision of land and the Parties’ 
respective rights and obligations pertaining to the provision of City utility services and the 
required road improvements to serve the property, described herein, and pursuant to the 
authority provided in RCW 36.70B.170 et. seq.  
 
 B. The Stuits own land within the City of Lynden at 8036 Flynn Road that is 
identified and legally described on the attached Exhibit A (the Property). 
 
 C. In 2019, the City approved the Stuits’ short plat application SP #18-03 (the 
Short Plat) to subdivide the Property into three lots.  The Technical Review Committee 
indicated the Stuits had the ability to install an on-site septic system in lieu of connecting to 
City sewer.  The remaining conditions requiring, among other things, improvement of Flynn 

113



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 4 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

Road up to City Development Standards, the extension of water, future extension of sewer 
to the furthest extent of all properties within the Short Plat, and post-construction 
maintenance bonding, were not feasible for the Stuits scope of development which included 
only one new single-family home despite the capacity of the Property for additional density.    
 

D Subsequently, the Stuits formally requested that the City vacate the Findings 
of Fact and Determination on the Short Plat, which the City did via letter from Planning 
Director Heidi Gudde on November 5, 2019, so that the Parties could work together on 
alternative infrastructure installation and bonding requirements.   
 
 E. Since that time, the Parties have had ongoing discussions related to 
alternative infrastructure installation and other requirements for the development of the 
Property.   
 
 F. Additionally, the City’s Public Works Department was advancing the design 
and development of sewer infrastructure to this area of the City.  This advancement 
warranted coordination with the Stuits development plan to avoid the installation of a new 
onsite septic system which would then be abandoned with City sanitary sewer service. 
  

G. On December 2, 2020 the Stuits submitted a revised short plat design, 
attached as Exhibit B, which depicts 3 lots: Lots A and B, and Reserve Tract C (collectively, 
the Lots).  This development agreement is intended to set forth the Parties’ respective 
rights, obligations, timing, and costs related to the development of the Lots.    
 
 H. Pursuant to RCW 36.70B.170(4), the Parties recognize and agree that the 
execution of a development agreement is a proper exercise of the City’s police power and 
contract authority, that a development agreement may obligate a party to fund or provide 
services, infrastructure, or other facilities, and that a development agreement shall reserve 
to the City the authority to impose new or different regulations to the extent required by a 
serious threat to public health and safety.  
 
 I. Pursuant to RCW 36.70B.200, on February 16, 2021, the City held a public 
hearing regarding the form and substance of this Development Agreement before the City 
Council, and the City Council has approved a resolution authorizing the Mayor to enter into 
this Development Agreement.  
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 
 

1. Authority for Development Agreement.  The State legislature, through the 
enactment of RCW 36.70B.170 through .210, has granted the City the authority to enter 
into a development agreement with a person or entities having ownership or control of real 
property within its jurisdiction.   
 

2. Conformance with Code.  Short Plat approval and development of the 
Property shall conform to all terms and conditions of Short Plat approval.  Development of 

114



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 5 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

the Property shall also be consistent with all provisions of the Lynden Municipal Code and 
development standards, subject to the terms herein. 

 
3. Latecomers’ Agreement for City Sewer Extension.  Public sewer will be 

extended by the City to serve the Lots. This sewer extension shall be completed in 
association with a City-created Assessment Reimbursement Area under the provisions of 
Section 13.28.180 of the Lynden Municipal Code, and as may be hereafter amended. Per 
those provisions, the Lots will be included within the Assessment Reimbursement Area.  
Each Lot shall be assessed an added facility charge per Equivalent Residential Unit (ERU) 
based on the cost of public sewer extension at the time of connection. The cost of sewer 
connection will include an ERU surcharge adopted by the City Council for the Assessment 
Reimbursement Area.  

 
4. Conditions for Onsite Septic Systems.  Septic systems will be allowed to serve 

single-family residential development on Lots A and B until such time as public sewer is 
extended and available for connection in the abutting right-of-way. Upon said extension of 
public sewer, the owners of Lots A and B shall, within sixty (60) days of such public sewer 
becoming available for connection, abandon any septic systems in place and connect to 
public sewer. The City intends to extend sewer service in advance of development of Lot B 
so that it may be connected to public sewer and avoid the cost of onsite septic system 
construction; provided that, public sewer connection will not be a condition of development 
of Lot B.  In the event development of Lot B precedes said public sewer extension, the City 
shall not be liable under any circumstances for the costs of installation and removal of any 
septic system installed to serve Lot B. No septic system is allowed on Reserve Tract C. 

 
5. No-Build Covenant for Reserve Tract C. The Stuits will execute and record a 

“no build” covenant (Covenant) (attached hereto as Exhibit D) concurrent with the execution 
and recording of this Agreement, which will bind Reserve Tract C so that it may not be 
further divided or built upon until such time as all road and utility improvements as specified 
herein are installed and accepted by the City.  Following installation and acceptance of the 
road and all utilities, the Parties agree to extinguish the Covenant. 

 
6. Future Obligations of Reserve Tract C.   

 
 6.1 It shall be the sole responsibility of the owner of Reserve Tract C 

(Owner) to construct and extend an 8-inch water line to serve Reserve Tract C as described 
herein, and make City-required improvements to Flynn Road.  These road and utility 
improvements must be completed prior to the issuance of any building permit, lot line 
adjustment, future plat approval, or any other development approval for construction on 
Reserve Tract C. The Owner shall construct the road and upgrade the water line, all in 
accordance with City Development Standards, except as specified in Section 7, herein. 

 
 6.2 Any latecomer agreement pertaining to road and water line 

construction costs shall be determined per City code at that time. 
 

115



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 6 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

 6.3 The Owner shall install and dedicate to the City an 8” water line along 
the entire Property frontage abutting Flynn Road, including the entire frontage of Lots B and 
A, as a prerequisite condition of City issuance of a building permit, lot line adjustment, future 
plat approval, or any other development approval for Reserve Tract C, whichever comes 
first.  Said 8” water line shall be conveyed to the City by instrument acceptable to the City, 
after City approval and acceptance thereof in accordance with city standards. 

 
 6.4 Road improvements to Flynn Road and water main shall be extended 

by the Owner at the time of development of Reserve Tract C.  Road improvements shall be 
made over the top of the new water main extension and extend along the entire Property 
frontage, including Lots B and A.  Said road improvements shall be dedicated to the City by 
instrument acceptable to the City, after City approval and acceptance thereof in accordance 
with city standards.  The foregoing requirements are a prerequisite condition of City 
issuance of a building permit, lot line adjustment, future plat approval, or any other 
development approval for Reserve Tract C. 

 
 6.5  Notwithstanding the restrictions set forth in 6.3 and 6.4, Owner may 

obtain a fill and grade permit or official modification of the FEMA mapped floodplain for 
Reserve Tract C. 

 
 6.6 The Owner may enter into a separate Latecomer Agreement with the 

City for cost reimbursement, in accordance with state law and city ordinances, by other 
private properties on the west side of Flynn Road for the waterline extension described in 
Section 6.3 and any road improvement beyond the ¾ Street Improvements per the 
provisions of Lynden Municipal Code (LMC) 13.28.  Improvements must be designed and 
constructed to City of Lynden Engineering Design and Development Standards unless 
granted a variance to those standards by the City Council. 

 
 6.7 Consistent with Section 3, herein, the Owner shall fund its proportional 

share of the City’s construction of the sewer line extension. 
 
 6.8  Payment by Reserve Tract C of its assessment for its proportional 

share of the sewer line extension shall be held in trust in the City’s construction fund 
designated for the purpose of paying sewer installation and connection costs for the sewer 
extension project. The foregoing requirement is a prerequisite condition of City issuance of 
a building permit.  

 
 6.9  Payment of its proportional share of the sewer extension cost and all 

connection fees due, including Seattle area Consumer Price Index (CPI) increases, shall 
be a condition of City issuance of a building permit or future plat approval for Reserve Tract 
C.  The foregoing requirement is a prerequisite condition of City issuance of a building 
permit. 

 
 6.10 Completion of sewer extension shall be a prerequisite to City issuance 

of a building permit or future plat approval for Reserve Tract C. 
 

116



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 7 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

 6.11 Consistent with section 4, herein, no onsite septic system will be 
allowed to serve Reserve Tract C, which will be required to connect to City sewer and water 
service. 
 
 7. Right to Variance from City Road Standards.  At any time prior to submitting 
a building permit application, the Owner shall have the right to apply for a variance from 
City road standards.   

 
  7.1 Construction of ¾ Street.  Without a variance, the Owner’s minimum 

road construction responsibility shall be for a ¾ street (sidewalk, curb, gutter, widened 
shoulder/bike lane, and both travel lanes on side of the right-of-way abutting the Property, 
but no responsibility for a sidewalk, curb or bike lane on the opposite side) to be 
accomplished prior to issuance of a building permit or plat approval on Reserve Tract C.  

 
  7.2 Timing of the Variance.   Owner may apply for a variance from road 

standards at the time of building permit application for Reserve Tract C.   
 

  7.3 Application Process.  Any variance application must be brought to City 
Council for approval. The Owner shall be responsible for associated application fees and 
the City Council retains final authority to issue a final determination approving or denying 
any variance request.   
 
 8. No Protest. Lots A and B shall not protest a Local Improvement District or 
Utility Local Improvement District for road and/or water line improvements. 
 
 9. Other Road and Utility-Related Requirements for the Lots.   
 
  9.1 Lots A, B, and Reserve Tract C shall grant the City a sewer easement 
at no cost as a condition of City approval of the current (Stuit) Short Plat; provided that, the 
value of said easement shall be credited against the respective sewer facility assessment 
for each lot, identified in Section 3.  The value of the easement for purposes of said credit 
shall be equal to the County assessed fee value of that portion of each Lot encumbered by 
the easement, multiplied by 0.5. Said sewer easement grant shall be made prior to 
recording the Short Plat or shall appear on the face of the Short Plat, at discretion of the 
City. 

  9.2 Lots A, B, and Reserve Tract C will dedicate to the City any necessary 
additional right-of way (30 feet from centerline) for the new road as a condition of City 
approval of the Stuit Short Plat.  Said dedications shall be made prior to recording the Short 
Plat or shall appear on the face of the Short Plat, at discretion of the City.  The water main 
improvements will be constructed within the City right of way concurrent with the road 
improvements. 

 

 10. Duration.  This agreement shall expire upon the earliest of the following; (a) 
thirty (30) years from the effective date of this Agreement; (b) the date upon which the 
Property, including Reserve Tract C, has been fully developed as described herein and all 

117



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 8 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

Developer obligations in connection therewith are satisfied as determined by the City; (c) 
the Short Plat does not receive final plat approval and expires; or (d) upon mutual 
agreement of the Parties.   

   
 11. Satisfaction of Preliminary Short Plat Condition.   City Council approval of this 
Development Agreement shall be a condition precedent to City issuance of a Notice of 
Intent to Approve approving the Short Plat, for the purpose of obtaining Final Plat Approval. 
 

12. Miscellaneous. 
 

12.1 Time Is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in each and every 
covenant and condition of this Development Agreement. 

 
12.2 Entire Agreement; Modifications.  This Development Agreement 

consists of nine (9) pages exclusive of exhibits and represents the entire agreement of the 
Parties with respect to the subject matter thereof.  There are no other agreements, oral or 
written, except as expressly set forth herein.  This Development Agreement may not be 
altered, changed, modified, or amended except by an instrument in writing signed by all 
Parties hereto. 

 
12.3 Benefit.  The provisions in this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of 

and be binding upon the successors, assigns and personal representatives of the Parties 
hereto. 

 
12.4 No Impairment of City Regulatory Discretion.  Nothing in this 

Agreement shall limit the City’s exercise of its lawful regulatory discretion in approving 
pending or new applications in accordance with applicable ordinances, so long as such 
discretion is exercised consistent with the terms of this Agreement. 

 
12.5 Reservation of Authority.  The City reserves the authority to impose 

new or different regulations on the Property to the extent required by a serious threat to 
public health and safety.  This reservation is intended to comply with RCW 36.70B.170(4).  
If such authority is exercised, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full 
force and effect to the extent the new regulations are not inconsistent therewith and do not 
undermine achievement of the fundamental purposes of this Agreement.  

 
12.6 Notices.  All notices or demands to be given by each party to the other 

under this agreement and all sums to be paid by each party shall be deposited in the United 
States mails, postage prepaid, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, and 
addressed as follows: 

 
BENJAMIN and LINDY STUIT 
8036 Flynn Road 
Lynden, WA  98264 

CITY OF LYNDEN 
300 4th Street 
Lynden, WA  98264 

 
 

118



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 9 of 16 

March 1, 2021 

Notices and demands sent by mail shall be deemed to have been given and 
delivered when properly mailed, and the postmark affixed by the United Sates Post Office 
shall be conclusive evidence of the date of mailing. 

 
 12.7 Authority.  The individuals executing this Development Agreement 

represent and warrant that they have the authority to execute this Agreement and bind their 
respective principals. 

 
12.8 Execution of Documents.  The Parties agree to expeditiously execute 

any documents which may be necessary, appropriate or convenient to carry out the intent 
of the transaction contemplated by this agreement. 

 
12.9 Transfer of Ownership.  A conveyance of all or any portion of the 

Property through any means shall not impair, extinguish or otherwise affect any right, 
obligation, duty, term or provision of this Development Agreement.  Any purchaser and/or 
assignee of all or any portion of the Property shall have the same rights, obligations and/or 
duties under this Development Agreement as the Party, person or entity from which it 
purchased or otherwise obtained an interest in all or a portion of the Property and shall have 
the right to enforce this Development Agreement against the City. 

 
12.10 Attorney's Fees.  In the event either Party shall institute suit to enforce 

any rights hereunder, the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to court costs and 
reasonable attorney's fees against the losing party. 

 
12.11 Covenant Running with the Land.  It is the Parties’ intent that this 

Development Agreement, so long as it is in force, be considered, interpreted and regarded 
as a covenant running with the Property. 

 
12.12 Recording.  Per RCW 36.70B.190, this Development Agreement shall 

be recorded with the Whatcom County Auditor. 
 
12.13 Severability.  If any provision of this agreement is deemed void or 

unenforceable by the action of a court of law, such provision shall be severable and not 
affect the balance of this agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
12.14 Construction.  The normal rule of construction to the effect that any 

ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation 
of this Development Agreement or any amendments thereto, and the same shall be given 
a reasonable interpretation in accordance with the plain meaning of its terms and the intent 
of the Parties. 

 
12.15 Applicable Law.  This agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and 

enforced pursuant to the laws of the State of Washington, and the Parties agree that the 
Superior Court of Whatcom County shall be the appropriate venue of any suit or proceeding 
brought with respect to this agreement or the Property. 
 

119



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 10 of 16 
March 1, 2021 

  12.16 Effective Date of Agreement.    This Agreement shall not be binding on 
either Party until such time as it is executed by both Parties.   
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the dates noted 
below. 
 
___________________ 
Benjamin Stuit 
 
Dated: ________________ 
 
______________________ 
Lindy Stuit 
 
 
Dated: ________________ 
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON  ) 

       )ss. 
COUNTY OF WHATCOM  ) 
 
 On this          day of __________________, 2021, before me personally appeared 
BENJAMIN STUIT, to me known to be the person that executed the within and foregoing 
instrument to be his free and voluntary act and deed for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that he was authorized to execute said instrument. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and official seal the day 
and year first above written. 

 
      
PRINTED NAME:____________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of  
Washington, residing at                             . 
My Commission Expires                           . 

 
 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON  ) 

       )ss. 
COUNTY OF WHATCOM  ) 
 

120



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 11 of 16 
March 1, 2021 

 On this          day of __________________, 2021, before me personally appeared 
LINDY STUIT, to me known to be the person that executed the within and foregoing 
instrument to be her free and voluntary act and deed for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned, and on oath stated that she was authorized to execute said instrument. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and official seal the day 
and year first above written. 

 
      
PRINTED NAME:____________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of  
Washington, residing at                             . 
My Commission Expires                           . 

 
CITY OF LYNDEN 
 
 
By:_______________________ 
__________________________ 
City of Lynden _____________ 
 
Dated:_____________________ 
 
 
STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 

   )ss. 
COUNTY OF WHATCOM ) 
 
            I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that __________________ is the 
person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that s/he signed this 
instrument, on oath stated that s/he was authorized to execute the instrument, and 
acknowledged it as the _________________ of the City of Lynden to be the free and 
voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 
 
            DATED this _______ day of ______________, 2021. 
 

                                                                         
PRINTED NAME:_____________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of  
Washington, residing at                             . 
My Commission Expires                           . 

 
  
  

121



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 12 of 16 
March 1, 2021 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Legal Description 
 
 
All that portion of the Northwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of Section 25, Township 
40 North, Range 2 East of W.M., lying South and East of the county road, except that 
portion described as follows: Beginning at the intersection of the South Line of Bay Lyn 
Drive and the East of the Northwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of said Section; 
Thence South 230 feet; thence West 138 feet; thence North 187 feet, more or less, to the 
South line of Flynn Road; thence Easterly along said boundary to the Point of beginning. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

122



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 13 of 16 
March 1, 2021 

 
 

 

 

Record & Return to: 

City of Lynden 

300 4th Street 

Lynden, WA 98264 

 

 

AGREEMENT AND NO-BUILD COVENANT 

     
 
Grantors: BENJAMIN STUIT and LINDY STUIT 
Grantee: CITY OF LYNDEN 
Legal Description 
(Abbreviated): 

PTN NW¼ NE¼ §25 TWP 40 N R 2 E.W.M. 
(Full Legal on Exhibit A, Page ___) 

Assessor’s Tax Parcel ID#: 4002253884230000 / 125969 
Reference Number of Related 
Document(s): 

 

Development Agreement 
  

 

 

GRANTORS BENJAMIN and LINDY STUIT, a married couple (the Stuits), hereby grant and enter 

into this AGREEMENT AND NO-BUILD COVENANT (the Agreement) in favor of the CITY OF 

LYNDEN, a Washington Municipal Corporation (the City) (collectively, the Parties), as set forth 

herein. This Agreement is effective upon approval by the Parties (herein Effective Date). 

  

 

RECITALS 

 

A.  The Stuits owns land within the City of Lynden at 8036 Flynn Road that is identified and 

legally described above and on the attached Exhibit A (the Property). 

 

B. In 2019, the City approved the Stuits’ short plat application SP #18-03 (the Short Plat) to 

subdivide the Property into three lots.  The Technical Review Committee indicated the Stuits had the 

ability to install an on-site septic system in lieu of connecting to City sewer.  The remaining 

conditions requiring, among other things, improvement of Flynn Road up to City Development 

Standards, the extension of water, future extension of sewer to the furthest extent of all properties 

within the Short Plat, and post-construction maintenance bonding, were not feasible for the Stuits 

scope of development which included only one new single-family home despite the capacity of the 

Property for additional density.   

 

C. Subsequently, the Stuits formally requested that the City vacate the Findings of Fact and 

Determination on the Short Plat, which the City did via letter from Planning Director Heidi Gudde 

123



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 14 of 16 
March 1, 2021 

on November 5, 2019, so that the Parties could work together on alternative infrastructure installation 

and bonding requirements.   

 

D. Since that time, the Parties have had ongoing discussions related to alternative infrastructure 

installation and other requirements for the development of the Property.   

 

E. Additionally, the City’s Public Works Department was advancing the design and 

development of sewer infrastructure to this area of the City.  This advancement warranted 

coordination with the Stuits development plan to avoid the installation of a new onsite septic system, 

which would be abandoned with City sanitary sewer service. 

 

F. On December 2, 2020, the Stuits submitted a revised short plat design, attached as Exhibit B, 

which depicts 3 lots: Lots A and B, and Reserve Tract C (collectively, the Lots).  

 

E. The Stuits also submitted a Development Agreement setting forth the Parties’ respective 

rights and obligations pertaining to the provision of City utility services and the required road 

improvements to serve the Property, described herein, and pursuant to the authority provided in RCW 

36.70B.170 et. seq.  The Development Agreement is being executed simultaneously with this 

Agreement and No-Build Covenant. 

  

F. This Agreement is intended to set forth the Stuits’ rights and obligations specifically related 

to the development of Reserve Tract C.   

 

THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the City’s issuance of preliminary approval of SP #18-

03 and the Parties’ joint execution of the Development Agreement, the Stuits hereby convey, 

covenant, grant and reserve as follows: 

 

1. Establishment of No-Build Covenant.  Reserve Tract C shall not be further divided or built 

upon until such time as all road and utility improvements as specified in the Development Agreement 

are installed and accepted by the City.  

 

2. Development/Improvement Obligations.  Specific rights and obligations of the Stuits and 

their successors-in-interest related to the development of Reserve Tract C and the installation of 

improvements are set forth in the Development Agreement.  

 

3.  Term/Termination. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties until such time as all 

rights and obligations set forth in the Development Agreement are satisfied, including completion of 

installation and City acceptance of all road, water, and sewer improvements as they relate to Reserve 

Tract C, at which time, at the Stuits request the City shall execute and record a termination notice 

extinguishing this Agreement. 

 

4. No Hindrance on Conveyance.  Nothing in this Agreement should be construed as preventing 

Reserve Tract C from being conveyed/transferred/sold separately from Lots A and B, subject hereto, 

or to burden the conveyance/transference/sale of Lots A and B.   

 
5. Amendment. This Agreement shall not be amended except by a written instrument signed by 
the Stuits and approved by the City.   

124



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 15 of 16 
March 1, 2021 

 
6. Construction.  The normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be 

resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement or any 

amendments thereto, and the same shall be given a reasonable interpretation in accordance with the 

plain meaning of its terms and the intent of the Parties. 

 

7. Applicable Law.  This agreement shall be construed, interpreted and enforced pursuant to the 

laws of the State of Washington, and the Parties agree that the Superior Court of Whatcom County 

shall be the appropriate venue of any suit or proceeding brought with respect to this agreement or the 

Property. 
8. Not a Public Dedication.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered a gift or dedication 
of any real property to the general public, or for any public use or purpose whatsoever. 
 
9. Obligations Run With the Land.  The rights and obligations contained in this Agreement shall 
run with the land and be binding upon and inure to the benefit of all assignees, devisees, or transferees 
of the Stuits. 
 
10. Entire Agreement; Severability.  This Agreement represents the entire agreement with respect 
to the subject matter hereof.  Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be void or otherwise 
unenforceable, all other provisions shall remain enforceable and binding. 
 
11. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the state of 
Washington. 
 
12. Attorney's Fees.  In any litigation arising out of this Agreement, including appeals, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other party all costs and attorney's fees. 
 

 

We, the undersigned owners of the above-described Property do hereby agree to the above terms.  

 

 

Executed this               day of                                             , 2021. 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

 

____________________________ 

For BENJAMIN AND LINDY STUIT 

Property Owners 

 

 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that     and 

____________   are the person(s) who appeared before me, and said persons 

acknowledged it to be their free and voluntary act for the uses and purposes mentioned in this 

instrument. 

 

Dated   

125



Resolution No. 1033 
Page 16 of 16 
March 1, 2021 

 

 

 Notary Signature:     

 

 Printed Name:      

 

 Residing at:      

 

                                                     My appointment expires: / /  

 

 

 

 

Approved by City of Lynden: 

 

 

 

______________________       

 

 

Dated this               day of                                             , 2021. 

  

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that      

  is the person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged it to be his free and 

voluntary act for the uses and purposes mentioned in this instrument. 

 

Dated   

 

 

 Notary Signature:     

 

 Printed Name:      

 

 Residing at:      

 

                                                     My appointment expires: / /  

 

 

 

 

 

126



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 
Name of Agenda Item: Public Hearing to Consider Ord 1621 - Extending the Pepin Creek Moratorium 
Section of Agenda: Public Hearing 
Department: Planning Department 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☒ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

Draft Ord 1621, Map of the Pepin Creek Sub-Area parcel currently under moratorium. 

Summary Statement: 

The Pepin Creek moratorium has been in place since September of 2016.  It was established in recognition 
of development constraints associated with what is now known as the Pepin Creek Sub-area.  The City has 
undertaken significant efforts to examine these constraints and develop solutions which would allow for 
growth in this area.   
 
Since then, the City Council has approved the Pepin Creek Sub-Area Plan that addresses circulation, open 
space and assigned land use and zoning within the area.   Additionally, because of the significant 
infrastructure improvements associated with the creek re-alignment and the improvement of Benson and 
Double Ditch Roads, Council has since recognized that work must be undertaken in a reduced or phased 
approach.  The engineering team, Public Works, and Planning departments have developed a plan which 
decreases the overall infrastructure cost associated with the creek realignment, is largely consistent with 
the concepts of the approved sub-area plan and focuses first on portions of the sub-area already within 
the City and under moratorium.   
 
The financial mitigation study has concluded with a SEPA mitigation fee showing merit for use in allocation 
of infrastructure costs.  The Planning Department has subsequently drafted a Resolution of Intent which 
outlines the required steps toward lifting the moratorium and will be circulated to the City Council prior to 
the February 16 Council meeting.  It is anticipated that these next steps will require an extension of the 
moratorium.  As a result, City staff recommends that the Council set a public hearing date of March 1st to 
consider extending the moratorium through June 30, 2021.  The current date of expiration is March 9, 
2021. 
 
Recommended Action: 

Motion to approve Ordinance 1621 extending the existing moratorium of development on those 
properties previously identified within the Pepin Creek Sub-area through June 30, 2021 and authorize the 
Mayor’s signature on the Ordinance. 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

127



 
Ordinance 1621 

Page 1 of 5 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 1621 
 

INTERIM ORDINANCE EXTENDING THE MORATORIUM ON SUBDIVISION AND 
PLANNED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS AND CERTAIN  

BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATIONS FOR PROPERTY LOCATED WITHIN THE 
PEPIN CREEK PROJECT AREA 

WHEREAS, on August 19, 2013, the City of Lynden (“City”) adopted the April 2009 
Amendment to the January 1992 Stormwater Management Plan identifying the “Pepin 
Creek” project (“Pepin Creek Project” or “Project”); and  

WHEREAS, the Pepin Creek Project includes the relocation and combination of surface 
water flows from Double Ditch and Benson Ditch between Badger Road and Main 
Street into one “new” watercourse known as Pepin Creek; and   

WHEREAS, the general vicinity of the Pepin Creek Project has experienced instances 
of extreme flooding in recent years, causing property damage, closing and damaging 
public roads and infrastructure, cutting residents off from emergency access, and 
damaging agricultural land; and 

WHEREAS, the Pepin Creek Project is designed to implement a new drainage pattern 
to protect public roads and public road infrastructure, substantially reduce flooding, 
facilitate improved storm water control, and provide the ancillary benefit of natural fish 
and wildlife habitat; and 

WHEREAS, the Council has adopted, on October 16, 2017, Resolution No. 975, which 
is a Resolution of Intent outlining the strategies and corresponding timeline to resolve 
Pepin Creek Project Issues; and 

WHEREAS, in March of 2020 the City adopted the Pepin Creek Sub-Area Plan as a 
guiding document for development in the area; and  

WHEREAS, the City has begun implementing the Pepin Creek Sub-Area Plan and 
evaluating the results of numerous detailed planning, funding, and design studies 
related to the Pepin Creek Project (“Pepin Creek Project Issues”); and 

WHEREAS, Pepin Creek Project Issues include without limitation: 

• Identifying needed transportation improvements. 

• Corridor design and permitting for the Pepin Creek Project. 

• Locating and increasing stormwater capacity and coordinating the 
associated street and utility infrastructure locations. 

• Design and permitting options associated with necessary downstream 
bridges and bank stabilization associated with the Pepin Creek Project.  

• Identifying financing and equitable allocation of system construction 
costs; and 

128



 
Ordinance 1621 

Page 2 of 5 

 

WHEREAS, that area of the city believed to be affected by Pepin Creek Project Issues 
at this time and for purposes of this Ordinance include without limitation the area shown 
on Exhibit A (“Pepin Creek Project Area”), which is incorporated herein; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1509, An Ordinance of the City of Lynden to provide 
Annexation to the City of Lynden adopted on June 6, 2016 (“Ordinance No. 1509”), 
annexed property in the Pepin Creek Project Area into the City of Lynden; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1509 included a clause stating that the “City has identified 
the need for the completion of the Pepin Creek project prior to development” of the 
property annexed into the City; and 

WHEREAS, except as set forth herein, property development within the Pepin Creek 
Project Area will likely disrupt the City’s ability to effectively address Pepin Creek 
Project Issues; and 

WHEREAS, the adoption of land use and zoning regulations is a valid exercise of the 
City's regulatory authority and is specifically authorized by RCW 35A.63.100; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1513, Ordinance Establishing an Emergency Moratorium on 
Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Building Permit 
Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was adopted by 
the City on September 19, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1514, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on October 17, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1525, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on April 17, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1538, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on October 16, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1555, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on May 7, 2018; and 

  

129



 
Ordinance 1621 

Page 3 of 5 

 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1562, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on September 17, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1577, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on March 4, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1591, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on September 3, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1604, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on March 2, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 1607, Interim Ordinance Establishing a 6-month Moratorium 
on Subdivision and Planned Residential Development Applications and Certain Building 
Permit Applications for Property Located Within the Pepin Creek Project Area, was 
adopted by the City on September 8, 2020; and 

WHEREAS, the City held a public hearing on this proposed Ordinance 1621 on the 1st 
day of March 2021; and 

WHEREAS, a continuation of the moratorium on development in the Pepin Creek 
Project Area is required to allow for proper planning and implementation of the Pepin 
Creek Project; and 

WHEREAS, adoption of this ordinance extending the moratorium to assure that Pepin 
Creek Project Issues are resolved consistent with the Project addresses a public 
emergency and shall qualify as a public emergency ordinance; and  

WHEREAS, the public emergency ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, 
safety, and welfare of the community, and public property; and  

WHEREAS, this public emergency moratorium ordinance, as provided in RCW 
35.A.12.130, when passed by a majority plus one of the whole membership of the 
council, is effective upon adoption; and  

WHEREAS, the foregoing recitals are a material part of this Ordinance; 
  

130



 
Ordinance 1621 

Page 4 of 5 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LYNDEN DOES ORDAIN 
as follows: 

Section 1.  Findings of Fact.  The City Council adopts the above “WHEREAS” recitals as 
findings of fact in support of this Ordinance.  The Council may adopt additional findings 
in the event that additional evidence is presented to the City Council. 

Section 2.  Moratorium Established For New Subdivisions.  The City shall not accept 
applications for any new subdivisions (including both short plats and long plats) or for 
any new planned residential developments for property located in whole or in part in the 
Pepin Creek Project Area, until July 1, 2021, or until the City adopts a replacement 
ordinance, whichever comes first, pursuant to RCW 36.70A.390 and RCW 35A.63.220.   

Section 3.  Moratorium Established For Certain Building Permit Applications.  The City 
shall not accept building permit applications in the Pepin Creek Project Area for new 
structures intended for human occupancy or for additions to existing residential 
structures of more than fifty percent (50%) in square footage, until July 1, 2021 or until 
the City adopts a replacement ordinance, whichever comes first, pursuant to RCW 
36.70A.390 and RCW 35A.63.220.  

Section 4.  Resolution of Pepin Creek Project Issues.  During the term of this interim 
ordinance the City shall work on resolving the following issues. 

A. Corridor Design.  The Pepin Creek Project Area has demonstrated stormwater 
capacity deficiencies.  The City must complete an analysis and design of a new 
stormwater system with adequate capacity to fully accommodate basin flow.  
This would also include locating the street and utility infrastructure to function 
with that new system. 

B. Downstream Stabilization.  The existing Double Ditch channel downstream from 
Main Street to the confluence with Fishtrap Creek presently has unstable banks.  
The City intends to identify corrective options, including necessary design, 
permitting, and funding, and consider construction implementation of corrective 
options.   

C. Financial Strategy.  The City must develop a financing plan and method for 
equitable allocation of system construction costs and responsibilities among 
property owners in the Pepin Creek Project Area. 

Section 5.  If the provisions of this Ordinance are found to be inconsistent with other 
provisions of the Lynden Municipal Code, this Ordinance shall control. 

Section 6.  Should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance, or 
its application to any person or circumstance, be declared unconstitutional or otherwise 
invalid for any reason, or should any portion of this ordinance be pre-empted by state or 
federal law or regulation, such decision or pre-emption shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to other persons or circumstances. 
  

131



 
Ordinance 1621 

Page 5 of 5 

 

Section 7.  This Ordinance shall take effect immediately. 

 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LYNDEN, WASHINGTON, AND 

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR on the ______ day of March 2021, 

 
 
 
              
                           M A Y O R 
ATTEST: 

 

        
CITY CLERK 

 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

 

        
CITY ATTORNEY 

132



HEMLOCK LOOP

DOUBLE DITCH RD

BENSON RD

WESTVIEW PL

WESTVIEW CIR

CAPTAIN BAY CT

S PARK ST

N PARK ST

CEDAR DR

W PARK DR

N 8TH ST

W PARK ST

SUNRISE DR

AZALEA CT

DIAMOND LN

EMERALD WAY

BENSON RD

BENTGRASS WAY
RYEGRASS LN GRE

EN
VIE

W LN

GR
EE

NV
IE

W
 C

IR

E BADGER RD

H O M E S T E A D
G O L F  C O U R S E

LYNDEN MUNICIPALAIRPORT

U R B A N  G R O W T H  A R E A

DOUBLE DITCH RD
Double Ditch

Benson Ditch

?Þ

4003184901120000

4003183640940000

4003184772500000

4003184772250000

4003184772070000

4003183320460000

4003185051720000

4003185071250000
4003185101350000

4003184991460000
4003184871410000

4003185201350000

4003185201460000

4003185201550000

4003185180490000

4003185200400000

4003182721280000

4003185292570000

4003185092950000

4003184901550000

Updated: September 19, 2016

0 200 400

Feet

±

   Doc. Path: \\Saturn\gis\Projects\Public Works\PepinCreek\ExhibitACopy2.mxd   Lynden, WA

Area of Interest

Exhibit A
Properties Located within Pepin Creek Project Area

Map Key
Properties in Pepin Creek Project Area
Property Boundaries
City Limit

- -- -- -
- -- -- -
- -

Urban Growth Area (Unincorporated)
Waterway

133



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 
Name of Agenda Item: Ord 1615 – Code Amendment accommodating a Hearing Examiner Role 
Section of Agenda: Public Hearing 
Department: Planning Department 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☒ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☐ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

Proposed Ord 1615  

Summary Statement: 

In 2018 the City of Lynden began researching the use of a hearing examiner after several costly and 

time-consuming administrative appeals were defended.  Benefits of the use of a hearing examiner 

include an expediency in processing appeals, the unbiased opinion of a professional, removing 

social/political influence from the process, reducing the City’s liability, and decreasing the obligations 

placed on volunteer boards.    

All decisions made by the Hearing Examiner, apart from Shoreline land use permits, will be appealable 

to the City Council.  Shoreline permits, per the City’s Shoreline Master Program, remain appealable to 

the State Shoreline Hearing’s Board. 

The individual selected for the Hearing Examiner position would be selected by the City Council.  A 

corresponding request for qualifications has been drafted and was distributed to Council members in 

January and reviewed with the Community Development Committee.   

The Technical Review Committee and the Planning Commission recommend approval as presented. 

On February 1, 2021 the City Council held a public hearing on Ordinance 1615 but continued the 
item to March 1, 2021. 
   
Recommended Action: 

Motion to approve Ordinance 1615 with an effective date of May 1, 2021, amending the Lynden 

Municipal Code to create a hearing examiner role and scope of authority, and to authorize the Mayor’s 

signature on the document.   

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

134



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 1 of 50 

ORDINANCE NO. 1615 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LYNDEN ADOPTING A NEW CHAPTER 2.09 TO THE LYNDEN 

MUNICIPAL CODE AND AMENDING NUMEROUS CHAPTERS OF THE LYNDEN MUNICIPAL CODE, 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF ESTABLISHING THE OFFICE OF HEARING EXAMINER, AND ADOPTING 

PROCEDURAL RULES FOR THE CITY OF LYNDEN HEARING EXAMINER 

WHEREAS, the Lynden City Council and the Lynden Planning Commission have been devoting 

increasing time to regulatory land use decisions and appeals therefrom; and  

WHEREAS, the Lynden City Council believes appointing a hearing examiner to render final 

regulatory land use decisions will better promote fairness, due process, and efficiency in the 

hearing and resolution of certain types of land use disputes; and  

WHEREAS, the City has the authority to establish the office of the hearing examiner pursuant to 

the authority provided by Article 11, Section 11 of the Washington State Constitution, RCW 

35A.63.170 and Chapter 58.17 RCW; and  

WHEREAS, the hearing examiner will assume all duties currently assigned to the board of 

adjustment and the board of appeals, in addition to some tasks currently assigned to the 

planning commission and city council; and 

WHEREAS, as part of this process, some duties of the public works director are being shifted to 

the planning director; and  

WHEREAS, the public interest will be served by amending the Lynden Municipal Code to include 

an office of the hearing examiner; and  

WHEREAS, the foregoing recitals are material findings and declarations of the Lynden City 

Council; 

NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF LYNDEN AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1: 

A new Chapter 2.09 of the Lynden Municipal Code is hereby enacted.  Underlines indicate 

additions to the Code:   

Chapter 2.09 

HEARING EXAMINER 

Sections: 

2.09.010 Creation of Office—Purpose  

2.09.020  Appointment—Contract—Pro Tem 

2.09.025  Qualifications  

135



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 2 of 50 

2.09.030  Freedom from Improper Influence 

2.09.035  Conflicts 

2.09.040 Jurisdiction—Duties—Powers  

2.09.045 Open Record 

2.09.050 Procedures  

 

2.09.010 Creation of Office—Purpose 

The office of the hearing examiner is hereby created. The office of the hearing examiner is 

independent of city departments, boards, and commissions. It is responsible for the impartial 

administration of administrative proceedings in accordance with this chapter and shall preside 

over all such proceedings. Unless context requires otherwise, the term “hearing examiner” in 

this chapter shall be interpreted as including any hearing examiners pro tem.  

2.09.020 Appointment—Contract—Pro Tem 

A. The city council shall appoint the hearing examiner by the vote of the majority of the 

members. Appointment shall be made by professional service contract.  

B. The city council may appoint one or more hearing examiners pro tem for terms specified 

at the time of appointment to serve in case the hearing examiner has a conflict or is 

absent.   A hearing examiner pro tem shall have the same powers as the hearing 

examiner. 

2.09.025 Qualifications  

The hearing examiner shall be appointed based on his or her qualifications for the duties of 

such office. The hearing examiner shall be an attorney in good standing and admitted to the bar 

of the State of Washington with experience in land use or as a hearing examiner. Hearing 

examiners shall hold no other elective or appointive office or position in the city’s government. 

The same qualifications apply to hearing examiners pro tem.  

2.09.030 Freedom from Improper Influence 

No city official or any other person shall interfere with or attempt to interfere with the hearing 

examiner in the performance of his or her designated duties. This section does not prohibit the 

City attorney from rendering legal services to the hearing examiner if requested by the hearing 

examiner and approved by the mayor. 

2.09.035 Conflicts  

The hearing examiner shall not conduct or participate in any hearing or decision in which the 

hearing examiner has a direct or indirect personal interest which might improperly interfere 

with the decision-making process or violate the appearance of fairness doctrine or the 

codification of such doctrine in Chapter 42.36 RCW. Any actual or potential conflict of interest 

shall be disclosed to the parties immediately upon discovery of such conflict and the hearing 

136



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 3 of 50 

examiner shall abstain from any further proceedings in the matter unless all parties agree in 

writing to have the matter heard by that hearing examiner. 

2.09.040 Jurisdiction—Duties--Powers 

A. The hearing examiner shall have the power to receive and examine available 

information, conduct public hearings, prepare a record thereof, and enter decisions as 

provided by ordinance.  

B. The hearing examiner shall have the exclusive jurisdiction to hold an open record 

hearing and make a decision on the following matters:  

1. Appeals of the determinations of the fees and dedications made under Chs. 3.28, 

3.40, 3.44, and 19.67 LMC;  

2. Appeals of dangerous dog declarations under Ch. 6.09 LMC;  

3. Appeals of determinations of eligibility for relocation assistance under Ch. 12.36 

LMC; 

4. Appeals of the city's determination to suspend services, impose penalties, 

recover costs, establish compliance schedules, or terminate a user’s wastewater 

and/or collection services, under Ch. 13.12 LMC; 

5. Appeals of the city’s computation or application of the stormwater management 

utility service charge or FCI charges or imposition of sanctions or fines under Ch. 

13.24 LMC;  

6. Challenges of the written interpretations and/or decisions of the public works 

director made under Ch. 13.28 LMC;  

7. Petitions for exemptions from payment of the utility fee or for conversion to 

exempt status, and appeals of the city’s computation of the applicable fees 

assessed, under Ch. 13.32 LMC;  

8. Appeals of the determination of the planning director regarding moving 

buildings under Ch. 15.05 LMC;  

9. Appeals of the determination of the building code official as described in Ch. 

15.14 LMC; 

10. Appeals of final SEPA threshold determinations and adequacy of final EISs, made 

under Ch. 16.05 LMC, including related procedural and substantive issues; 

11. Appeal of director's final critical area determinations;  

137



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 4 of 50 

12. All applications for shoreline permits or revisions to shoreline permits under Ch. 

16.08 LMC, except where the permit or revision is part of a project application 

being decided upon by a different hearing body; 

13. Under Ch. 16.12 LMC – Floodplain Management, all appeals of determinations of 

the director, and variance requests where not consolidated with an underlying 

project application being decided upon by a different hearing body;  

14. Appeals of the imposition of penalties or of the planning director's decision on 

mitigation or revision under Ch. 16.16 LMC; 

15. Appeals of the administrative approvals described in LMC 17.09.010 and 

17.09.020;  

16. Appeals of administrative interpretations and approvals under LMC 17.11.010; 

17. Appeals of civil regulatory orders and civil fines issued under Ch. 17.13 LMC;  

18. Appeals of the results of concurrency tests, denials of proposed mitigation for 

transportation facilities, and any other determinations of capacity or calculations 

or assessments of any fees made under Ch. 17.15 LMC;  

19. Amortization periods for nonconforming signs; 

20. All variances from the requirements of Title 19, except variances from the 

requirements of Ch. 19.33 LMC and LMC 19.22.030, .040, and .050, and except 

where the variance is part of a project application being decided upon by a 

different hearing body;  

21. Appeals of determinations of building official as described in LMC 19.42.040;  

22. Appeals of administrative interpretations made under Ch. 19.59 LMC; and 

23. Other actions as required by this code.  

C. In order to avoid the city holding two hearings on one project, the hearing examiner 

shall only hear variance applications and shoreline permit applications or revisions that 

are not filed as part of an underlying project for which another hearing body will 

conduct a hearing. For example, if an applicant submits a long plat application along 

with a variance application to use an alternative cul-de-sac design, the hearing on the 

variance on the cul-de-sac shall be consolidated with the hearing on the long plat, and 

the consolidated hearing shall be before the hearing body holding the hearing on the 

long plat.   

D. The hearing examiner is empowered to act in lieu of the board of adjustment, the board 

of appeals, the city council, the planning commission and such other officials, boards, or 

commissions as may be assigned for those matters listed in subsection (B) of this 

138



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 5 of 50 

section. Wherever existing ordinances, codes or policies authorize or direct the board of 

adjustment, the board of appeals, the city council, the planning commission or other 

officials, boards, or commissions to undertake certain activities which the hearing 

examiner has been assigned under said subsection (B), such ordinances, codes or 

policies shall be construed to refer to the hearing examiner. 

E. The hearing examiner may include in a decision any conditions of approval that are 

necessary to ensure that the proposal complies with all applicable code criteria and 

comprehensive plan policies.  

F. The hearing examiner has such other powers as are necessary to carry out the purpose 

and intent of this chapter, including without limitation to conduct pre-hearing 

conferences; to require the submittal of information; to schedule and continue 

hearings; to administer oaths and affirmations; to issue subpoenas; to regulate the 

course of pre-hearing discovery; to preside over hearings and the conduct of parties; to 

question parties and witnesses at a hearing; to rule on all evidentiary, procedural and 

other matters, including all motions; to maintain order; to establish post-hearing 

procedures; to issue findings of fact and conclusions of law; to enter final decisions; and 

to adopt procedures consistent with 2.09.050. 

G. With the exception of shoreline permit applications and revisions heard by the hearing 

examiner, the hearing examiner’s decision on these matters identified in subsection (B) 

shall be final unless timely appealed to the City Council following the procedures in Ch. 

17.11 LMC. The City Council shall hear appeals of these matters as closed record 

appeals. The hearing examiner shall make the final decision of the city on the shoreline 

permit issues he or she hears. The determination of the hearing examiner on shoreline 

permit applications and revisions shall be subject to appeal to the Shoreline Hearings 

Board.  

2.09.045 Open Record and Open to Public 

For every matter over which the hearing examiner has jurisdiction, the hearing examiner will 

conduct an open record hearing, which shall be open to the public.  

2.09.050 Procedures  

The City Council shall approve rules and regulations for procedural matters related to the duties 

of the office of the hearing examiner.  

 

  

139



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 6 of 50 

SECTION 2: 

The following sections of the Lynden Municipal Code are hereby amended. Underlines indicate 

additions and strikethroughs indicate deletions.  

3.28.190 - Appeals to hearing examiner.  

Any taxpayer aggrieved by the amount of the fee or tax found by the city finance director to be 

required under the provisions of this chapter may appeal to the hearing examiner from such 

finding by filing a written notice of appeal with the city finance director within fourteen days from 

the time such taxpayer was given notice of such amount. The finance director shall, as soon as 

practicable, fix a time and place for the hearing of such appeal, and shall cause a notice of the 

time and place thereof to be delivered or mailed to the appellant. The taxpayer shall be entitled 

to be heard and to introduce evidence on his or her own behalf. The hearing examiner shall, 

following the hearing, ascertain the correct amount of the fee or tax and render a decision. The 

finance director shall immediately notify the appellant thereof, which amount, together with the 

costs of appeal, if such applicant is unsuccessful therein, must be paid within five days after such 

notice is given. The hearing examiner may, by subpoena, require the attendance thereat of any 

person, and may also require him to produce any pertinent books and records. Any person served 

with such subpoena shall appear at the time and place therein stated, produce the records 

required, if any, and shall testify truthfully under oath administered by the hearing examiner as 

to any matter required of him pertinent to the appeal, and it is unlawful for him to fail or refuse 

so to do. 

3.40.110 – Appeals and adjustments. 

Any person(s) seeking an adjustment to the dedication or mitigation assessments required by 

this chapter shall have a right to appeal to the hearing examiner. Any such appeal shall be filed 

with the city clerk in writing within fourteen days after the date of mailing or transmittal by the 

city of written notice of the specific dedication or mitigation assessments required by this 

chapter. Following receipt of such an appeal, the hearing examiner shall hold a public hearing to 

consider the appeal. In considering the appeal the hearing examiner may, in his or her discretion, 

take into account unusual circumstances in a specific case and may consider studies and data 

submitted by the appellant(s). The hearing examiner shall issue such determination as he or she 

deems fair and equitable. The decision of the hearing examiner shall be in writing.  

3.44.050 - Appeals and adjustments.  

Any person desiring to appeal from a decision made in the enforcement of the provisions of this 

chapter or any person seeking an adjustment to the dedication or mitigation assessments 

required by this chapter due to unusual circumstances in specific cases shall file an appeal with 

the city clerk in writing within fourteen days after the date of mailing or transmittal by the city of 

written notice of the specific dedication or mitigation assessments required.  The appeal shall be 

140



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 7 of 50 

heard by the hearing examiner in conformance with Ch. 2.09 LMC. Upon the conclusion of the 

hearing, the hearing examiner shall issue a written decision.  

3.46.110 – Appeals. 

A. A developer or property owner shall have the right to file an appeal of the amount of an impact 

fee determined by the director. All such appeals shall be filed and reviewed in conformance with 

the requirements established for filing appeals authorized by Title 17 of this code as set forth in 

Chapter 17.11 and shall be heard by the hearing examiner as an open record appeal as provided 

in Chapter 17.03 of this code. The developer or property owner shall bear the burden of proving: 

1. That the director committed error in calculating the developer's/property owner's 

proportionate share, as determined by an individual fee calculation or, if relevant, as set 

forth in the fee schedule, or in granting credit for the benefit factors; 

2.   That the director based his/her determination upon incorrect data; or 

3.   That the director's decision was arbitrary and capricious. 

 

5.02.080 – License – Appeals. 

Any person applying for or holding a license under this chapter who is aggrieved by an action of 

the city clerk or other city official in connection with a license may appeal the matter to the city 

council by: 

 

A. Filing a letter with the city clerk, stating the matter complained of, within thirty days of 

the action complained of; and 

 

B. Appearing in person before the council or any of its committees which may be designated 

to hear and decide the appeal by the mayor. 

 

5.16.100 – Grievance procedure – Hearing – Notice – Decision. 

Any person aggrieved by the action of the police chief in the disapproval of a permit or license as 

provided in Section 5.16.040 may appeal to the city council. Such appeal shall be taken by filing 

with the city council within fourteen days after notice of the action complained of has been 

mailed to such person's last known address, and shall consist of a written statement setting forth 

fully the grounds for the appeal. The council shall set a time and place for a hearing on such 

appeal, and notice of such hearing shall be given to the appellant in the same manner as provided 

in Section 5.16.080 for notice of hearing on revocation. The decision and order of the city council 

appeal shall be final. 

 

 

141



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 8 of 50 

 

 

5.40.040 - License issuance for operation of business.  

 The  public works director shall issue all business licenses to operate horse taxis, after review of 

the license application and inspection reports of the chief of police, or his designee. The  public 

works director may, in his or her sole discretion, approve or deny the application. Any applicant 

denied a license by the  public works director may  appeal to the  city council. Such appeal shall 

be filed no later than thirty days after the decision of the  public works director. 

 

6.09.050 – Appeal of dangerous dog or potentially dangerous dog declaration. 

The owner may file an appeal with the city clerk to be forwarded to the hearing examiner 

challenging the final written order and declaration of the police chief made pursuant to this 

chapter. The appeal must be filed within  fourteen days of the date of mailing the declaration of 

dangerous dog or potentially dangerous dog. The  hearing examiner  shall conduct an open-

record public hearing for any timely filed appeal within thirty days of the date of filing and shall 

issue his or her  decision in writing. 

 

12.36.030 – Appeal requirements. 

Appeals must be in writing accompanied with the applicable appeal fee if any. The appeal should 

include the following: 

1.  The City's project name. 

2.  The project parcel number or the tax parcel number of the real property involved. 

3.  Date of the relocation notice that is being appealed. 

4.  Name of the aggrieved person ("appellant"). 

5.  A statement of issues/concerns. 

6.  An explanation of what the appellant is claiming, including all facts, reasons, and any 

supporting evidence as to the nature of the grievance or why the appellant is otherwise 

aggrieved. 

7.  The relief requested. 

8. The signature, current address and telephone number of the appellant or the 

appellant’s authorized representative. 

 

142



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 9 of 50 

12.36.040 - Right to representation and inspection of documents.  

Any appellant has a right to be represented by legal counsel or other representative in connection 

with his or her appeal, but solely at the appellant’s own expense. The appellant shall have a right 

to inspect and copy all written materials in City files pertinent to their appeal, subject to 

reasonable conditions consistent with the Public Records Act. The City shall have the right to 

charge a reasonable fee for providing copies of documents requested. 

12.36.050 - Scope of review of the appeal.  

12.36.051 - Appeal to Public Works Director.  

Within fourteen days of receipt of an appeal under this chapter, the Public Works Director will 

evaluate the appeal to determine if it is complete. The Public Works Director will send written 

notice to the appellant informing them if the appeal has been determined to be complete or 

requesting additional information. If the appeal is determined to be complete, the Public Works 

Director will issue and mail to the appellant a written decision on the appeal, based on applicable 

relocation assistance regulations, within fifteen days of the date of notice of completeness. If 

additional information is necessary to process the appeal, the Public Works Director will request 

the appellant file any additional information within ten days. Within fifteen days of (a) receiving 

the requested additional information, or (b) the deadline for receiving the requested additional 

information if sufficient additional information is not received, the Public Works Director will 

issue and mail to the appellant a written decision on the appeal based on applicable relocation 

assistance regulations. A written decision on appeal issued by the Public Works Director pursuant 

to this section shall be the City's final decision unless an appeal of the Public Works Director's 

decision is filed as set forth in section 12.36.052 LMC. 

12.36.052 - Appeal of Public Works Director determination to Hearing Examiner .  

If the appellant believes the Public Works Director has not correctly evaluated the appeal, the 

appellant may appeal the decision of the Public Works Director to the Hearing Examiner by filing 

a written appeal with the Public Works Director within  fourteen days of the date of mailing of 

the City Public Work Director's decision. Appeals filed after the fourteen-day time period has 

lapsed will not be considered. The Hearing Examiner will conduct an open record hearing and 

review and make a decision in writing on the appeal based on applicable relocation assistance 

regulations. 

 

 

13.12.285 – Administrative enforcement remedies. 

A.  State Responsibility for Administrative Actions. The department is charged with 

permitting and regulating significant industrial users’ discharging to the city POTW. Except 

for emergency actions, it shall be the policy of the director to coordinate actions in regard 

143



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 10 of 50 

to control of such users with the department until such time as a local pretreatment 

program for the city may be authorized by the state. Failure to conduct such coordination, 

however, shall not invalidate any action of the city authorized by this chapter. 

B.  Notification of Violation. 

1.  Whenever the director finds that any user has violated or is continuing to violate any 

provision of this chapter, or an order issued hereunder, the director may serve upon such 

user written notice of the violation. 

2.  Within ten days of receipt of such notice of violation, the user shall submit to the 

director an explanation of the violation and a plan to satisfactorily correct and prevent 

the reoccurrence of such violation(s). The plan shall include specific actions the user will 

take, and the completion dates of each. Submission of this plan in no way relieves the 

user of liability for any violations occurring before or after receipt of the notice of 

violation. 

3.  Nothing in this section shall limit the authority of the city to take any action, including 

emergency actions or any other enforcement action, without first issuing a notice of 

violation. 

C.  Consent Orders. 

1.  The director, upon approval of the city council, is empowered to enter into consent 

orders, assurances of voluntary compliance, or other similar documents establishing an 

agreement with any user responsible for noncompliance. Such consent orders shall 

include specific action to be taken by the user to correct the noncompliance within a time 

schedule also specified by the consent order. 

2.  Compliance schedules, when included in consent orders, may not extend the 

compliance date beyond any applicable state or federal deadlines. Consent orders shall 

have the same force and effect as compliance orders issued pursuant to any section 

regarding criminal prosecution, and shall be judicially enforceable. 

3.  Failure to comply with any terms or requirements of a consent order by the user shall 

be an additional and independent basis for termination of wastewater services, including 

collection and treatment, or for any other enforcement action authorized under this 

chapter and deemed appropriate by the director. 

D.  Compliance Orders. 

1.  Whenever the director finds that a user has violated, or continues to violate, any 

provision of this chapter, or order issued hereunder, the director may issue a compliance 

order to the user responsible for the violation. This order shall direct that adequate 

pretreatment facilities, devise, or other related appurtenances be installed and properly 

operated and maintained. The order shall specify that wastewater services, including 

144



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 11 of 50 

collection and treatment, shall be discontinued and/or applicable penalties imposed 

unless, following a specified time period, the directed actions are taken. 

2. Compliance orders may also contain such other requirements as might be reasonably 

necessary and appropriate to address the violation or noncompliance, including, but not 

limited to, the installation of pretreatment technology, additional self-monitoring, and 

management practices designed to minimize the amount of pollutants discharged to the 

POTW. A compliance order may not extend the deadline for compliance beyond any 

applicable state or federal deadlines, nor does a compliance order release the user from 

liability from any past, present, or continuing violation(s). Issuance of a compliance order 

shall not be a prerequisite to taking any other action against the user. 

3.  Failure to comply with any terms or requirements of a compliance order by a user shall 

be an additional and independent basis for termination of wastewater services, including 

collection and treatment, or any other enforcement action authorized under this chapter 

and deemed appropriate by the director. 

E.   Appeal. 

1. A user may appeal the city's determination to suspend services, impose penalties, 

recover costs, or establish compliance schedules, through cease-and-desist orders 

(hereinafter called collectively "enforcement actions"). A user shall also have the right to 

a hearing prior to termination of a user's wastewater collection and treatment services. 

2.  Notice shall be served on the user specifying the enforcement action, and the reasons 

for such action. 

3.  A user wishing to contest an enforcement action shall, within fourteen days of 

receiving notice of the decision or order, file a notice of appeal with the director. The 

notice of appeal shall state the grounds for the appeal with specificity and shall be signed 

by the appellant. 

4.  The hearing examiner shall hold an open record hearing on the appeal in conformance 

with the procedures of Chs. 2.09, 17.09 and 17.11 LMC. The hearing examiner shall hear 

all evidence presented by the user, receive input from city personnel regarding the 

enforcement action, and shall render a written decision affirming the enforcement action, 

reversing it, or modifying it. The decision shall be served on the user. 

F.  Cease and Desist Orders. 

1.  The director may issue a cease-and-desist order upon finding a user has or is violating 

this chapter, a wastewater discharge permit order issued by the department, any other 

pretreatment standard or requirement. The decision to issue a cease-and-desist order 

shall consider the likelihood that a user's violations in conjunction with other discharges 

could cause a threat to the POTW, POTW workers, or the public, or cause pass through, 

145



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 12 of 50 

interference, or a violation of the POTW's NPDES permit. The order issued by the director 

will direct the user to cease and desist all such violations and to: 

a.  Immediately cease such actions or discharges as described; 

b.  Comply with all applicable pretreatment standards and requirements; 

c.  Take such appropriate remedial or preventive action as may be needed to properly 

address a continuing or threatened violation, including halting operations and/or 

terminating the discharge. 

2.  Issuance of a cease-and-desist order shall not be a bar against, or a prerequisite for, 

taking any other action against the user. 

G.  Emergency Suspension of Wastewater Services. 

1. The director may immediately suspend wastewater services, including collection and 

treatment, after informal notice to the user, if it appears to the city that such suspension 

is necessary to stop an actual or threatened discharge which reasonably appears to 

present or cause an imminent or substantial endangerment to either the environment, 

normal operation of the POTW, or the health or welfare of any person or the general 

public. 

2.  Any user notified of a suspension of its wastewater discharge shall immediately cease 

all such discharges. In the event of a user's failure to immediately comply voluntarily with 

the suspension order, the director shall take such steps as deemed necessary, including 

immediate severance of the sewer connection, to prevent or minimize damage to the 

POTW, its receiving stream, or the danger to the public. The director may allow the user 

to recommence its discharge when the user has demonstrated that the period of 

endangerment has passed, unless termination proceedings (under subsections F and G of 

this section) are initiated against the user. 

3.  It is unlawful for any person to prevent the director and/or city from terminating 

wastewater collection and treatment services in an emergency situation, by barring entry, 

by physically interfering with city employees or contractors, or by any other means. 

4. A user that is responsible, in whole or in part, for any discharge presenting imminent 

endangerment shall submit a detailed written statement, describing the causes of the 

harmful contribution and the measures taken to prevent any future occurrence, to the 

director prior to the date of any administrative hearing authorized by this chapter. 

5.  Nothing in this section shall be interpreted as requiring an administrative hearing prior 

to any emergency suspension under this section. 

H.  Termination of Treatment Services (Non-Emergency): 

146



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 13 of 50 

1.  The director shall have authority to terminate wastewater services, including collection 

and treatment, through the issuance of a termination order to any user upon determining 

that such user has: 

a.  Refused access allowed by this chapter thereby preventing the implementation of 

any purpose of this chapter; 

b.  Violated any provision of this chapter including the discharge prohibitions and 

standards of Section 13.12.140; or 

c.  Violated any lawful order of the city issued with respect to this chapter. 

2.  For users holding permits to discharge to the city POTW, violation of the following 

conditions is also grounds for terminating discharge services: 

a.   Failure to accurately report wastewater constituents or characteristics; 

b.  Failure to report significant changes in operations or wastewater constituents or 

characteristics; or 

c.  Violation of any term or condition of the user's waste discharge permit. 

3.  Issuance of a termination order by the city shall not be a bar to, or a prerequisite for, 

taking any other action against the user. 

13.24.090 – Appeals; burden of proof. 

A.  Appeal to Hearing Examiner. Any property owner who believes that the stormwater 

management utility service charge for their property has been incorrectly computed or 

applied and/or that FCI charges have not been properly assessed may appeal to the hearing 

examiner within fourteen days of the director's determination of said charges d by filing a 

written statement of appeal with the director. The appeal to the hearing examiner shall be 

an open record appeal and shall be conducted according to the procedures in Chs. 2.09, 

17.09, and 17.11 LMC. During the hearing, the hearing examiner shall consider the 

recommendation of the director. The hearing examiner shall issue a written decision, notice 

of which shall be provided to the parties. Any adjustments authorized by the appeal process 

shall only be effective against billings subsequent to the date the appeal is filed and shall 

not be retroactively applied. 

B.  Burden of Proof. The burden of proof in any petition or appeal filed under this chapter 

shall be on the property owner. 

13.24.095 – Sanctions. 

In addition to any other remedy or sanction available, a property owner who fails to comply 

with any provision of this chapter, with a final order issued by the city pursuant to this 

chapter, or who fails to conform to the terms of an issued approval, may be subject to a 

147



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 14 of 50 

civil penalty, in accordance with Chapter 1.24 of this Code, due and payable not later than 

ten days after issuance of final decision. 

A.  Late Payment Fees. A late payment fee shall be added to each property owner's 

account if payment is not received by the due date. Said late fees shall be in an amount 

established by resolution of the city council. 

B.  Penalties shall be per Section 1.24.015 of this code. 

C.  Aiding or Abetting. Any person who, through an act of commission or omission, aids 

or abets in the violation shall be considered to have committed a violation for the 

purposes of the civil penalty. 

D.  Notice of Penalty. The notice shall be in writing, which shall be served either by 

certified mail with return receipt requested or by personal service, to the person incurring 

the same. The notice shall describe the violation, the date(s) of violation, and shall order 

the acts constituting the violation to cease and desist, and, in appropriate cases, require 

necessary corrective action within a specific time. 

E.  Collection. Civil penalties shall be due and payable not later than ten days following 

issuance of notice of penalty. If remission or appeal of the fine is sought, the fine shall be 

due and payable not later than ten days following issuance of a final decision. If a fine 

remains unpaid thirty days after issuance, the director may take actions necessary to 

recover the fine. Penalties shall be paid into the appropriate city fund. 

F.  Application for Remission. Any person incurring a civil penalty may, within ten days of 

issuance of the notice of penalty, apply in writing to the director for remission of the fine. 

The director shall issue a decision on the application for remission within ten days. 

G.  Issuance of Decisions. For purposes of this chapter, any written decisions of the 

director shall be deemed issued upon the date said written decision is deposited in the 

U.S. mail to the last known address of the person subject to the decision or is hand 

delivered to said person. 

 
13.28.150 - Appeal. 

A developer may file an appeal to the  hearing examiner challenging the written interpretations 
and/or decisions of the public works director made pursuant to this chapter. The appeal must 
be filed with the public works director within fourteen days of the date of mailing the 
interpretation or decision of the public works director.  

13.32.070 – Utility Fee. 

148



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 15 of 50 

A.  Monthly Utility Fee Formula. A monthly utility fee for the operation of the Utility shall 
be established from time to time by resolution of the city council in conformity with RCW 
35.21.766, as now or hereafter amended. The amount of the fee shall be based upon cost 
of regulating ambulance service and the cost of providing utility services as determined by 
a cost-of-service study pursuant to RCW 35.21.766(3). Those costs shall be divided among 
City of Lynden residents and occupants based on a combined demand and availability 
calculation consistent with accepted principles of utility rate setting. The rate attributable 
to costs for availability of the utility shall be uniformly applied across user classifications 
within the utility. The rate attributable to demand costs shall be established and billed to 
each utility user classification based on each user classification's burden on the utility. The 
fee charged by the utility shall reflect a combination of the availability cost and the demand 
cost and may in the discretion of the city council be reduced or subsidized by other city 
funds as authorized by RCW 35.21.766, as amended. The resulting fee shall be assessed to 
identifiable use classifications. Fees will not exceed the revenue requirements to cover the 
costs of the utility, as authorized by the city council by adoption of an annual budget and 
subsequent amendments. 

B.  Classifications. The utility fee shall be collected on a monthly basis from each of the 
following utility user classifications: 

1.  Single family residential; 

2.  Multifamily residential; 

3.  Commercial/ non-profit business not listed in other categories; 

4.  Assisted living/nursing homes; 

5.  Adult family homes/boarding homes; 

6.  Public; 

7.  Hotel/motel; 

8.  Campgrounds; 

9.  Fairground. 

The owner or occupant of each single-family dwelling unit, adult family home, and boarding 
home and each owner or occupant of each dwelling unit for the multifamily residential 
classification and each owner of all other classifications shall be responsible for payment of the 
utility fee. Adult family homes and boarding homes which are single family dwelling units shall 
be classified as an adult family home or boarding home as applicable. The public classification is 
limited to all users which are political subdivisions of the state, state or federal agencies, 

149



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 16 of 50 

municipal corporations, schools, school districts. The City will determine which user classification 
applies when more than one classification is applicable. 

C. Utility Fee Exemptions—Reductions. 
 
1. Persons who are Medicaid eligible and who reside in a nursing facility, boarding home, 
adult family home or receive in-home services are exempt from the utility fee, pursuant 
to RCW 35.21.766 (4)(d)(i). 
 
2. Any change in use of a dwelling unit, parcel or building, or any other change in 
circumstance that eliminates application of an exemption from the utility fee shall 
immediately make the affected property subject to applicable utility fees. The utility fee 
shall become due and payable as of the date of the change in use and shall continue until 
qualification for an exemption. It is the owner's or occupant's responsibility to notify the 
City of all use changes. 
 
3. Monthly rates, and initial and final charges may be prorated in accordance with the 
City's standard utility prorating practices. 
 
4. Any customer seeking an exemption from payment of the utility fee and/or 
conversion from covered to exempt status, must file a written petition with the city public 
works director seeking a determination as to whether a specific dwelling unit, parcel or 
building satisfies the exemption requirements set forth in this section. The public works 
director shall forward the petition to the hearing examiner, who shall conduct an open 
record hearing and issue a written decision.  
 
5. The utility fee charged shall reflect an exemption for persons who are Medicaid 
eligible and who reside in a nursing facility, boarding home, adult family home, or receive 
in-home services. 
 
6. The utility fee charged may reflect an exemption or reduction for designated classes 
consistent with Article VIII, Section 7 of the State Constitution. 
 
7. The amounts of exemption or reduction shall be a general expense of the utility, and 

designated as an availability cost, to be spread uniformly across the utility user 
classifications. 

 
D. Appeal. Fees assessed under this section may be appealed to the hearing examiner by 
submission of a written statement of appeal to the director within fourteen days of receipt 
of the director’s determination. The appeal shall be heard as an open record hearing. The 
director shall submit a staff recommendation for the hearing examiner’s review. After the 
open record hearing, the hearing examiner shall issue a written decision.  
 

150



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 17 of 50 

E. Periodic Utility Fee Review. The city finance director, or the city finance director's 
designee, in consultation with the city administrator shall periodically perform financial 
review and analysis of the utility's revenues, expenses, indebtedness, fees and accounting, 
and recommend budgets, fee adjustments and financial policy. Based on such review, the 
city finance director may recommend changes, amendments or additions for adoption by 
the city council. 
 
F.  Limitation on Total Revenue. The total revenue generated by the utility shall not exceed 
the total costs necessary to regulate, operate, maintain the utility. 

 
15.02.060 - Building valuation schedule—Permit fees.  
 

A.  The valuation schedule to be utilized by the planning director or his or her designee in 
administering the International Building Code shall be set by resolution of the city council. 
 
B.  Building permit fees shall be as set forth by resolution of the city council. 

 
15.03.060 - Building valuation schedule—Permit fees.  
 

A.  The valuation schedule to be utilized by the planning director or his designee in 
administering the International Existing Building Code shall be set by resolution of the city 
council. 
 
B.  Building permit fees shall be as set forth by resolution of the city council. 

 
15.05.010 - Moving buildings—Allowed when. 
  
Previously occupied buildings located within the city limits may be moved to another location 
with the permission of the planning director under the following conditions: 
 

1) The building is to be relocated on the same parcel; or the building is non-residential, the 
occupied area is less than five hundred square feet, and the building is to be relocated 
to a non-residential parcel; or the building is listed, or deemed by an approved 
professional survey to be potentially listed on the National Register of Historic Places 
and/or the Lynden Register of Historic Places and all other preservation options have 
been exhausted, or the building faces the prospect of demolition; and 

2) The building shall comply with the existing building and zoning codes and other 
applicable ordinances in the city. 

3) The applicant shall, within ten days after making an application to move any building 
with an area greater than or equal to five hundred square feet, cause the interior or 
exterior walls, ceiling or flooring to be removed to such an extent necessary to permit a 
registered professional engineer to examine the materials and type of construction of 

151



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 18 of 50 

the building to ascertain whether it can be safely moved and that it will comply with the 
existing building code and other applicable ordinances in the city. A written report shall 
be provided to the building official. 

4) In addition to the above inspection, the applicant shall comply with all other relevant 
city approval and permit procedures; and 

5) A bond, assignment of savings, or irrevocable letter of credit, in a form approved by the 
city attorney, shall be filed with the city in an amount sufficient to: 

a. Remove and dispose of the structure should the applicant abandon it before the 
move is completed; and 

b. Guarantee the site improvements, construction, painting, and finishing the 
exterior of the building shall be completed in accordance with the Lynden 
Municipal Code within ninety days; and 

c. Guarantee the restoration of the original location by capping the existing 
utilities, removal of the existing foundation, grading and clearing the location of 
all debris resulting from the move. 

6) Should the moving operation require use of or travel over city rights-of-way, the 
applicant shall: 

a. Prove they have liability insurance in the amount of at least one million dollars, 
listing the city as an additional named insured. This insurance will remain in full 
force and effect during the moving operation and will hold the city harmless 
from all claims arising from the moving operation. 

b. If moving the building will require use of an oversize/overheight vehicle, then a 
permit will be required from the public works department. 

7) The applicant shall execute and deliver to the city a document holding the city harmless 
from any and all claims arising from the removal and relocation of the house. 

In any case in which the planning director denies permission for such a move, the applicant may 
appeal the decision to the hearing examiner under the provisions of Chapter 17.11 of the 
Lynden Municipal Code. 
 
 
15.08.030 - Plumbing system inspection authorized when.  
 
Where any structure is permitted to connect to any city sanitary sewage system and/or water 
system, the planning director or his/her designee may make or require an inspection of the 
plumbing system to ensure compliance with any city requirements, prior to a final inspection by 
the planning director or his/her designee. 
 
15.14.010 - Application for appeal. 

152



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 19 of 50 

After exhausting all administrative remedies, a person shall have the right to appeal a decision of 
the building code official to the hearing examiner. An application for appeal shall be based on a 
claim that the true intent of the codes adopted in this chapter or the rules legally adopted 
thereunder have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of this code do not fully apply, or 
an equally good or better alternate material or method of construction is proposed. The 
application shall be filed on a form obtained from the city building code official within fourteen 
days after the notice of the decision was mailed and shall be accompanied by an application fee 
in an amount set by the city council.  

15.14 .020 - Open hearing. 

All hearings before the hearing examiner related to a provision of this chapter shall be open to 
the public. The appellant, the appellant's representative, the city building code official and any 
person whose interests are affected shall be given an opportunity to be heard.  

15.14 .030 - Authority. 

The hearing examiner shall have authority to review decisions of the code official for the 
following legally adopted codes:  

A. International Building Code;  

B. International Mechanical Code;  

C. International Fire Code;  

D. Uniform Plumbing Code;  

E. Washington Energy Code;  

F. Washington State Ventilation and Indoor Air Quality Code.  

 
15.14 .040 - Hearing examiner decision. 

If the appellant convinces the hearing examiner either that the true intent of the codes or the 
rules adopted thereunder have been incorrectly interpreted, or that the provisions of this code 
do not fully apply to the appellant's situation or that there is an equally good or better 
interpretation of the section or sections in question, then the hearing examiner may modify or 
reverse the decision of the code official . The hearing examiner shall have no authority relative 
to the interpretation of the administrative provisions of the code nor shall the hearing examiner 
be empowered to waive specific requirements of the codes listed in this chapter. The city's 
building code official shall take immediate action in accordance with the decision of the hearing 
examiner. 

153



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 20 of 50 

 

16.05.160 – Substantive authority 

A.  The policies and goals set forth in this chapter are supplementary to those in the existing 
authorization of the city of Lynden. 

B.  The city may attach conditions to a permit or approval for a purpose so long as: 

1. Such conditions are necessary to mitigate specific probable adverse environmental 
impacts identified in environmental documents prepared pursuant to this chapter; and 

2.  Such conditions are in writing; and 

3.  The mitigation measures included in such conditions are reasonable and capable of 
being accomplished; and 

4. The city has considered whether other local, state, or federal mitigation measures 
applied to the proposal are sufficient to mitigate the identified impacts; and 

5.  Such conditions are based on one or more policies in subsection D of this section and 
cited in the license or other decision document. 

C.  The city may deny a permit or approval for a proposal on the basis of SEPA so long as: 

1.  A finding is made that approving the proposal would result in probable significant 
adverse environmental impacts that are identified in a FEIS or final SEIS prepared 
pursuant to this chapter; and 

2.  A finding is made that there are no reasonable mitigation measures capable of being 
accomplished that are sufficient to mitigate the identified impact; and 

3.  The denial is based on one or more policies identified in subsection D of this section 
and identified in writing in the decision document. 

D.  The city designates and adopts by reference the following policies as the basis for the 
city's exercise of authority pursuant to this section: 

1.  The city shall use all practicable means, consistent with other essential considerations 
of state policy, to improve and coordinate plans, functions, programs, and resources to 
the end that the state and its citizens may: 

a. Fulfill the responsibilities of each generation as trustee of the environment for 
succeeding generations; 

154



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 21 of 50 

b. Assure for all people of Washington safe, healthful, productive, and aesthetically and 
culturally pleasing surroundings; 

c. Attain the widest range of beneficial uses of the environment without degradation, 
risk to health or safety, or other undesirable and unintended consequences; 

d. Preserve important historic, cultural, and natural aspects of our national heritage; 

e. Maintain, wherever possible, an environment which supports diversity and variety of 
individual choice; 

f. Achieve a balance between population and resource use which will permit high 
standards of living and a wide sharing of life's amenities; and 

g. Enhance the quality of renewable resources and approach the maximum attainable 
recycling of depletable resources. 

2.  The city recognizes that each person has a fundamental and inalienable right to a 
healthful environment and that each person has a responsibility to contribute to the 
preservation and enhancement of the environment. 

E.  When any proposal or action not requiring a decision of the city council is conditioned 
or denied on the basis of SEPA by a nonelected official, the decision shall be appealable to 
the hearing examiner. Such appeal may be perfected by the proponent or any aggrieved 
party by giving notice to the responsible official within fourteen days of the decision being 
appealed. Review by the hearing examiner shall be on a de novo basis. 

16.08.020 – Shoreline Permit Review. 

 The hearing on shoreline permit applications and revisions shall be consolidated with other 
applications pertaining to the same project. Unless consolidated with another application, the 
hearing for which will be conducted by another hearing body, the hearing examiner shall conduct 
an open record hearing and decide whether to grant, grant with conditions, or deny all 
applications for shoreline permits or revisions to shoreline permits. The open record hearing shall 
generally follow the procedures outlined in Title 17 LMC. Regardless of whether the hearing is 
before the hearing examiner or another hearing body, staff shall submit a staff report with a 
recommendation as part of the hearing process.  

16.08 .030 – Shoreline Permit Appeal.  

The hearing examiner, city council or Department of Ecology decision on a shoreline permit or 
revision thereto may be appealed to the Shoreline Hearings Board within twenty-one (21) days 
of such decision, in accordance with RCW 90.58.180 and WAC 173-27-100, as amended. 

155



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 22 of 50 

16.12.110 – Appeals and Variance procedure. 

A.   Hearing Examiner.  

1.  The hearing examiner shall hear and decide appeals described in LMC 16.12.110(A)(2), 
and requests for variances from the requirements of this chapter not accompanied by or 
for an underlying project application that will be heard by a different hearing body. 
Appeals and variance requests shall be heard in open record hearings. In all cases, the 
public works director shall supply the hearing examiner with a staff report and 
recommendation.  

2.  The hearing examiner shall hear and decide appeals when it is alleged there is an error 
in any requirement, decision, or determination made by the public works director in the 
enforcement or administration of this chapter.  

3. For both appeals and variance requests filed under this chapter, the hearing examiner’s 
decision shall be subject to closed-record appeal to the city council. The hearing 
examiner’s decision shall be the final decision of the city if not timely appealed to the city 
council.  

4.  In passing upon appeals and variance requests , the  hearing examiner shall consider 
all technical evaluations, all relevant factors, standards specified in other sections of this 
chapter, and: 

a.  The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others; 

b.  The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage; 

c.  The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the 
effect of such damage on the individual owner; 

d.  The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the community; 

e.  The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location, where applicable; 

f.  The availability of alternative locations for the proposed use which are not subject 
to flooding or erosion damage; 

g.  The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated development; 

h. The relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and floodplain 
management program for that area; 

156



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 23 of 50 

i.  The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency 
vehicles; 

j.  The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise, and sediment transport of the 
floodwaters and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site; and 

k. The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions, 
including maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 
electrical and water systems, and streets and bridges. 

l.  Compliance with the Endangered Species Act. 

5. Generally, variances may be issued for new construction and substantial improvements 
to be erected on a lot of one-half acre or less in size contiguous to and surrounded by lots 
with existing structures constructed below the base flood level, providing paragraphs a 
through l of subdivision 4 of subsection A of this section have been fully considered. As 
the lot size increases beyond the one-half acre, the technical justification required for 
issuing a variance increases. 

6. Upon consideration of the factors of subdivision 4 of subsection A of this section and 
the purpose of this chapter, the hearing examiner or city council may attach such 
conditions to the granting of variances as  deemed necessary to further the purposes of 
this chapter. 

7. The public works director shall maintain the records of all appeal actions and report 
any variances to the Federal Emergency Management Agency upon request. 

B.  Conditions for Variances. 

1. Variances may be issued for the reconstruction, rehabilitation or restoration of 
structures listed on the National Register of Historic Places or the State Inventory of 
Historic Places, without regard to the procedures set forth in the remainder of this 
section. 

2. Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway. 

3. Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum 
necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief. 

4. Variances shall only be issued upon: 

a.  A showing of good and sufficient cause; 

157



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 24 of 50 

b. A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional 
hardship to the applicant; and 

c. A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood 
heights, additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, create 
nuisances, cause fraud on or victimization of the public as identified in subdivision 4 
of subsection A of this section, or conflict with existing local laws or ordinances. 

5. Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice that the 
structure will be permitted to be built with a lowest floor elevation below the base flood 
elevation and that the cost of flood insurance will be commensurate with the increased 
risk resulting  from the reduced lowest floor elevation. 

6. Variances as interpreted in the National Flood Insurance Program are based on the 
general zoning law principle that they pertain to a physical piece of property; they are not 
personal in nature and do not pertain to the structure, its inhabitants, economic or 
financial circumstances. They primarily address small lots in densely populated residential 
neighborhoods. As such, variances from the flood elevations are quite rare. 

7. Variances may be issued for nonresidential buildings in very limited circumstances to 
allow a lesser degree of floodproofing than watertight or dry-floodproofing, where it can 
be determined that such action will have low damage potential, complies with all other 
variance criteria, except subdivision 5 of this subsection, and otherwise complies with 
Section 16.12.120(A) and (B). 

16.16.140 – Offense and penalty. 

A. Any person, firm, partnership, limited liability company, corporation, or other legal entity that 
fails to comply or causes the failure to comply with any provision of this chapter shall be guilty of 
a misdemeanor. Each day or portion of a day during which such a violation is found to have 
occurred shall constitute a separate offense. 

B. The city may levy civil penalties against any person, firm, partnership, limited liability company, 
corporation, or other legal entity for failure to comply or causing a failure to comply with of any 
of the provisions of this chapter. The civil penalty shall be assessed as a one-time penalty of five 
hundred dollars and/or a maximum rate of five hundred dollars per day per violation. 

C. A failure to comply with a provision of this chapter occurs when a party: (1) develops within or 
disturbs a critical area or its buffer without fully complying the requirements of this chapter; or 
(2) fails to comply with mitigation requirements imposed pursuant to this chapter. 

D. The penalty provided in subsection B above shall be imposed by serving the responsible party 
with a notice in writing, either by certified mail with return receipt requested, or by personal 
service. The notice shall include the amount of the penalty imposed and shall describe the 

158



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 25 of 50 

violation with reasonable particularity in ordering the act or acts constituting the violation or 
violations to cease and desist or, in appropriate cases, requiring necessary corrective action to 
be taken within a specific and reasonable time. 

E. Within thirty days after the notice is received, the party incurring the penalty may apply in 
writing to the planning director for remission or mitigation of such penalty. Upon receipt of the 
application, the planning director may remit or mitigate the penalty upon whatever terms the 
department in its discretion deems proper. The planning director's final decision on mitigation or 
revision shall be reviewed by  the hearing examiner if the aggrieved party files a written appeal  
of said decision with the planning director withinfourteen days of its issuance. 

 

17.01.030 - Definitions  

The following definitions shall apply to Titles 16 through 19; other definitions may be found in 

individual titles. The definitions set forth in this chapter shall apply to the terms used in this title. 

Those terms not defined in this chapter, shall be as defined in the 1991 Uniform Zoning Code. 

…  

"Final decision" means the final action by the staff, city board, hearing examiner, or city council. 

… 

“Hearing body” means the city council, planning commission, hearing examiner, or other officer, 

board, or commission before which an open or closed record hearing occurs.   

“Hearing examiner” means the hearing examiner or hearing examiner pro tem of the city of 

Lynden as established by ordinance. 

… 

"Open record hearing" means a hearing, conducted by a hearing body  that creates the city's 

record through testimony and submission of evidence and information. An open record hearing 

may be held prior to the city's decision on a development permit application; or may be held on 

an appeal if no open record hearing has already been held on the development permit 

application. Provisions of this code require either that an open record hearing be held before the 

final decision-making body (e.g., city council or hearing examiner) or before a body making a 

recommendation to a decision-making body (e.g., planning commission).  

…  

"Variance" means a permissible modification of the application of Titles 13, 16, 17, 18, and 19 or 

other development standards of this code to a particular property, subject to the approval of the 

hearing examiner, city council, or other hearing body as provided by this code. 

159



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 26 of 50 

17.03.020 - Planning director.  

The planning director shall review and act on the following: 

A. Authority. The planning director, "the director," is responsible for the administration of Titles 

16, 17, 18 and 19 of this code, except for Chapter 16.12.  

B. Administrative Interpretation. Upon request or as determined necessary, the director shall 

interpret the meaning or application of the provisions of the titles and issue a written 

administrative interpretation within thirty days. All requests for interpretation shall be written 

and shall concisely identify the issue and desired interpretation. Appeals of an administrative 

interpretation shall be filed in conformance with Section 17.11.020.  

C. Administrative Approvals. Administrative approvals as set forth in Sections 17.09.010(A) and 

17.09.020 and as otherwise provided in Titles 16, 17, 18 and 19. 

17.03.030 - City council.  

In addition to its legislative responsibility, the city council shall: 

A. Review and make the final decision of the city on development permit applications and open 

record appeals that were heard, reviewed, and had recommendations entered thereon by the 

planning commission. A nonexclusive listing of the development permit applications and appeals 

on which the planning commission will conduct open record hearings and make recommendation 

to the city council is set forth in Section 17.03.040(A). The final decision of the city in such matters 

shall be made by the city council without conducting an additional hearing or considering 

additional evidence. 

B. Conduct the closed record appeal and make the final decision of the city on appeals from the 

decisions of the hearing examiner. A nonexclusive list of the matters for which the hearing 

examiner renders a decision is at LMC 2.09.040(B). The hearing examiner’s decision on all of these 

matters is subject to closed record appeal before the city council except as otherwise provided.   

 C. Conduct the hearing(s), review, and make the final decision of the city on the following: 

1. Open record hearings on requests for variances from development standards identified 

in Section 17.17.010 when such requests do not include another development permit 

application as described in Section 17.17.020(B); 

2. Closed record appeals of design review board decisions; 

3. Open record hearing on petitions for the vacation of right-of-way; 

4. Open record hearings on the revocation or modification of existing permits or 

approvals, as provided in Section 17.13.070; 

 5. All other matters as are required or authorized by this code or state law. 

160



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 27 of 50 

17.03.040 - Planning commission.  

A. Planning Commission Open Record Hearings and Recommendation to City Council. The 

planning commission shall conduct an open record hearing, review, enter findings, and make 

recommendations to the city council on the following development permit applications and open 

record appeals:  

1. Subdivisions, binding site plans, planned unit developments, planned residential 

developments or planned commercial developments;  

2. Conditional use permits;  

 3. Site-specific rezones, including site-specific comprehensive plan map amendments;  

3. Variance requests from development standards identified in Section 17.17.010 when 

such requests are accompanied by another development permit application as described 

in Section 17.17.020(A);  

4. Shoreline permit and revisions applications when such applications are accompanied 

by another development permit application to be heard by the planning commission; 

5.  Other actions requested or remanded by the city council or as required by this code. 

17.03.050 – Hearing examiner. 

The hearing examiner shall review and act on the subjects over which the hearing examiner has 

jurisdiction pursuant to 2.09.040.  

17.05.090 - Consolidated processing of development applications and appeals.  

A. Consolidated Processing Required. Except as otherwise authorized or required by provisions 

in city code, the city shall provide for consolidated processing of development permit applications 

and appeals so that there is not more than one open record hearing and one closed record 

hearing for the same development proposal or project, as required by Chapter 36.70B RCW.  

B. Exclusions from Consolidation Requirements.  

1. Appeals of SEPA Threshold Determinations. Hearings on appeals of SEPA threshold 

determinations shall be excluded from consolidated processing requirements for 

development permit applications and shall be heard and decided upon by the hearing 

examiner. The SEPA threshold determination appeal shall be the only matter discussed at 

the hearing, even where this will result in a development proposal being subject to more 

than one open record hearing and one closed record appeal. 

2. Grounds for Excluding Appeals of SEPA Threshold Determinations. Appeals of SEPA 

threshold determinations often involve technical issues best suited to the expertise of the 

161



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 28 of 50 

hearing examiner. Further, from a procedural standpoint, it is efficient to resolve SEPA 

issues before evaluating other aspects of the project.  

3. Determinations by Design Review Board. Design review, landscape plan, and signage 

issues shall be excluded from consolidated processing requirements for development 

permit applications and shall be heard and decided upon by the design review board in 

conformance with Chapter 19.45 of this code. Aside from design review, landscape plan, 

and sign issues, the design review board shall not have any other development permit 

applications or appeals to review or decide upon, even where this will result in a 

development proposal being subject to more than one open record hearing and one 

closed record appeal.  

4. Grounds for Excluding Design Review by Design Review Board from Consolidation 

Requirements. The sole function and purpose of the design review board is to review and 

make decisions on design, landscape plan, and signage aspects of development proposals 

for multifamily dwellings and commercial buildings. The design review board has 

longstanding exclusive special expertise in the city in reviewing and deciding upon design 

review, landscape plan, and signage issues. Such expertise is not possessed by or readily 

transferred to any other hearing body in the city. Special circumstances under RCW 

36.70B.140(1) are therefore presented warranting exclusion of design, landscape plan, 

and sign review as conducted by the design review board from consolidated processing 

requirements. In addition, design review may take place for development proposals 

involving only the issuance of building permits exempt from Chapter 43.21C RCW and 

may therefore be excluded from consolidated processing requirements pursuant to RCW 

36.70B.140(2).  

5. Administrative Approvals. Administrative approvals identified in Sections 17.09.010 

and 17.09.020 which are categorically exempt from environmental review under Chapter 

43.21C RCW shall be exempt from the consolidation requirements in this chapter and 

Chapter 36.70B RCW. Nothing in this section shall prevent consolidation of such 

administrative approvals with related development proposals, in the discretion of the 

director.  

6. Grounds for Excluding Administrative Approvals from Consolidation Requirements. The 

city has authority to exclude the administrative approvals which are categorically exempt 

from environmental review from consolidation requirements pursuant to RCW 

36.70B.140(2). 

17.07.050 - Notice of decision.  

A written notice for all final decisions of the city shall be sent to the applicant and all parties of 

record. For development applications requiring planning commission review and city council 

approval, the notice shall include the minutes, or the signed ordinance or resolution. For 

decisions made by the hearing examiner, the notice shall include the hearing examiner’s written 

162



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 29 of 50 

findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decision. For shoreline permits, notice of decision must 

also be sent to the department of ecology and the Washington State Attorney General. 

17.09.010 - Administrative approvals without notice. 

A. The director may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the following without 

notice:  

1. Lot line adjustments;  

2. Extension of time for approval;  

3. Minor amendments or modifications to approved developments or permits. Minor 

amendments are those which may affect the precise dimensions or location of buildings, 

accessory structures and driveways, but do not affect: (i) overall project character, (ii) 

increase the number of lots, dwelling units or density or (iii) decrease the quality or 

amount of open space.  

B. The public works director may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the following 

without notice:  

1. Fill and grade permits;  

2. Floodplain development permits;  

3. Building permits. 

C. Decisions under this section shall be deemed made on the date issued. Appeals therefrom 

shall be governed by Chapter 17.11 of this code. Upon receipt of any such appeal, a notice 

of development application shall be prepared substantially in conformance with the 

requirements of Section 17.07.010 and shall be combined with notice of the open record 

appeal hearing substantially in conformance with Section 17.07.030. Following the open 

record hearing, the  hearing examiner shall enter findings and render a decision on appeal.  

17.09.020 - Administrative approvals subject to notice.  

A. The director may grant preliminary approval or approval with conditions, or may deny 

the following actions subject to the notice and appeal requirements of this section:  

1. Home occupations;  

2. Short plats. 

B. Final Administrative Approvals. Preliminary approvals under this section shall become 

final subject to the following:  

1. If no appeal is submitted, the preliminary approval becomes the final decision of the 

city at the expiration of the fourteen-day notice period established in Section 17.07.020. 

163



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 30 of 50 

2. If a written notice of appeal is received within the specified time the matter will be 

referred to the hearing examiner for an open record hearing, except as otherwise noted 

in Titles 16 through 19. Upon receipt of any such appeal, the notice of application shall be 

combined with notice of the open record appeal hearing substantially in conformance 

with Section 17.07.030. Following the open record hearing, the hearing examiner shall 

make a decision on the appeal. 

17.09.025 – Hearing Examiner Actions on Appeals.  

A. Actions. Following completion of an open record hearing on an appeal, the hearing examiner 

shall enter a decision on the matter in writing. The decision shall be supported by written findings 

of fact and conclusions of law.  

B. The hearing examiner’s decision shall include one of the following actions:  

 1.  Approve;  

 2.  Approve with conditions;  

 3.  Modify, with or without the applicant's concurrence, provided that the modifications do 

not:  

 a.  Enlarge the area or scope of the project,  

  b.  Increase the density or proposed building size,  

  c.  Significantly increase adverse environmental impacts as determined by the 

responsible official;  

 4.  Deny without prejudice;  

 5.  Deny with prejudice;  

 6.  Remand to City staff for action consistent with its decision. 

C. The hearing examiner’s decision on any matter is subject to a closed-record appeal before 

the city council. If not timely appealed, the hearing examiner’s decision shall become the final 

decision of the city.   

17.09.060 - Procedures for public hearings.  

Public hearings shall be conducted in accordance with the hearing body's rules of procedure and 

shall serve to create or supplement an evidentiary record upon which the body will base its 

decision. Before the planning commission, the chair shall open the public hearing. Before the 

hearing examiner, the hearing examiner shall open the public hearing. Before the city council, 

the mayor shall open the public hearing. In general, the following sequence of events shall be 

observed: 

164



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 31 of 50 

A. Staff presentation, including submittal of any administrative reports. Members of the 

hearing body may ask questions of the staff.  

B. Applicant presentation, including submittal of any materials. Members of the hearing 

body may ask questions of the applicant.  

C. Testimony or comments by the public germane to the matter. Questions directed to 

the staff or the applicant shall be posed and/or allowed by the chair, hearing examiner, 

or mayor at his or her discretion.  

D. Rebuttal, response or clarifying statements by the staff and the applicant.  

E. The evidentiary portion of the public hearing shall be closed and the hearing body shall 

deliberate on the matter before it. 

17.09.080 - Reconsideration.  

A. A party of record to an open record hearing or closed record appeal may seek reconsideration 

of a final decision of the hearing examiner, planning commission, or council, or of a planning 

commission recommendation on a matter identified in LMC 17.03.030, 17.03.040, or 17.03.050 

by filing a written request for reconsideration with the director within five days of the date of 

issuance of the final decision or mailing of the planning commission recommendation, as 

applicable. The request shall comply with the content requirements listed in Section 

17.11.020(B).  

B. The hearing body that issued the final decision of which the party seeks reconsideration shall 

consider the request at its next regularly scheduled meeting which follows the request by five or 

more days, except that the hearing examiner shall consider a request for reconsideration at least 

five days but not more than thirty days after the request is filed. All hearing bodies shall consider 

reconsideration requests without public comment or oral argument by the party filing the 

request.  

C. If the hearing body denies the request for reconsideration, said denial must be in writing and 

issued in the same form as the original final decision or recommendation, and notice of the denial 

shall be provided to all parties in the same manner as a final decision. The date of written denial 

of a timely filed written request for reconsideration shall be considered the new date of issuance 

of the final written decision by the city, or recommendation of the planning commission, as 

applicable.  

D. If the request is granted, the hearing body may immediately revise and reissue its decision or 

recommendation or may call for argument in accordance with the procedures for closed record 

appeals. Notice of the granted request for consideration shall be provided to all parties in the 

same way as notice of a final decision. 

E. Reconsideration shall be granted only when an obvious legal error has occurred or a material 

factual issue has been overlooked that would change the previous decision. 

165



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 32 of 50 

17.09.090 - Remand.  

In the event the hearing examiner or city council determines that the public hearing record or 

record on appeal is insufficient or otherwise flawed, the hearing examiner or council may remand 

the matter back to the decisionmaker or hearing body to correct the deficiencies. The remand 

order shall specify the items or issues to be considered and the time frame for completing the 

additional review and work. 

17.09.100 - Final decision.  

A. Time. The final decision of the city on a development proposal shall be made within one 

hundred twenty days from the date of the letter of completeness. The one hundred twenty-

day deadline does not apply to the following matters or circumstances:  

1. Amendments to the comprehensive plan or development code;  

2. Any time required to correct plans, perform studies or provide additional information, 

provided that within fourteen days of receiving the requested additional information, the 

director shall determine whether the information is adequate to resume the project 

review;  

3. Substantial project revisions made or requested by an applicant, in which case the one 

hundred twenty days will be calculated from the time that the city determines the revised 

application to be complete;  

4. All time required for the preparation and review of an environmental impact 

statement;  

5. Projects involving the siting of an essential public facility;  

6. An extension of time mutually agreed upon by the city and the applicant;  

7. All time required to obtain a variance;  

8. Any remand to the hearing body;  

9. All time required for the administrative appeal of a determination of significance.  

B. Effective Date. The final decision of the city made by the city council, hearing examiner 

or applicable hearing body shall be effective on the date of issuance of the decision, motion, 

resolution or ordinance, or subsequent decision in response to a timely filed motion for 

reconsideration. For purposes of this chapter, the date of issuance of the decision is:  

1. Three days after a written decision is mailed by the city or, if not mailed, the "date of 

notice" listed in the decision which shall be the date on which the city provides notice 

that a written decision is publicly available;  

166



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 33 of 50 

2. If the final decision is made by ordinance or resolution by the city council sitting in a 

quasi-judicial capacity, the date the council passes the ordinance or resolution;  

3. If neither subsections(B)(1) or (B)(2) of this section applies, the date the decision is 

entered into the public record. 

 

17.11.010 - Appeal of administrative interpretations and approvals.  

Administrative interpretations made pursuant to Section 17.03.020(B) and administrative 

approvals made pursuant to Sections 17.09.010 and 17.09.020 may be appealed to the hearing 

examiner by applicants or parties of record in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. The 

hearing examiner’s decision shall be subject to closed record appeal to the city council.  

17.11.020 – Appeals 

A.  Filing. All appeals, either open or closed record, and to any hearing body, authorized by this 

title shall be filed with the director within fourteen days after the date of the decision of the 

matter being appealed. These deadlines are jurisdictional. Appeals untimely or improperly filed 

shall not be considered. 

B.  Contents. The notice of appeal shall contain a concise statement identifying: 

1.  The decision being appealed; 

2.  The name and address of the appellant and his or her interest(s) in the matter; 

3.  The specific reasons why the appellant believes the decision to be wrong; 

4.  The desired outcome or changes to the decision; 

5.  The appeals fee. 

Notwithstanding any other provision in city code, for an open record appeal of an impact fee 

determination, the appellant may elect to have the appeal consolidated with another open 

record hearing before the planning commission on the same project. Such election shall be clearly 

stated on the notice of appeal at the time of filing. Failure to so state this election on the notice 

of appeal at the time of filing shall result in the impact fee open record appeal hearing being 

conducted by the hearing examiner. 

C.  Appeal Process. Appeals shall be reviewed and processed, depending on the nature of the 

appeal, in conformance with Chapter 17.03 of the city code. Consolidation, notice, and other 

procedural requirements governing appeals are set forth in Chapters 17.05, 17.07 and 17.09 of 

the city code. 

D.  Burden of Proof and Standards for Granting Relief on Appeal. In any open record or closed 

record appeal, the burden of proof shall be on the appellant. Except where a different standard 

167



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 34 of 50 

of review is specified for a particular type of appeal elsewhere in city code, the decision on appeal 

shall be upheld unless it is shown to be: 

1.  Clearly erroneous under the law; 

2.  Not supported by substantial evidence; or 

3.  Arbitrary and capricious.  

17.11.030 - Judicial appeal.  

A. Appeals from the final decision of the city council or other city body involving Titles 16 

through 19 of this code, and for which all other appeals specifically authorized have been 

timely exhausted, shall be made to Whatcom County Superior Court pursuant to the time 

limits and process established in Chapter 36.70C RCW ("Land Use Petition Act").  

B. Notice of the appeal and any other pleadings required to be filed with the court shall be 

served as required by Chapter 36.70C RCW. This requirement is jurisdictional.  

C. The cost of transcribing and preparing all records ordered certified by the court or desired 

by the appellant for such appeal shall be borne by the appellant, as prescribed in Chapter 

36.70C RCW. The appellant shall post with the city clerk prior to the preparation of any 

records an advance fee deposit in the amount specified by the city clerk. Any overage will 

be promptly returned to the appellant. 

17.11.040 – Appeal to the shoreline hearings board. 

Final decisions of the city on shoreline substantial development permits, shoreline conditional 

use permits and shoreline variance requests are made by the hearing examiner when not 

accompanied by another project application to be heard by a different hearing body, or by the 

city council after recommendation from the planning commission pursuant to the city's shoreline 

management program. Appeals of such final decisions may be taken to the shoreline hearings 

board as provided in the Shorelines Management Act of 1971 and implementing regulations. 

17.13.040 – Civil regulatory order. 

A.  Authority. A civil regulatory order may be issued and served upon a person if any activity 

by or at the direction of that person is, has been, or may be taken in violation of the 

development code. 

B. Notice. A civil regulatory order shall be deemed served and shall be effective when 

posted at the location of the violation and/or delivered to any suitable person at the 

location and/or delivered by registered mail or otherwise to the owner or other person 

having responsibility for the location. 

C. Content. A civil regulatory order shall set forth: 

168



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 35 of 50 

1. The name and address of the person to whom it is directed; 

2. The location and specific description of the violation; 

3. A notice that the order is effective immediately upon posting at the site and/or receipt 

by the person to whom it is directed; 

4. An order that the violation immediately cease, or that the potential violation be 

avoided; 

5. An order that the person stop work until correction and/or remediation of the violation 

as specified in the order; 

6. A specific description of the actions required to correct, remedy, or avoid the violation, 

including a time limit to complete such actions; 

7. A notice that failure to comply with the regulatory order may result in further 

enforcement actions, including civil fines and criminal penalties. 

D. Remedial Action. The director may require any action reasonably calculated to correct 

or avoid the violation, including but not limited to replacement, repair, supplementation, 

revegetation or restoration. 

E. Appeal. A civil regulatory order may be appealed in an open record appeal to the hearing 

examiner in accordance with Chapter 17.11 of this code. 

17.13.050 – Civil fines. 

A.  Authority. A person who violates any provision of the development code, or who fails to 

obtain any necessary permit or who fails to comply with a civil regulatory order shall be 

subject to a civil fine. 

B.  Amount. The civil fine assessed shall not exceed one thousand dollars for each violation. 

Each separate day, event, action or occurrence shall constitute a separate violation. 

C. Notice. A civil fine shall be imposed by a written notice and shall be effective when served 

or posted as set forth in Section 17.13.030(B). The notice shall describe the date, nature, 

location, and act(s) comprising the violation, the amount of the fine, and the authority 

under which the fine has been issued. 

D.  Collection. Civil fines shall be immediately due and payable upon issuance and receipt 

of the notice. The director may issue a regulatory order stopping work until such fine is paid. 

If remission or appeal of the fine is sought, the fine shall be due and payable upon issuance 

of a final decision. If a fine remains unpaid thirty days after it becomes due and payable, 

the director may take actions necessary to recover the fine. Civil fines shall be paid into the 

city's general fund. 

169



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 36 of 50 

E.  Application for Remission. Any person incurring a civil fine may, within ten days of receipt 

of the notice, apply in writing to the director for remission of the fine. The director shall 

issue a decision on the application within ten days. A fine may be remitted only upon a 

demonstration of extraordinary circumstances. 

F.  Appeal. Following the director's final determination on a timely application for remission, 

the civil fine imposed may be appealed to the hearing examiner in an open record hearing 

as set forth in Chapter 17.11 of this code. 

17.15.060 – Application – Procedures. 

The review of the application for concurrency shall be integrated with the development permit 

and environmental review process, to avoid duplication of the review processes, as required by 

Chapter 17.05 Consolidated Application Process. The following provisions pertain only to the 

portion of the review process addressing the project's ability to meet the requirements for 

concurrency. 

A.  Preapplication Meetings. In accordance with Section 17.05.020, all persons proposing 

development, with the exception of building permits, shall attend a preapplication meeting 

to discuss the development process and requirements. The proponent shall at this time 

request a nonbinding concurrency determination (see subsection (C)(1) of this section) to 

learn whether adequate public facilities are available to serve new development. 

B. Application. Any application, accompanying traffic impact analysis and other 

documentation which is subject to this chapter shall be reviewed by the planning director 

and used to determine its impact on each public facility affected. A proposal shall not be 

approved under this chapter if there is no concurrency with public facilities as required in 

this chapter. Additionally, the planning director shall determine if mitigation is required and 

appropriate under this chapter due to lack of concurrency and, if required, whether any 

transportation mitigation proposed by the developer meets the requirements of Section 

17.15.080. 

C.  Processing of Applications—Approval/Denial. Issuance of final development permits 

shall be subject to the following concurrency requirements: 

1.  Concurrency Inquiry. An applicant may inquire whether or not facility capacity exists 

without an accompanying request for a development permit; but available capacity 

cannot be reserved at that time. A fee as established by resolution of the city council may 

be charged for such "concurrency determination." 

2.  Concurrency Test. Development applications that would result in a reduction of a level 

of service below the minimum level of service standard for public facility(ies) concurrent 

with their approval must be denied. For conducting the concurrency test, the level of 

service standards for water, sewer, stormwater, fire, parks, transportation and other 

public facilities shall be as provided in the comprehensive plan and in Section 17.15.070. 

170



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 37 of 50 

If the planning director determines that revisions to the proposed development may 

create additional impacts, the application may be required to undergo an additional 

concurrency test. The test shall be completed by the city within thirty days of receipt of a 

complete application as set forth in subsection A of this section. A "finding of 

concurrency" will be rendered only in conjunction with a complete 

development/concurrency application. 

a.  If existing or planned capacity of concurrency facilities is equal to or greater than 

capacity required to maintain the level of service standard for the impact from the 

development application, the concurrency test is passed. 

b.  Transportation Facilities. If the capacity of concurrency facilities is less than the 

capacity required to maintain the level of service standard for intersections impacted 

by development application, the concurrency test is not passed. The applicant may: 

i. Accept the city's denial of approval for lack of concurrency regarding 

transportation facilities, as required by RCW 36.70A.070(6)(e); 

ii.  Accept mitigation for transportation facilities as provided in Section 17.15.080 of 

this chapter; 

iii.  Appeal the results of the concurrency test to the hearing examiner in accordance 

with Chapter 17.11 of this code. 

c.  Other Public Facilities. If the capacity of concurrency facilities is less than the capacity 

required to maintain the level of service standard for the impact from the development 

application, the concurrency test is not passed. The applicant may: 

i.   Accept a ninety-day reservation of the available, existing capacity and modify the 

application to reduce the need for facility capacity that does not exist; 

ii. Accept a ninety-day reservation of the available, existing capacity and 

demonstrate to the city's satisfaction that the proposed development will have a 

lower need for facility capacity than usual and therefore, capacity is adequate; 

iii.  Accept a ninety-day reservation of available facilities that exist and arrange with 

the appropriate facility and service provider for the provision of the additional 

capacity required; or 

iv.  Accept the city's denial of the development permit. Denial of the permit for lack 

of concurrency with public facilities is an emergency measure taken by the city to 

investigate whether there is just cause or ability to amend or revise the 

comprehensive plan; 

v.  Appeal the results of the concurrency test to the hearing examiner in accordance 

with Chapter 17.11 of this code. 

171



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 38 of 50 

3.  Finding of Concurrency. The determination that facility capacity is available shall be 

based on information provided by the applicant to the satisfaction and approval of the 

planning director. The finding of concurrency shall be binding on the city at such time as 

the city determines that adequate capacity is available or the applicant provides 

mitigation or assurances, as set forth in Section 17.15.080. 

4.  Term of Capacity. A finding of concurrency shall be valid at final approval and will 

remain valid so long as satisfactory development progress is made. The planning director 

may at his or her discretion require the applicant to submit proof of such progress. If the 

development is not under construction one year after the date of final approval, or 

construction has ceased for a period of one year, the finding of concurrency shall expire. 

The unused capacity shall then be returned to the pool of available capacity, and the 

applicant shall be required to undergo an additional concurrency test prior to 

commencement of construction. 

5.  Unused Capacity. Any capacity that is not used because the developer decides not to 

develop, or the accompanying development permit expires, shall be returned to the pool 

of available capacity. 

6.  Level of Service Areas. The standards for levels of service of transportation facilities 

shall be applied to the issuance of development permits. 

7.  Funded Projects. The developer may rely on capacity provided by funded projects, 

including projects in the current capital facilities plan (CFP) and by street improvements 

under contract as part of other approved development proposals. The approval is subject 

to the requirements that the applicant must fully fund or mitigate any impacts as required 

in this chapter. If the list of funded projects is modified after the time the proposal vests, 

the applicant may elect to rely on the new capacity provided by the modified list of funded 

projects provided that such election must be made prior to issuance of a development 

permit. 

D.  Development Approval. No final development permit shall be issued by the city unless 

there is sufficient capacity of public facilities available to meet the standards for levels of 

service after existing development and for the proposed development as required in this 

chapter. 

E.  Nonassignability of Determination. The determination that facility capacity is available 

runs with the land and is not personal to the applicant. The determination is not assignable 

or transferable to another lot or parcel. 

17.15.080 – Mitigation for transportation facilities.  

A.  General. If mitigation is required to meet the intersection level of service standard, the 

applicant may instead choose to: 1. Reduce the size of the development until the standard 

is met; 2. Delay development schedule until city and/or others provide needed 

172



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 39 of 50 

improvements; or 3. Provide the mitigation as provided for in this chapter. Mitigation must 

be acceptable to the city in form and amount, to guarantee the applicant's pro rata share 

of the financial obligation for capital improvements for the benefit of the subject property. 

B.  Fees. Determination of transportation mitigation fees shall be as follows: 

1.  Transportation mitigation fees shall be based on the per peak hour trip rate. 

2.  City standards shall include: 

a.  Trip generation rates set forth in the latest edition of the Institute of Transportation 

Engineers, Information Report—Trip Generation. The presumption is that rates used 

by the city are accurate unless proven otherwise. 

b. For projects with nontraditional peak hour impacts or different from standard 

projects, a special report, based on generally accepted traffic engineering principles 

may be submitted and considered. 

3.  Credits shall be given to reflect the projected impact on the community system such 

as, traffic decreases where an existing facility on site is removed or replaced, and traffic 

reduction systems which are binding and likely to remain effective for the life of the 

project. 

4.  Credits may also be given for projects which create a significant economic benefit to 

the community, including industrial or manufacturing uses with an excess of five hundred 

trips per day. The size of the credit shall be measured at an appropriate percentage of the 

anticipated annual tax revenue increase to the community and available for capital 

contribution to transportation facilities on the approved plan as a result of the project. 

C.  Mitigation Approval. If concurrency does not exist as required by this chapter, to obtain 

concurrency, the applicant may submit proposed mitigation measures to the planning 

director for council approval as follows: 

1.Payment for and Timing of Improvements. Payment for developer-funded 

transportation improvements affecting streets and intersections within the city's direct 

operational control necessary to meet the requirements for concurrency must be made 

as follows: 

a.  For projects involving the division of land for sale or lease—upon the issuance of 

building permit for construction of each lot of record, for the traffic attributable to that 

lot. 

b.  For projects approved through site plan review—upon the issuance of the building 

permit authorizing the construction of any phase, for the traffic associated with that 

phase. 

173



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 40 of 50 

c.  For any project over one hundred peak hour trips per day—the fee may be paid in 

installments, at the municipal rate of interest in effect on the day of building permit 

issuance, with fifty percent being paid at the issuance of the building permit and the 

balance paid within twenty-four months. 

d.  Any such improvements required to be constructed by a developer to meet the 

requirements for concurrency must be under construction within six months after 

issuance of a certificate of occupancy, final plat approval or such other approval for the 

proposed development. 

e.  All improvements shall comply with construction standards provided in Title 12 of 

this code, and the city's Project Manual for Engineering Design and Development 

Standards. 

f.  Furthermore, the city administrator or his or her designee shall require an assurance 

device to guarantee completion of such improvements in accordance with the 

construction standards. 

g. The finance director shall be responsible for maintaining all mitigation funds 

received under this chapter. 

h.  Payment for or the requirement of the developer to construct any transportation 

improvement necessary to meet the requirements of concurrency which is partially or 

wholly outside the city's direct operational control must be submitted for approval by 

the appropriate agency(ies) which have control. Should the appropriate agency(ies) 

elect to postpone the proposed improvements, or refuse to accept the proposed 

mitigation, the planning director or his or her designee shall collect and hold the 

amount estimated for mitigation until the improvement is made as required in this 

chapter. An assurance device satisfactory to the city administrator may substitute for 

the payment required in this subsection. 

i.  The project proponent may provide funding in an amount equal to the cost estimate 

of the city administrator or his or her designee, for necessary traffic improvements. 

The city administrator may require actual construction rather than provision of 

funding. Funds, or other commitments, for projects to be constructed by the city must 

be paid in full by the project proponent to the city prior to issuance of a development 

permit, final plat approval or such other approval for the project. 

2.  Transportation Demand Management. As a mitigation measure, the project proponent 

may establish transportation demand management (TDM) strategies to reduce single 

occupant vehicle trips generated by the project. The project proponent shall document 

the specific measures to be implemented and the number of trips to be reduced by each 

measure. The TDM program may be denied based on the criteria of subdivision 3 of this 

subsection. The planning director or his or her designee must approve the strategies and 

174



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 41 of 50 

shall monitor and enforce the performance of agreed upon TDM measures. The planning 

director will determine if performance measuring devices shall be imposed and may 

require annual documentation of the continued effectiveness of such measures. The 

planning director may require that additional measures be implemented if the agreed 

upon measures fail to result in the reduction of the stated number of trips. 

3.  Decision Criteria—Acceptable Mitigation. Acceptable mitigation requires a finding by 

the planning director that: 

a.  The mitigation is consistent with the comprehensive plan; 

b.  The mitigation contributes to system performance; 

c.  Improvements to an intersection or roadway may not shift traffic to a residential 

area; 

d. Improvements to an intersection or roadway may not shift traffic to other 

intersections for which there is no acceptable mitigation available; 

e.  Improvements to an intersection or roadway may not shift traffic to intersections 

within another jurisdiction which would violate that jurisdiction's policies and 

regulations; 

f.  Improvements to an intersection or roadway may not shift traffic to an arterial or 

state highway and violate the LOS prescribed for intersections on such; 

g.  The effect of the improvement would not result in a reduction of the loss of another 

transportation objective, including but not limited to maintaining turning lanes, 

sidewalks, or bicycle lanes; 

h.  The adverse environmental impacts of the facilities improvement can be reasonably 

alleviated; 

i.  The improvement will not violate accepted engineering standards and practices. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the planning director may require correction of a 

documented safety-related deficiency. 

4. Mitigation Denial—Appeal Process. If the planning director determines that the 

proposed mitigation does not meet the requirements of this chapter, the planning 

director may deny the proposed improvements and determine the project is inconsistent 

with this chapter. The planning director's decision may be appealed by the applicant to 

the hearing examiner pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 17.11. 

 

17.15.090 – Accounting and appeals. 

175



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 42 of 50 

A. All fees collected under this chapter shall be placed in separate accounts for the 

dedicated purpose for which collected. Such funds may only be expended for identified 

facilities on an approved plan, and must be spent within six years absent a specific situation 

where the city can justify a longer period. 

B.  Any person aggrieved by the action of the planning director based on a determination 

of capacity issued under this chapter, or the calculation or assessment of any fee, shall have 

the right to appeal such action to the hearing examiner. A disputed fee shall be paid under 

protest and the permit may be issued. Any such appeal shall be processed pursuant to the 

appeals procedures set forth in Chapter 17.11 of this code. 

C.  Any such appeal shall consider the issues raised, the proper fee to be assessed, and the 

necessity to find concurrency as a precondition to any project approval. The proper fee to 

be charged on appeal is determined (1) by compliance with the terms of the ordinance 

codified in this chapter, and (2) if for any reason the terms of the ordinance codified in this 

chapter are found inappropriate, such fee as necessary to assure concurrence for all 

facilities identified in this section, but not to exceed the fee collected pursuant to this 

chapter. 

17.17.020 – Review and approval process.  

A. When a request for a variance from development standards listed in Section 17.17.010 is 

consolidated with a development application, the variance request shall be considered 

concurrently with the development application. Such a variance application shall be heard in 

accordance with the provisions of Sections 17.09.025, 17.09.040 and 17.09.050 of the Lynden 

Municipal Code. 

B. When a request for a variance to any provisions, standards or requirements listed in Section 

17.17.010 does not include an application for additional development permits, or the proposed 

action does not require an open record public hearing, the application will be reviewed in 

accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17.05 of the Lynden Municipal Code. Said variance 

request will be heard by the city council in an open record public hearing consistent with the 

provisions of Section 17.09.060 of the Lynden Municipal Code. 

17.17.040 – Standards and criteria for granting a variance. 

Where unnecessary hardships and practical difficulties render it difficult to carry out the 

development standards of the City of Lynden as listed in Section 17.17.010, the hearing body 

shall have power to grant a variance in harmony with the general purpose and intent of the 

provisions of the development standards so that the spirit of those standards will be observed, 

public safety secured and substantial justice done. However, the hearing body shall not vary any 

of the rules, regulations or provisions of those development standards unless findings are made 

that all of the following conditions exist in each case: 

176



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 43 of 50 

A. The variance shall not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the 

limitation upon uses of other properties in the vicinity in which the property on behalf of 

which the application was filed is located; 

B. That such variance is necessary, because of special circumstances relating to the size, 

shape, topography, location or surroundings of the subject property to provide it with rights 

and privileges permitted to other properties in the vicinity in which the subject property is 

located; 

C. That the granting of such a variance will not be materially detrimental to the public 

welfare or injurious to the property or improvements in the vicinity and zone in which the 

subject property is located; and  

D. That the variance request is based on sound engineering judgment and includes 

additional mitigation sufficient to offset adverse impacts to the public interest likely to 

result from granting the variance.  

Findings shall include a report which may contain pertinent information regarding any existing 

conditions relating to topography, geology, utilization of property, and such conditions set forth 

by the official plans, development plans, and the comprehensive plans. 

19.22.010 Establishment, Relief, and Purpose 

A.  Establishment and Relief.  There is established therein residential design standards and 

regulation by which residential structures may be permitted and maintained. 

1. Relief from the required standards must be sought through the variance process. 

2. Variance requests which relate specifically to site design development standards 

described in Section 19.22.020 shall be submitted to the hearing examiner consistent with 

Chapter 19.47 LMC. 

3. Variance requests which relate specifically to the residential design criteria described in 

Section 19.22.030 through 19.22.050 shall be submitted to the Design Review Board 

consistent with LMC 19.45.035.  

B.  Purpose.  

1. The essential purpose of the residential design standards to ensure that new 

developments meet and maintain a number of objectives that strive to promote orderly 

community growth and protect and enhance property values for the community as a 

whole.   

a. To soften and enhance the built environment using yards and green space, to 

incorporate inviting pedestrian scale elements into all residential construction, 

and to provide adequate parking areas. 

b. To create high-quality communities that have variation of architectural style and 

durable materials.  

177



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 44 of 50 

c. To reduce the visual impact of the garage and accessory structures and emphasize 

the pedestrian environment. 

d. To enhance the aesthetics of communities through the installation of landscape 

and the screening of undesirable elements.  Also, to enhance safety and function 

of residential properties through appropriate exterior lighting, addressing, and 

fencing. 

2. Residential design standards also seek to encourage low impact design (LID) techniques 

such as rain gardens, xeriscape, or pervious pavement to minimize adverse impacts on 

the natural environment. 

19.42.040 – Appeal of determination of building official. 

Any interested or aggrieved person, or any officer, official of any department, board or 

commission of the city, jointly or severally, may appeal to the hearing examiner any 

determination of the building official in the application of the provision of the zoning ordinance 

to a particular land and/or structure. The hearing examiner’s decision shall be final unless 

appealed to the city council. The city council shall hear the appeal as a closed record appeal and 

shall make the final decision of the city.   

19.45.040 – Decision by the design review board. 

The design review board shall review each application to determine if the design meets the 

guidelines as adopted in the design review guidebook for signs, and commercial and multi-family 

construction. It shall: 

A.  Grant approval of the proposed exterior design or sign, or 

B.  Deny the proposed design, or 

C.  Approve the exterior design with conditions, which shall be noted by the building 

inspector. 

The building official shall enforce the decisions of the design review board when granting a 

building permit. All designs shall be subject to the International Building Code as well as all 

Lynden Municipal codes. 

The design review board shall not impose conditions which are contrary to the requirements of 

any applicable building codes. 

The decision of the design review board shall be the final decision of the city, unless appealed 

within  fourteen days to the Lynden City Council. 

19.47.010 -  Hearing examiner – Variances.   

 The hearing examiner has jurisdiction over requests for variances from the requirements of Title 

19, except for Chapter 19.33 and LMC 19.22.003, .040, and .050, when such variances are not 

178



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 45 of 50 

applied for in conjunction with an underlying project, the application for which will be heard by 

a different hearing body, as provided by section 2.09.040. The decision of the hearing examiner 

shall be subject to closed record appeal to the city council as provided in Ch. 17.11 LMC. 

Applications for variances from the requirements of Title 19 that are made in conjunction with 

another project application for which an open record hearing is required shall be consolidated 

with that project application, and the hearing body hearing the underlying project application 

shall also issue a decision on the variance application. Terms used in this chapter are defined in 

LMC 17.01.030.  

19.47. 020 -  Variance—Request—Hearing.  

Any property owner or developer may make a request to the  hearing body authorized to hear 

such request for a  variance from bulk provision of the zoning ordinance. The applicant shall 

appear at the public hearing, at the time and place fixed by the hearing body, in person, by agent 

or by attorney. 

19.47.030 - Variance —Support or Opposition   

Any interested or aggrieved person or persons, jointly or severally, and any officer or official of 

any department, board or commission of the city, jointly or severally, may support or oppose, in 

writing, any applicant's request for a variance. The written statement shall specify the reasons 

for supporting or opposing the applicant’s request,  contain the signature and description of the 

land of each property owner, and be submitted timely to the hearing body . 

19.47.040 - Variance —Application procedure.  

Unless stated otherwise in this Chapter, the notice and procedural requirements for variance 

proceedings shall be substantially the same as an appeal before the hearing examiner brought 

under Ch. 17.11 LMC, and shall be conducted consistent with Ch. 17.09 LMC.19.47. .050 - 

Variance —Stay authorized when.  

A request to a hearing body for a variance from the requirements of Title 19 stays all proceedings, 

in furtherance of the action for which the variance is sought.  However, upon a motion by a party, 

the hearing body may make a finding supported by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that a 

stay would cause imminent peril to life or property, in which case such action shall not be stayed 

other than by an order issued by the Superior Court.  

19.47.060 - Jurisdiction—Variances—Power to vary rules and regulations when.  

Where unnecessary hardships and practical difficulties render it difficult to carry out a bulk 

provision of the zoning ordinance, the hearing body may grant a variance in harmony with the 

general purpose and intent of the provisions contained in this title from any rules, regulations or 

provisions of the zoning ordinance relating to the bulk provisions of the zoning ordinance, so that 

the spirit of the ordinance will be observed, public safety secured, and substantial justice done. 

179



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 46 of 50 

However, the hearing body may only grant a variance if it   finds that all of the following 

conditions exist  for  each variance  application: 

A. The variance shall not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the limitation 

upon uses of other properties in the vicinity and zone in which the property on behalf of which 

the application is located;  

B. That such variance is necessary, because of special circumstances relating to the size, shape, 

topography, location or surroundings of the subject property, to provide it with rights and 

privileges permitted to other properties in the vicinity and zone in which the subject property is 

located; and  

C. That the granting of such a variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or 

injurious to the property or improvements in the vicinity and zone in which the subject property 

is located. 

19.47.070 –  Hearing—Decision.  

Hearings on variance requests shall be open record hearings and shall follow substantially the 

same format as provided in Section 17.09.060. Notice and other procedural elements shall be as 

provided in the other applicable sections of Title 17, including Ch. 17.11 LMC.  

The hearing body’s decision shall be in substantially the same form as a decision on an appeal 

under Title 17 and shall include written findings of facts, conclusions of law, and decision. The 

findings of fact shall include pertinent information regarding any existing or preexisting 

conditions relating to topography, geology, utilization, and such conditions set forth by the 

official plans, development plans, and the comprehensive plans, and relevant facts which support 

and oppose the contention of the applicant. The hearing body’s decision on a variance request 

may grant the variance, deny the variance, or grant the variance with conditions.  The hearing 

body’s decision may be subject to reconsideration under the same process set forth in Section 

17.09.080. 

19.47.080 –Decision by hearing body—Appeal—Effective date.  

Section 17.09.100(B) provides the effective date of the decision, unless the hearing body makes 

a finding that making the decision effective immediately is necessary for the preservation of 

property or personal rights.  If the hearing body’s decision is associated with a pending permit 

application, the decision shall cease to be effective on the same date said application expires 

without having been granted. Otherwise, if the applicant does not obtain a building permit 

and/or occupancy permit within one year from the effective date of the effective date of the final 

decision of the city, the decision shall cease to be effective. 

19.59.180 - Variances.  

When an application for a communications facility does not require the approval of the planning 

commission and is not otherwise associated with a project application to be heard by another 

180



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 47 of 50 

hearing body, the hearing examiner shall have the authority to grant a variance from the 

requirements of this chapter, subject to closed record appeal to the city council as provided in 

Ch. 17.11 LMC. If the communication facility requires the planning commission’s approval under 

LMC 19.59.060, the planning commission shall consolidate the hearing on the variance with the 

hearing on the application and make a decision on both matters. If the variance application for 

the communication facility is otherwise dependent on or connected to another underlying 

project application for which an open record hearing is required, the two hearings shall be 

consolidated and the hearing body making the decision on the underlying project shall also issue 

a decision on the variance application. 

19.59.190 – Interpretations. 

Where there is any dispute concerning the interpretation of this chapter, the decision of the city 

planner shall prevail, subject to open record appeal to the hearing examiner. The hearing 

examiner’s decision shall be in writing and shall be subject to closed record appeal to the city 

council pursuant to Ch. 17.11 LMC.  

 

19.59.220 – Nonconforming facilities. 

A.  Nonconforming facilities shall be removed or brought into compliance with this chapter 

no later than the expiration of the amortization period of each such facility, determined as 

follows: 

1.  For facilities made nonconforming by passage of the ordinance codified in this chapter, 

January 1, 2002. 

2.  For facilities made nonconforming by passage of any subsequent ordinance, five years 

after the effective date of such ordinance. 

B.  Loss of Nonconforming Status. 

1.  A nonconforming wireless communications facility shall immediately lose its legal, 

nonconforming status if: 

a.  The facility is altered in any way in structure or color, or if the structure exceeds 

the allowable number of appurtenance facilities; 

b.  The facility is damaged in excess of fifty percent of the original cost of the facility; 

c.  The facility is relocated; or 

d.  The facility is replaced. 

2.  On the occurrence of any of the events described in subsection (B)(1) of this section, 

the wireless communications facility shall be immediately brought into compliance with 

181



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 48 of 50 

this chapter with a new permit secured therefor, or shall be removed; provided, however, 

that the city planner may authorize specific alterations of such nonconforming facilities if 

it is found that: 

a.  The end of the nonconforming facility's amortization period is more than two years 

away; and 

b.  The total amount of aggregate noncompliance of the facility area of the existing 

facilities on the premises is reduced at least fifty percent by the proposed alterations; 

and 

c. The alteration shall not affect the original amortization period for the 

nonconforming facility. 

C.  Notice of Nonconforming Facilities. The city planner shall endeavor to give notice of the 

legal nonconformance and amortization periods set forth in this section to the owners of 

wireless communications facilities required to be removed. Such notice should be given to 

the owners of the facilities as shown by city records within one hundred twenty days of the 

effective date of the ordinance which renders the facilities nonconforming, whichever 

occurs later. Only one such notice need be given. Failure of the city planner to give the 

notice specified in this section, or failure of the facility owner to receive any such notice 

shall not limit or affect the city's power to enforce this chapter, or in any way reduce the 

ability of the city to require removal of the nonconforming facilities as provided by law. 

D.  Administrative Appeal. The owner of a nonconforming wireless communications facility 

may appeal to the city planner to request an extended period of use of such facility beyond 

the amortization period determined by this section. Any such appeal must be made to the 

city planner upon forms provided by the city and must be accompanied by an appeal filing 

fee as set by resolution of the city council. The city planner shall require that the appellant 

provide as part of the appeal a general description of the facility, its dimensions and physical 

position; evidence sufficient to establish the date and cost of the facility as originally 

constructed and installed; the amount of depreciation claimed and the depreciation 

schedule used for such facility as reflected by Internal Revenue Service schedules for prior 

years; the estimated cost of relocation or alteration of such facility, where applicable; 

together with any other information or documents specified by the city planner which are 

reasonably necessary to assist the city in making a determination on the appeal. The city 

planner shall consider the statements and documentary evidence contained in the 

application and any supplementary information which may reasonably be required. In 

addition, the city planner shall inspect the subject facility to determine its general condition, 

state of repair, and the extent to which the facility does not conform to the requirements 

and limitations of this chapter. The city planner may also request that the facility is 

inspected by the building official for structural soundness and building details. In making 

the determination, the city planner shall consider the unrecoverable cost invested in the 

182



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 49 of 50 

facility, the estimated remaining life of the facility, and the degree of nonconformity. The 

city planner shall prepare and make available for public inspection the specific method used 

in processing such appeals. All determinations of appeals made pursuant to this section 

shall be made in writing with specific findings of fact and conclusions in support of the 

decision. All such determinations of the city planner are subject to open record appeal to 

the  hearing examiner as provided by this title. The hearing examiner’s decision shall be 

subject to closed record appeal to the city council under the procedures in Ch. 17.11 LMC.  

19.67.110 – Appeals and adjustments. 

Any person(s) seeking an adjustment to the dedication or mitigation assessments required by 

this chapter shall have a right to appeal to the hearing examiner. Any such appeal shall be filed 

with the city clerk in writing within fourteen days after the date of mailing or transmittal by the 

city of written notice of the specific dedication or mitigation assessments required by this 

chapter. Following receipt of such an appeal, the hearing examiner shall hold an open record 

hearing to consider the appeal. In considering the appeal, the hearing examiner may, in his or her 

discretion, take into account unusual circumstances in a specific case and may consider studies 

and data submitted by the appellant(s). The hearing examiner shall issue a written decision as he 

or she deems fair and equitable.  

 

SECTION 3:  

The City Council hereby approves the procedures of the office of the hearing examiner attached 

as Exhibit A hereto.  

SECTION 4:  

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance is for any reason held to 

be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions 

of this ordinance.  The Council hereby declares that it would have passed this ordinance and each 

section, subsection, sentence, clause and phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or 

more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases has been declared invalid or 

unconstitutional, and if, for any reason, this ordinance should be declared invalid or 

unconstitutional, then the original ordinance or ordinances shall be in full force and effect. 

  

183



City of Lynden Ordinance No.1615 
Page 50 of 50 

SECTION 5:  

Any ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect May 1, 2021 after its passage, approval and 

publication as provided by law. 

 

PASSED by the City Council this ______ day of _________________________, 2021,  

and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of _________________________, 2021. 

 

 ______________________________ 

 MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

______________________________ 

City Attorney 

    

 

 

 

184



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 
Name of Agenda Item: Resolution 1031 – a Resolution of Intent regarding the Pepin Creek Project 
Section of Agenda: New Business 
Department: Planning Department 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☒ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☒ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

Resolution 1031, see also the executive summary and minutes of the January 20 CDC meeting, and the 
minutes of the February 17th Special Council Meeting included in the this meeting’s packet. 

Summary Statement: 

At the January CDC / Special Council Meeting staff presented concepts for the allocation of costs associated 
with the Pepin Lite infrastructure.  As Council will recall, the goal of the Pepin Lite design is to reduce 
overall infrastructure costs, focus on transportation improvements within the Pepin Creek Sub-Area, and 
lift the existing development moratorium.  The 13 projects identified in Pepin Lite include creek re-location 
but also considerable street improvement projects.  Nine of the projects directly serve the development 
within the Pepin Creek Sub-Area.  Another 4 projects are identified as providing benefit to existing 
neighborhoods or the general community.   

Next steps in the planning process include the establishment of a fair allocation of costs for the 9 projects 
specific to the sub-area.  The mechanism that showed the most merit is the use of Transportation Impact 
Fees (TIF) administered in the form of a SEPA mitigation fee.   This fee can be based on the percentage of 
trips which will be generated by the build-out of the Sub-Area. Traffic analysis concluded that 98.7% of 
new trips in this area will stem from development in the Sub-Area.  This is the nexus for allocating 98.7% 
of the 9 infrastructure projects to new development.  Since the January meeting Berk Consulting conducted 
a market analysis to determine if this is a realistic share of costs for private development to assume.  
Results showed that development within the Sub-Area appears feasible even if it shoulders 98.7% of the 
cost of infrastructure improvements, other fees, utility costs, and raw land costs.   

Given these results, staff has drafted the attached Resolution of Intent which summarizes the conclusions 
of the Pepin Creek Financial Mitigation Study and outlines the path toward lifting the moratorium on 
development within the Sub-Area.  While the resolution does not finalize needed legislative changes, it 
clearly outlines the City Council’s direction on this complicated project and provides guidance to staff and 
landowners in this area.  

Recommended Action: 

Motion to approve Resolution 1031 outlining the Council’s intentions in the allocation of infrastructure 
costs associated with the Pepin Creek Sub-area and authorize the Mayor’s signature on the document. 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

185



CDC Executive Summary  Created March 2020 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY – Community Development Committee 

 

 

CDC Meeting Date: February 17, 2021 

Name of Agenda Item: Pepin Creek Financial Mitigation  

Section of Agenda: Discussion 

Next Steps Proposed by Staff: Legal Review: 

☐ Staff revisions          ☐ Planning Commission ☐ Completed 

☐ Return to CDC ☐ Other Committees ☒ Recommended 

☒ Schedule for full Council    ☐ Other: _____________ ☐ Not Required 

Attachments: 

Draft Resolution of Intent, Revised Pepin Creek Financial Mitigation Study dated 2-11-21 

Summary Statement: 

At the January CDC meeting (Special Council Meeting) staff presented concepts for the allocation of 
costs associated with the Pepin Lite infrastructure.  Projects include creek re-location but also 
considerable street improvement projects.  Most of the projects serve the development within the 
Pepin Creek Sub-Area but also provide some benefit, such as a measure of flood protection, to existing 
neighborhoods which see periodic flooding related to the Pepin Creek basin.   

The mechanism for cost allocation that showed the most merit is the use of Transportation Impact 
Fees (TIF) administered in the form of a SEPA mitigation fee.   This fee can be based on the percentage 
of trips which will be generated by the build-out of the Sub-Area which creates the nexus between the 
infrastructure needed to accommodate the impact created by development.   Traffic analysis 
concluded that 98.7% of new trips in this area will stem from development in the Sub-Area. 

The January meeting concluded with staff and the consultant team assigned to explore market analysis 
related to the feasibility of development paying for 98.7% of infrastructure improvements that are 
located within the Sub-Area (the resulting TIF would reach nearly $20,000 per single family residence).  
Additionally, if TIF at that level was infeasible then would a City contribution of roughly $5 million or 
$10 million begin to make it more feasible? 

Results of the market analysis showed that development within the Sub-Area is feasible even if it 
shoulders 98.7% of the cost of infrastructure improvements, other fees, utility costs, and raw land 
costs.  This was examined by comparing the total development cost to the value of improved land 
within comparable development within the County.   

Given these results, staff has drafted the attached a City Council Resolution of Intent which 
summarizes the conclusions of the Pepin Creek Financial Mitigation Study and outlines the path 
toward lifting the moratorium on development within the Sub-Area. 

 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

186



CDC Executive Summary  Created March 2020 

The Pepin Creek re-location project and Sub-Area planning have been studied in great depth.  During 

that time, a wide variety of solutions have been explored.  As such, it is important to note a few key 

aspects to the current plan and process moving forward so that expectations of City leadership, staff, 

and the public are consistent.  Some of these points are compromises in design, or delays until full build 

out, which are needed to reach a point of feasibility.  Some of them represent a significant shift in 

development policy within the City of Lynden. 

Design: 

1. The Pepin channel will not run the entire north-south length of the Sub-Area.   
o Pepin Lite plans assume that some areas which were Pepin Creek corridor will be used for 

Pepin Parkway or developed into residential uses. 
o The possibility remains that the northern Double-Ditch Road right-of-way could become 

the Pepin Creek channel and riparian zone if this section of the road were removed. 
2. Benson ditch remains in its current location.   

o Adding additional water to the Pepin Creek channel and downstream reach would be 
difficult to permit and increases water flows to an erosive section of the stream corridor. 

3. The City has Acquired Dickenson Park 
o The downstream reach of Pepin Creek has the exciting benefit from the land acquisition 

of Dickenson Park. 
o A legacy project - habitat enhancement and public amenities will be a valuable asset to 

existing neighborhoods as well as the Pepin Sub-Area Development 

Land Development Policy / Plans: 

1. The City is implementing significant projects in the downstream reach as well as two bridges in 
the Main Street area currently estimated at $7.5 - $9.6 million (a portion of which is already 
funded / completed).  

2. Private development will shoulder a larger share of infrastructure improvement than has typically 
been the case in the City of Lynden. 

3. Minimum densities are needed in the Pepin Creek Sub-Area to avoid under collection of SEPA 
mitigation fees which would result in a shortfall to infrastructure funding. 

4. Additional SEPA review will be required. 
o As the threshold that triggers SEPA review is lowered within the Pepin Creek Sub-Area, 

development review of small scale projects will require more staff time and slightly longer 
review times. 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

187



Ordinance 1031 

Page 1of 4 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1031 

A RESOLUTION OF INTENT TO ADVANCE DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE PEPIN 

CREEK SUB-AREA  

FOR THE CITY OF LYNDEN, WHATCOM COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

 

WHEREAS, on August 19, 2013, the City of Lynden (“City”) adopted the April 2009 

Amendment to the January 1992 Stormwater Management Plan identifying the “Pepin 

Creek” project (“The Project”); and  

WHEREAS, this area is generally identified as the City’s Urban Growth Area fronting 

Double Ditch Road and Benson Road, and located south of Badger Road and north of 

Main Street and shown on Exhibit A (“Pepin Creek Sub Area”); and 

WHEREAS, the City placed a moratorium on development in this area due to constraints 

on development including, periodic flooding of existing neighborhoods and streets south 

of this area, and substandard roadways; and 

WHEREAS, the Project, has sought to research and respond to these constraints with 

concepts that included the relocation of Pepin Creek (the waterway that flows through the 

Double Ditch Road ditches), and the identification of a multi-modal consolidated roadway 

network, and an associated financing mechanism for those improvements; and  

WHEREAS, the City conducted numerous complex and detailed planning, funding, and 

design studies to understand and communicate the complex issues associated with The 

Project and advancement of residential development within the Pepin Creek Sub-Area; 

and 

WHEREAS, in March of 2020 the City Council adopted the Pepin Creek Sub-Area Plan 

to establish goals and policies for the future development of this area with regard to land 

use and zoning, environmental protection and restoration, infrastructure development, 

and finance to ensure the orderly development of this area; and 

WHEREAS, City staff began implementation of the land use and zoning structure 

presented in the Sub-Area plan but found that infrastructure associated with the adopted 

Pepin Creek Sub-Area Plan presented permitting challenges and placed an unrealistic 

financial burden on the City and the future development in the Sub-Area; and  

WHEREAS, City staff, at the Lynden City Council’s direction, created a modified plan for 

The Project known as ‘Pepin Lite’ which focused on transportation improvements and re-

locating the Creek only where needed to complete these transportation improvements; 

and  

188



 

Ordinance 1031 

Page 2 of 4 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has asserted private development should shoulder the 

burden of infrastructure improvements in the sub-area; and 

WHEREAS, the property owners within the Pepin Sub-Area should recognize that 

development constraints associated with their property affects the value of the raw land; 

and  

WHEREAS, the financial mechanism of a SEPA mitigation fee showed merit for funding 

a majority of the Pepin Lite project yet maintains a reasonable feasibility of development 

as described in the Pepin Creek Financial Mitigation Strategies Study by Berk Consulting 

and attached as Exhibit B (less Appendix B); and  

WHEREAS, there are no statutory time limits on the use of collected SEPA mitigation 

fees which is complimentary to phased infrastructure improvements; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council desired to lift the development moratorium with these 

understandings and financial mechanisms in place. 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Lynden, 

Washington: 

SECTION 1: Implementation of a SEPA mitigation fee will proceed as the primary 

funding mechanism for the Pepin Lite infrastructure improvements identified in the 

Pepin Creek Financial Mitigation Strategies Study.  Implementation is intended to 

include: 

• Amendment to the City’s flexible SEPA thresholds found in LMC 16.05.070 for 

residential development in the Pepin Creek Sub-Area to be 4 units rather than 12 

units to ensure as much of the planned development as possible pays for its 

share of improvements.  

• Adoption of the Pepin Creek Lite Capital Improvements SEPA mitigation fee 

schedule by resolution.  The resolution will:  

o Confirm that as development will create 98.7% of the traffic trips 

generated in the Pepin Creek Sub-Area when fully developed, that 

development will assume the 98.7% of the cost of the projects identified 

as ‘developer responsibility’ in Exhibit C. 

o Identify at what stage of development the fees will be collected.   

o Affirm that private development can be credited for ‘construction in lieu’ of 

fee payment, that is, dedication of improvements that implement the 

capital project.   

189



 

Ordinance 1031 

Page 3 of 4 

 

o Include inflation adjustments for fees. 

o Regularly review progress toward the implement of the Pepin Lite 

infrastructure goals and adjust SEPA mitigation fees as needed. 

 

SECTION 2:  To discourage under development and, as a result, under collection of 

SEPA mitigation fees the City will implement minimum density requirements within the 

Pepin Creek Sub-Area by amending Title 19 of the Lynden Municipal Code.  This 

amendment will require a minimum dwelling-unit-per-acre density within the Pepin 

Creek Sub-Area which is consistent with the character of Lynden’s existing 

neighborhoods. 

SECTION 3: The moratorium will be extended, by ordinance, beyond March 9, 2021 

through June 30, 2021.  This extension will allow for the actions associated with the 

implementation of the SEPA mitigation fee identified above. 

SECTION 4: The Sub-Area plan will be modified to reflect the revisions associated with 

Pepin Lite.  This includes, but is not limited to, the fact that no additional portion of 

Pepin Creek, beyond the 2,700 lineal feet along south Double Ditch Road, is planned be 

relocated outside of the Double Ditch Road right-of-way.  However, it does not eliminate 

the possibility of creek channel and habitat enhancement occurring in place of Double 

Ditch Road as an alternate roadway network is established in this area.   

SECTION 5:  The City will continue to pursue ‘outside funding’ such as State or Federal 

grants.  This funding, if acquired, will be used first to pay down the cost of the projects 

labeled as ‘City responsibility’ in Exhibit B to ease the burden on the City funds.  If 

outside funding exceeds the cost of the City’s projects or is specific to the scope of a 

developer funded project, then the funds may be used to cover developer projects at the 

City Council’s discretion.  

SECTION 6:  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Resolution is 

for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the 

validity of the remaining portions of this Resolution. The Council hereby declares that it 

would have passed this code and each section, regardless of whether any one or more 

sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases has been declared invalid or 

unconstitutional, and if for any reason this Resolution is declared invalid or 

unconstitutional, then the original Resolution or Resolutions shall be in full force and 

effect. 

  

190



 

Ordinance 1031 

Page 4 of 4 

 

SECTION 7:  This resolution shall be in full force and effect on March 8, 2021 

 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL BY AN AFFIRMATIVE VOTE OF ____ IN FAVOR 

AND ____ IN OPPOSITION AND SIGNED BY THE MAYOR THIS ____ DAY OF 

________________, 2021. 

 

 

      

 _____________________________________ 

 Mayor Scott Korthuis 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

________________________                         _________________________ 

City Clerk Pam Brown     City Attorney Robert Carmichael 

 

 

191



Exhibit A 

Lynden City Council Resolution 1031 

A Resolution of Intent to Advance Development Within the Pepin Creek Sub-Area 

 

Pepin Creek Sub-Area Boundaries 

 

192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



 

 

 

207



208



209



210



211



Pepin Lite: Fully Improved

212



213



Exhibit C 

Lynden City Council Resolution 1031 

A Resolution of Intent to Advance Development Within the Pepin Creek Sub-Area 

 

Project Cost Estimates and Proposed Division of Responsibility 

 

214



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021   
Name of Agenda Item: Draft Parks Committee Minutes February 16, 2021 
Section of Agenda: Other Business  
Department: Parks  
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☒ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☐ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

ES-Draft Parks Committee Minutes February 16, 2021 

Summary Statement: 

See Next page  

Recommended Action: 

For Council Review  

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

215



 

 
 

PARKS DEPARTMENT 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
www.lyndenwa.org 

 

PARKS COMMITTEE MINUTES 
February 16, 2021 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL: 
Members Present: Mayor Scott Korthuis; Councilors, Ron DeValois, and Nick Laninga  
   
Staff Present: City Administrator Mike Martin; Parks Director Vern Meenderinck; and 
Park Admin. Assist. Nancy Norris 

 
 

2. ACTION ITEMS: 
 
A. Approval of Parks Committee Minutes- January 19, 2021 

DeValois motioned to approve the minutes and Laninga approved the motion. 
Action: The Parks Committee Minutes from January 19, 2021 were approved. 

 
B. Berthusen Ag land lease has been advertised.  

Motion to accept bids (due Feb. 22) and bring to full council for approval on 
March 2, 2021. 
Action: Parks Committee agreed to accept the highest bid and bring it to full 
council for approval March 2, 2021.   

 
 

3. INFORMATION ITEMS:  
 
A. Berthusen Trails  

Tim Van Beek has lined up crews from Washington Trails and should begin 
repairing the trails in 3 locations sometime in May.  
 

B. Updates on Parks projects: 
Benson Park barn:   
Parks is working with PW to draft and send out an RFP for the barn remodel. 
Also working with PW to draft an RFP for a master plan for the south 20 acres. 
Harlan Kredit is working on helping to acquire and plant approx. 200- 5’ to 12’ 
trees on the property.  May plant in a plot until it is determined what the park 
design will be. 
 
 
 

216



 

 
 

PARKS DEPARTMENT 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

300 4th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
www.lyndenwa.org 

 

Dickinson:  
The property has been surveyed. One neighbor disputes where the corner of his 
lot is located.  
Bob Johnson Rec District Commissioner is in contact with a bridge builder in 
Blaine (?) to look at possibilities for the bridges. Pedestrian bridges only? 
 
Glenning Property:  
A request for $250,000 from the county Conservation futures fund to help raise 
some of the remaining funds needed has been submitted.  
 
Depot to 8th Trail:  
The Mayor is continuing to be in contact with the school district and Vander 
Griend regarding purchasing the surplused portion. Redoing the appraisal of the 
proposed property. 

 
C. Cameras for Parks:  

Matt Torak has been in contact with Security Solutions who may be willing to 
donate a camera (s) to the parks for more security. 
Great presentation on the cameras, would probably need to figure in electrical 
and Wi-Fi to make them work. POGO ZONE will donate the Wi-Fi for 3 years. 
Vern and Torak will meet with Security Solutions on site on Wed Feb. 17, 2021 
for more discussion. 

 
D. Park Impact fees: 

Dave and Heidi have worked on the needs for documentation and should have a 
final draft ready for review and then to council approval. Parks Committee were 
asked to review the documents overnight and return their comments to Vern 
before the 1pm Wed. February 17, 2021 Planning Meeting for finalization and 
review to go to council for approval. 

 
 

4. ITEMS ADDED: None 
 

 
Meeting Adjourned: 4:45pm. 

 
 

NEXT MEETING DATE 
Parks Committee: March 15, 2021 

 

217



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 
Name of Agenda Item: Community Development Committee Minutes of 2-17-21 
Section of Agenda: Approval of Minutes 
Department: Planning Department 
Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: _____________ ☒ Review Not Required 
Attachments: 

Draft Meeting Minutes of Community Development Committee February 17, 2021 

Summary Statement: 

Draft CDC Minutes of 2-17-2021 attached for review.    
 
          
 
Recommended Action: 

Council review. 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

218



 

 203 19th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
 www.lyndenwa.org  

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 
Heidi Gudde – Planning Director 
(360) 354 - 5532 
 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE  

 
MINUTES 

4:00 PM February 17, 2021 
Microsoft Teams and 2nd Floor Conference Room, City Hall 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL 
Councilors: Lenssen, Bode, Strengholt, Mayor Korthuis 
Staff:  Gudde, Banham, Timmer, Martin 
Public: Gary Vis, Darryl Roosendaal,  
City Consultants: Jason Hennessy and Lisa Grueter of Berk Consulting 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a. Community Development Committee Meeting 1-20-21 Minutes  

To be reviewed and approved at next Council Meeting as this was considered 
a full Council Meeting.  

3. DISCUSSION ITEMS  

a. Pepin Creek – Financial Mitigation Conclusions and Next Steps 

Gudde introduces the financial mitigation report and Berk consultants.  Summary 
of January meeting that included action items for further consideration: Market 
analysis, Pepin Rezone, SEPA exemption thresholds, minimum densities for 
residential development in PCSA. 

Calendar:  Moratorium to be extended for another 3 months in March with the 
goal to lift the moratorium in June.  

Subarea Plan to be updated based on the current plans by the end of the year. 

Mike Martin:  Key questions:  SEPA mitigation fee?  Share of costs by City ($10 
million) vs. Developer ($30 million) – $3 million of City is already secured.  Traffic 
Impact Fee - $19,000 is a big number but development still feasible. 

Points for the Council to note and consider associated with this direction.   

- Ditch will not extend all the way north through the center of the sub-area.   

- There will not be “affordable” housing in PCSA strictly due to the costs of 
development and SEPA mitigation fee.   

- The fees will incentivize lower development so minimum densities and 
frequent review of fee schedule which will likely need to be adjusted over time 

219



 203 19th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 2 of 3 

to ensure the City is accurately funding the needed infrastructure costs for 
development. 

- Upcoming 5 month schedule is aggressive and will require everyone keeping 
on task.   

Gudde explains the Resolution of Intent which will come to Council with the 
extension of the moratorium at the March 1 Council meeting.  The details specific 
to minimum densities and other numbers are not determined in the Resolution of 
Intent.  The resolution simply solidifies the Council’s direction on these issues.   

Lenssen suggests going through the Resolution of Intent for review and 
discussion.  Minimum densities?  Is there an option to buy out a minimum density 
for someone to maintain a large lot?  Also, an annual review based on the 
existing numbers. 

Bode: How do we prevent a school district type of purchase as occurred in East 
Lynden that took out a significant number of potential residential units out of the 
east Lynden sewer assessment.   

Discussion on potential scenarios where minimum densities will be complex.  
Concern is over-collecting and/or under-collecting.  Council is supportive of the 
SEPA mitigation fee approach knowing that details are forthcoming. 

Discussion as to if separate SEPA fees in various parts of the City are 
defensible.  Banham replied that it is common in other Cities to have a variety of 
TIFs according to the location. 

Jason Hennessy and Lisa Grueter of Berk Consulting – Highlighted Western WA 
comparisons for Traffic Impact Fees and also described the methodology with 
their market analysis. The Market analysis (pg 16 of the Financial Assessment 
Report) examines post development land values in relatively comparable 
geographies with the assumption that the infrastructure improvements are 
increasing the post development land value.  It is an indication of marketability.  
The analysis is not an exact science or a guarantee but demonstrates that 
developers facing similar infrastructure costs still choose to develop.  This 
indicates that even when facing significant development costs, the market for 
residential development is still occurring. 

The group noted that a closer look at Whatcom and Skagit transportation impact 
fee comparables might be useful in knowing how the City compared to adjacent 
jurisdictions.  Discussion also noted that an increase in the city-wide 
transportation impact fee appears warranted.   

The group discussed total unit count estimates within the Sub-Area.  And 
development unit possibilities.  The number is likely not going to go above the 
midpoint (or minimum densities) because of the incentive to underdevelopment 
based on the fees associated with specific units. 

Gudde noted that the SEPA mitigation fee can be reviewed annually as needed 
to review collection rates and if adjustments are warranted.  Likewise, as 
property within the sub-area is annexed into the City the Council has the option 

220



 203 19th Street, Lynden, WA 98264 
 www.lyndenwa.org  Page 3 of 3 

of reviewing the zoning category.  If the build-out of the initial phases of the sub-
area warrant changes to later phases, then these categories can be reviewed 
and revised.  The point of annexation is a good opportunity to evaluate the status 
of the Pepin Creek Sub-Area plan. 

Questions: What does a high vehicular count intersection (Double Ditch and 
Main) look like and will improvements be needed?  Banham concluded that 
intersection improvements would likely be needed eventually.  Noted that without 
Pepin Creek running along this frontage the improvements would be more 
feasible.  Noted that traffic circles seems to be the preference of traffic engineers 
and that may work in this location.  Gudde noted that Main Street sees a lot of 
truck traffic so any improvement done there would need to be compatible with 
large trucks.  However, traffic calming in this area would also be beneficial as 
speeds tend to be quite high at the west end of Main Street.   

Pine St pedestrian bridge only? Committee indicated support for a vehicular 
bridge there.  

Inflation.  These numbers are current cost.  Not including inflation costs.  SEPA 
fees to be reviewed regularly to keep up with inflation. 

Appendix A:  Are we comfortable with the City expected costs?  Question posed 
but not answered.  

b. Initiative to Add a Hearing Examiner – Request for Qualifications 

 

The packet provides a summary Code changes, the RFQ for the Hearing 
Examiner, procedural rules – These have been drafted by Carmichael’s 
office. 

RFQ – remove the examples of numbers of Conditional Use Permits seen by 
the City in previous years as these will not be reviewed by the Hearing 
Examiner. 

Gudde confirmed that all decisions of the hearing examiner are appealable to 
the City Council with the exception of the Shoreline Permits that go to the 
hearing examiner.  These, as per our existing code, get appealed to the State 
Shoreline Hearings Board.  Bode noted that these were very technical 
reviews based on the Shoreline Master Program. 

Committee expressed appreciation in getting to this point, collaborative with a 
lot of input from staff, council, planning commission, etc.   

 
 

Next Meeting Date planned for March 17, 2021 

221



 

 

   EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

 

Meeting Date: March 1, 2021 

Name of Agenda Item: Calendar 

Section of Agenda: Other Business 

Department: Administration 

Council Committee Review: Legal Review: 

☐ Community Development          ☐ Public Safety ☐ Yes - Reviewed 

☐ Finance ☐ Public Works ☐ No - Not Reviewed 

☐ Parks    ☐ Other: N/A ☒ Review Not Required 

Attachments: 

Outlook Calendar 

Summary Statement: 

See next page. 

Recommended Action: 

None 

 

CITY OF LYNDEN 

222



1 2/23/2021 12:01 PMPam Brown

 March 1, 2021
 Monday
7:00 PM - 9:00 PM City Council Meeting -- Online Teams Meeting

 
____________________________________________________________
____________________ 
Microsoft Teams meeting 
Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to join the meeting 
Or call in (audio only) 
+1 253-948-9362,,1386442#   United States, Tacoma 
Phone Conference ID: 138 644 2# 
Find a local number | Reset PIN 
Learn More | Meeting options 
____________________________________________________________
____________________ 
 

 March 2, 2021
 Tuesday
8:30 AM - 9:30 AM Leadership Team Meeting -- To Be Determined: May be Teams Meeting

 

5:00 PM - 6:30 PM Design Review Board -- To be determined
 

 March 3, 2021
 Wednesday
4:00 PM - 6:00 PM Public Works Committee Meeting -- City Hall 2nd Floor Large Conference Room

Welcome!
 
Public Works Committee Meeting meets Wednesday at 4:00 pm
 
We look forward to seeing you in person at City Hall in the upstairs 
Conference room or by joining virtually with Microsoft Teams by clicking 
the link below. 
 
 
____________________________________________________________
____________________ 
Microsoft Teams meeting 
Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to join the meeting 
Or call in (audio only) 
+1 253-948-9362,,100662120#   United States, Tacoma 
Phone Conference ID: 100 662 120# 
Find a local number | Reset PIN 
Learn More | Meeting options 

223



2 2/23/2021 12:02 PMPam Brown

 March 3, 2021 Continued
 Wednesday

____________________________________________________________
____________________ 
 

 March 4, 2021
 Thursday
2:00 PM - 4:00 PM Technical Review Committee -- Microsoft Teams Meeting

 

____________________________________________________________
____________________ 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 

Click here to join the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+1 253-948-9362,,832433768#   United States, Tacoma 

Phone Conference ID: 832 433 768# 

Find a local number | Reset PIN 

Learn More | Meeting options 

____________________________________________________________
____________________ 

 

4:00 PM - 5:00 PM Public Safety Committee Meeting -- Microsoft Teams Meeting
 

____________________________________________________________
____________________ 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 

Click here to join the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+1 253-948-9362,,954667669#   United States, Tacoma 

224



3 2/23/2021 12:02 PMPam Brown

 March 4, 2021 Continued
 Thursday

Phone Conference ID: 954 667 669# 

Find a local number | Reset PIN 

Learn More | Meeting options 

____________________________________________________________
____________________ 

 

 March 8, 2021
 Monday
9:00 AM - 10:00 AM Meeting: Vern/Mike -- Mike's Office

 

 March 9, 2021
 Tuesday
8:30 AM - 9:30 AM Leadership Team Meeting -- To Be Determined

 

 March 10, 2021
 Wednesday
All Day Court -- Annex Council Chamber; Annex East Training Room; Annex North East Conference Room; Annex 

South East Conference Room
 

9:00 AM - 10:00 AM Meeting: Mark/Mike -- Mike's Office
 

7:00 PM - 9:00 PM Park and Rec. District Meeting -- Annex South East Conference Room
 

 March 11, 2021
 Thursday
7:00 PM - 9:30 PM Planning Commission Meeting -- Microsoft Teams Meeting

 

____________________________________________________________

225



4 2/23/2021 12:02 PMPam Brown

 March 11, 2021 Continued
 Thursday

____________________ 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 

Click here to join the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+1 253-948-9362,,53344999#   United States, Tacoma 

Phone Conference ID: 533 449 99# 

Find a local number | Reset PIN 

Learn More | Meeting options 

____________________________________________________________
____________________ 

 

 March 12, 2021
 Friday
10:00 AM - 11:00 AM Meeting: Steve/Mike -- Mike's Office

 

 March 15, 2021
 Monday
3:00 PM - 4:00 PM Finance Committee Meeting -- Microsoft Teams Meeting

Finance Committee Meetings are being held via Teams due to COVID 
precautions

____________________________________________________________
____________________ 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 

Click here to join the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+1 253-948-9362,,752440887#   United States, Tacoma 

226



5 2/23/2021 12:02 PMPam Brown

 March 15, 2021 Continued
 Monday

Phone Conference ID: 752 440 887# 

Find a local number | Reset PIN 

Learn More | Meeting options 

____________________________________________________________
____________________ 

 

4:00 PM - 5:00 PM Parks Committee -- City Hall 1st Floor Large Conference Room
 

7:00 PM - 9:00 PM City Council Meeting -- To Be Determined
 

227


	Top
	1.	Draft Council Minutes- February 16, 2021
	ES-Draft Council Minutes
	20210216-regular-meeting-DRAFT

	2.	Special Council Meeting Minutes of January 20, 2021
	ES-2021_0301_CDC_Special Council Mtg Minutes of 1-20-21
	CDC Minutes 1-20-21_Special Council Mtg

	3.	Berthusen Park Agricultural Land Lease
	ES-Berthusen Park Agricultural Land Lease 2021
	Lease Berthusen Ag Lease 2021

	4.	COVID-19 Federal Reimbursement Contract
	ES - COVID Federal Reimbursement Contract - 2021-03-01
	4481-City of Lynden-PW 134
	D20-500 City of Lynden Grant Agreement
	D20-500 City of Lynden Supplemental Contracts

	5.	Resolution 1033 - Stuit Development Agreement
	ES-2021_0301_Reso 1033 - Stuit Development Agreement
	Resolution 1033 Stuit Development Agreement 2021

	6.	Ordinance No. 1621 - Pepin Creek Moratorium Extension
	ES-2021_0301_Ord 1621-Pepin Creek Moratorium Extension
	Pepin Creek_Ord 1621 Extension of Moratorium_3-1-21
	Pepin Creek_Ord 1621_Exhibit A

	7.	Ordinance No. 1615 - Establishing the Use of a Hearing Examiner
	ES-2021_0301_Ord 1615_Hearing Examiner
	Ordinance 1615_3-1-21_clean

	8.	Resolution 1031- Resolution of Intent regarding the Pepin Creek Project
	ES-2021_0301_Reso 1031 - Pepin Creek Resolution of Intent
	CDC_ES_Pepin Creek Financial Mitigation_2-17-21
	Resolution of Intent_Res 1031_Pepin Lite_ 3-1-2021 draft
	Res 1031_Exhibit A_Resolution of Intent_Pepin Lite_2020
	Res 1031_Exhibit B_Financial Mitigation Study by Berk less Appendix B
	Res 1031_Exhibit C_Resolution of Intent_Project Cost Estimates

	9.	Draft Parks Committee Minutes February 16, 2021
	ES-Meeting Date March 1, 2021 
	Parks Committee Draft Minutes Feb. 16, 2021

	10.	Community Development Committee Draft Minutes of 2-17-21
	ES-2021_0301_CDC Minutes of 2-17-21
	CDC Minutes 2-17-21

	11.	Calendar
	ES-Calendar
	Calendar Details Style

	Bottom

